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Briefing 
 
 
TO:    Board of Trustees 
 
FROM:   Dr. Robert V. Antonucci, President 
 
RE:    Finance and Administration Committee and Full Board Meetings  
 
OVERVIEW 
 
We are ready to begin our series of trustee meetings for the new academic year. The 
university is off to another exciting start. We held a host of events for new and returning 
students, parents, faculty, librarians, and staff. The campus looks beautiful and we 
anticipate another successful year.  
 
I enclose a combined packet that includes materials for the Finance and Administration 
Committee meeting with the Foundation Audit Committee and the FSU Supporting 
Organization, Inc. on October 18 at 11 a.m. as well as the full Board meeting at 12:15 
p.m. The major agenda item is presentation of the FY2011 audit report.  
 
The trustees meeting will be held in the President’s Conference Room. Parking will be 
reserved in the Sanders lot.  
 
This meeting will be the first headed by our new chair, Carol Vittorioso. It will also be 
the first meeting for newly appointed Board members Anthony Mercadante and Anna 
Clementi. We wish them much success in the future and extend our appreciation to them 
for their time and effort in helping guide the university.  
 
The complete schedule for October 18 is as follows: 
 
 11:00 a.m. Finance and Administration  President’s Conference Room 
        Sanders Building 
         

11:45 p.m. Lunch     Academic Affairs Conference Room 
      Sanders Building 
        
12:15 p.m.   Board of Trustees   President’s Conference Room  

        Sanders Building  
 
The new open meeting law, which took effect on July 1, 2010, requires us to include all 
items to be discussed on the agenda. No longer can we just list old or new business. I will 
make sure that we adhere to the provisions of the law and remain in compliance with all 
regulations.   
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AGENDA 
 

I. Call to Order by Chairman Carol T. Vittorioso 
  

II. Public Comments 
 

III. Consideration and Approval of the Minutes of the May 3, 2011 Meeting  
 

IV. Finance and Administration Committee – Anthony Mercadante, Chair 
 

1. FY2011 Audit – VOTE - (01-11/13) 
 
The Finance and Administration committee will meet on Tuesday, October 
18, 2011, at 11 a.m. along with members of the Fitchburg State University 
Foundation Audit Committee and the foundation’s Supporting Organization, 
Inc. The audit is enclosed for your review. Jay Kaufman will report on the 
review of the audit. An executive summary is included and I am pleased to 
report the financial condition of the university is sound and all trends are 
healthy. Anthony Mercadante will make a full report to the Board when we 
meet at 12:15. 

 
Audit Enclosures: 

 
a. FSU Report on Audits of Financial Statements and Supplemental 

Information Years Ended June 30, 2011 and 2010. 
 

b. FSU Report on Independent Auditor’s Report on Management’s 
Assertions on Compliance with Specified Requirements Applicable to the 
Massachusetts Office of Student Financial Assistance Program Cluster for 
Year Ended June 30, 2011. 

 
c. FSU Federal Student Financial Assistance Programs Report on Consulting 

Services for Year Ended June 30, 2011. 
 

V. NEASC Self-Study 
 
We are completing the self-study required as part of the New England Association 
of Schools and Colleges, Inc., the regional accrediting agency. We will bring the 
Board up to date on the process thus far. Joining me in the presentation will be 
Drs. Shirley Wagner and Paul Weizer, co-chairs of the steering committee. The 
self-study will be submitted in December. A team will visit the campus from 
March 4 thru 7, 2012. The on-site visit is an opportunity to validate the self-study 
via meetings with staff, faculty, students, the Board and others. Within a few 
weeks of the visit we will receive a report outlining the findings. Our hope is that 
the university will receive re-accreditation for 10 years.  
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VI. Accept the President’s Goals for FY2012 – VOTE – (02-11/12) 
 

Enclosed are the goals I have set for this academic year. The purpose is to 
highlight the major initiatives we will focus on. In May we will review the 
progress and measure the degree of completion. 
 
Also included in the packet is a summary of last year’s goals as reviewed by the 
executive committee in June. This constituted the appraisal process and was 
submitted to the Commissioner of Higher Education. His response is also 
included.  

 
VII. Hammond Building – VOTE – (03-11/12) 

 
We are proposing a vote to begin the second phase of the Hammond renovation 
project. The summary sheets provide the details of the project. We will bring the 
Board up to date on the progress being made, and a tour will be offered for those 
who are available.  

 
VIII. Conflict of Interest Statements 
 

Each year Board members are asked to complete a Conflict of Interest statement. 
The form has not changed and is included.  

 
IX. Notifications – Personnel Actions - (N01-11/12) 

 
Please refer to the Personnel Notification List enclosed. It includes new 
employees hired and other changes in accordance with the respective collective 
bargaining agreements.  
 

X. President’s Report 
 

a) Moving expenses for Vice President for Academic Affairs – VOTE –  
(04-11/12) 

b) Strategic Plan 
c) Massachusetts State University system Presidents & Trustees Association 

annual meeting – October 19, 2011 
 
Enclosures 
  

 Commonfund Performance Sheet 
 Residence Hall Occupancy – Fall Semester 2011/2012 
 Sterilite Letter 
 President’s Goals and Performance – Letter from Commissioner Freeland 
 September 28, 2011 Letter from Commissioner Freeland 
 April 21, 2011 Letter from Commissioner Freeland 
 Performance Incentive Grant Program 
 Stratton Players Letter 
 News Articles  
 Welcome Back Celebration Brochure 
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XI. Campus Tour 
 

We will tour the capital projects now in various stages of completion. I believe 
you will find the scope to be remarkable. Thanks for your continued support.  
 

XII. Adjournment 
 

If you have any questions or material prior to the meeting please give Carol, Gail 
or me a call.   
 

 
Next Meeting 

Tuesday, November 29, 2011   
12:00 p.m. 

President’s Conference Room 
 

 



Agenda 
   



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

FITCHBURG STATE UNIVERSITY BOARD OF TRUSTEES MEETING 
Tuesday, October 18, 2011 

12:15 p.m. 
   President’s Conference Room 

Sanders Building 
300 Highland Avenue, Fitchburg, MA 01420 

 
AGENDA 

I. Call to Order 
II. Public Comments 
III. Consideration of minutes from previous meeting 

 
a) May 3, 2011 

 
IV. Finance and Administration Committee Report – Anthony Mercadante, Chair 

 
a) FY2011 Audit – VOTE – (01-11/13) 

 
V. NEASC Self-Study 
VI. Accept the President’s Goals for FY2012 – VOTE – (02-11/12) 
VII. Hammond Building – VOTE – (03-11/12) 
VIII. Conflict of Interest Statements 
IX. Notifications 

 
a) Personnel Actions – (N01- 11/12) 

 
X. President’s Report – Dr. Robert V. Antonucci 

 
a) Moving expenses for Vice President for Academic Affairs – 

VOTE – (04-11/12) 
b) Strategic Plan 
c) Massachusetts State University system Presidents & Trustees 

Association annual meeting October 19, 2011 
 

XI. Campus Tour  
XII. Adjournment 

 
 

Future Meeting 
Tuesday, November 29, 2011 

12:00 p.m. 
President’s Conference Room 

 
Fitchburg State University is committed to excellence in teaching and learning and blends liberal arts and sciences and professional programs 
within a small college environment. Our comprehensive public university prepares students to lead, serve, and succeed by fostering lifelong 
learning and civic and global responsibility. A Fitchburg State education extends beyond our classrooms to include residential, professional, and 
co-curricular opportunities. As a community resource, we provide leadership and support for the economic, environmental, social, and cultural 
needs of North Central Massachusetts and the Commonwealth. 



 
Minutes 

May 3, 2011 
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Minutes of Meeting Held on May 3, 2011 at 4:00 p.m.  
 
 

FITCHBURG STATE UNIVERSITY BOARD OF TRUSTEES MEETING 
Tuesday, May 3, 2011 

4:00 p.m. 
   President’s Conference Room 

300 Highland Avenue, Fitchburg, MA 01420 
Sanders Building    

 
 
Trustees Present: Gregg Lisciotti, Matthew Costello, Robert Pontbriand, Anthony Mercadante, 
  Martin F. Connors, Jr., David Mullaney, Gladys Rodriguez-Parker, Beverly 

Farias 
 
Trustees Absent: Cynthia Stevens, Carol Vittorioso 
  
Also Present: Robert Antonucci, Gail Doiron, Jay Bry, Sheila Sykes, Michael Fiorentino, Jr., 

Michael Turk, Sean Goodlett, Shirley Wagner 
 
The meeting was called to order by Chairman Lisciotti at 4:05 p.m. 
 
The Chair opened the floor for public comments.  
 
Dr. Michael Turk, MSCA Chapter Vice President, stated that he had two separate items. The first item 
was the budget. He expressed the philosophical concern with long-term capital projects and a matter of 
student affordability.  He said he was not authorized by the union to make this statement. The second 
item was the Vision Project.  
 
President Antonucci interrupted briefly to explain the Vision Project, which was the report included in 
the packet, an initiative of Commissioner Freeland from the Massachusetts Department of Higher 
Education.  
 
Mr. Mullaney joined the meeting at 4:10 p.m. 
 
Dr. Turk next spoke of the role of Liberal Arts and Sciences and expressed his concerns that it is 
treated as if it were a second class citizen.  He and his colleagues have had discussions with the 
Commissioner. He wanted to bring this item to the Board’s attention.  
 
President Antonucci said there is an agreement with Dr. Turk’s point among the Council of Presidents; 
we don’t want to become a centralized system.  
 
Ms. Rodriquez-Parker asked if transfer students, while receiving public assistance, would have to be part 
of this program. President Antonucci clarified that we have transfer agreements and Dr. Turk was 
referring to workforce development. It’s a balance that we are looking for and, again, we don’t know 
what the structure will be.  
 
There was a discussion.  
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Mr. Pontbriand commented that we have nothing against workforce development programs but the 
Liberal Arts and Sciences get watered down. This is something that needs to be monitored and  
 
wondered when a definitive decision would be made. There was a discussion.  
 
The consideration of the minutes from March 29, 2011 was presented. 
 
Upon a motion duly noted by Mr. Pontbriand and seconded by Mr. Mullaney it was 
 
Voted:   to approve the minutes of the meeting held on March 29, 2011 as  
(7-0)  presented.  
 
Mr. Lisciotti next officially welcomed Mr. Anthony Mercadante to the Board.  
 
Mr. Lisciotti gave the Finance & Administration report. He said the committee met on April 26 and 
revisions were made to the materials included in the packet in front of them. At the committee meeting, 
they had discussed a $550.00 fee increase and thought $500.00 would be more appropriate.  The budget 
materials reflect the $500.00 increase and for $3 million of reserves to balance the budget with a 3,400 
student count.  
 
President Antonucci referenced page 6, line 16. This is a conservative budget, and he understands the 
capital concerns.  He updated the newest board members that we base this budget on the house budget 
which is not finalized. We then, traditionally, come back to the Board in the fall. He said we are getting 
more and more privately funded. Last year we had stimulus money, which we don’t have this year, and 
we keep getting less state funding. We are fighting that we may have to pay collective bargaining costs 
that we had not had to fund in the past.  This budget is based on the need to move forward with no 
layoffs. We have to adjust our revenue stream and be fiscally conservative and prudent. 
 
Mr. Lisciotti mentioned that the budget continues to move from state supported to state assisted. We 
need to move toward fundraising. We are different in our fundraising by location, salary and title. It is 
very important that the senior person in the development office to have a proper title. He expressed his 
hope to get a real good team in place to be a real revenue generator.  
 
President Antonucci said we had two failed searches for the Director of Advancement and has now 
decided to reach out to a search firm. We tried twice on our own but we need to hire a search firm 
and to offer the development position a competitive salary. We had cut back in that area and need to 
focus on getting the office in place.  The director then could go out on the road to fundraise.  We need 
a staff that doesn’t stay in the office.  
 
There was a discussion on titles and job market within the fundraising arena.  
 
Mr. Lisciotti said that fundraising is a relationship that needs to be cultivated. Ms. Farias said we are sadly 
understaffed and we don’t want to lose the current staff. She expressed the concern of moving 
backwards. 
 
President Antonucci said he wanted a staff to raise money that would financially support the staff in 
place. The salaries must support the staff and the office by fund raising.  
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There was a discussion on fundraising, staffing, scholarships, the annual fund and financial aid.  
 
Mr. Lisciotti suggested a nationwide search to fill the development position. 
 
President Antonucci expressed the hope of closing the Capital Campaign by July 1. Once the campaign is 
over we will have to start another fundraising initiative.  
 
 
 
President Antonucci next presented the votes. 
 
Mr. Costello commented on the fee increase. He said he would be voting against the increase. He was 
concerned with maintaining affordability and access which is essential. He noted last year the fee 
increase was earmarked for scholarships. He wanted everyone to know why he is voting against the 
increase.  
 
Mr. Lisciotti thanked Mr. Costello for his remarks.  
 
Ms. Farias said that she would like to vote against it but understand the needs of the institution. This 
vote is being done with a heavy heart.  
 
President Antonucci said we may come back to the Board at some point to add financial scholarship aid. 
 
Ms. Rodriquez-Parker said unfortunately this was something that needed to be done.  
 
Upon a motion duly noted by Mr. Mercadante and seconded by Mr. Pontbriand it was 
 
Voted:   to increase the following annual student fee, effective for the fall semester 2011. 
(7-1) 
  Day School Student Fee Increase 
 
University Fee:   $500.00 for FY2012  
  (06-10/11) 
 
Mr. Costello opposed. 
 
President Antonucci said we would come back to the Board in the fall with any adjustments.   
 
Upon a motion duly noted by Mr. Connors and seconded by Mr. Mullaney it was 
 
Voted:   to approve the FY2012 Budget as presented by the President. (07-10/11) 
(8-0) 
 
Upon a motion duly noted by Mr. Connors and seconded by Ms. Rodriguez-Parker it was 
 
Voted:   to approve that on-going capital projects roll forward into the FY2012 University 
(8-0) Budget. (08-10/11) 
 
President Antonucci next discussed the slate of officers. 
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Upon a motion duly noted by Ms. Farias and seconded by Mr. Mercadante it was 
 
Voted:   to approve the following slate of officers effective July 1, 2011. 
(8-0) 
 

Carol Vittorioso, Chairperson 
Martin F. Connors, Jr., Vice Chairperson 

Robert Pontbriand, Clerk 
 
 
President Antonucci next presented the job actions taken since the last meeting. They are as follows: 
 
Resignation 
 
Stephen Wall-Smith, Ph.D. Director, Assessment $39,542.56 

        Effective: 4/17/2011 Academic Affairs     
  
Linda Fazio, BS Staff Assistant $64,034.89 
Effective: 4/18/2011 Financial Services     
  
Retirement 
 
Margarite Landry, Ph.D. Associate Professor $59,869.79 
Effective: 12/31/2011 English     
  
New Hire 

 
Marcel Beausoleil, Ph.D. Assistant Professor $61,000.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011 Behavioral Sciences     
  
Jason Talanian, Ph.D. Assistant Professor $55,500.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011 Exercise & Sports Science      
 
Promotion 

 
Christine Dee, Ph.D. From: Assistant to Associate Professor From   $52,762.90 
Effective: 9/1/2011 Economics, History & Political Science To: $56,617.90  

  
John Chetro-Szivos, Ph.D. From: Associate Professor to Professor From: $61,563.91 
Effective: 9/1/2011 Communications Media                            To: $65,863.91  

  
Keith Chenot, MFA From: Assistant to Associate Professor From: $56,076.49 
Effective: 9/1/2011 Industrial Technology                               To: $59,931.49  

 
 

Kevin Austin, Ph.D. From: Associate Professor to Professor From: $86,745.94 
Effective: 9/1/2011 Computer Science                                   To: $91,083.24  
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Sean Goodlett, Ph.D. From: Associate Professor to Professor From: $58,573.29 
Effective: 9/1/2011 Economics, History & Political Science To: $62,873.29 

  
Robert Harris, MFA From: Associate Professor to Professor From: $65,381.39 
Effective: 9/1/2011 Communications Media To: $69,681.39 

  
Sara Levine, Ph.D. From: Associate Professor to Professor From: $59,666.60 
Effective: 9/1/2011 Behavioral Science To: $63,966.60 

  
Benjamin Railton, Ph.D. From: Assistant to Associate Professor From: $50,067.22 
Effective: 9/1/2011 Economics, History & Political Science To: $53,922.22 

 
 
Rene Reeves, Ph.D. From: Associate Professor to Professor From: $58,994.17 
Effective: 9/1/2011 Economics, History & Political Science To: $63,294.17 
 
Thomas Schoenfeld, Ph.D. From: Assistant to Associate Professor From: $56,954.69 
Effective: 9/1/2011 Biology/Chemistry To: $60,809.69 

  
Ian Williams, Ph.D. From: Assistant to Associate Professor From: $51,149.21 
Effective: 9/1/2011 English To: $55,004.21 

  
Diane Caggiano, JD From: Associate Professor to Professor From: $72,896.63 
Effective: 9/1/2011 Business Administration                           To: $77,196.63 

  
Laura Garofoli, Ph.D. From: Assistant to Associate Professor From: $52,231.20 
Effective: 9/1/2011 Behavioral Science To: $56,086.20 

  
Timothy Hilliard, Ph.D. From: Assistant to Associate Professor From: $57,533.21 
Effective: 9/1/2011 Exercise & Sports Science                         To: $61,388.21 

 
Peter Staab, Ph.D. From: Assistant to Associate Professor From: $55,389.23 
Effective: 9/1/2011 Mathematics                                            To: $59,244.23 

   
Rehire 

 
Renee Scapparone, DBA Assistant Professor $56,500.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011 Business Administration      
End Date: 5/31/2012  
 
Leave of Absence (unpaid) 
Michele Caniato, Ph.D. Associate Professor $58,824.16 
Effective: 8/31/2011 Humanities  
End Date: 12/31/2011  

 
Aruna Krishnamurthy, Ph.D. Associate Professor $60,405.71 
Effective: 8/28/2011 English  
End Date: 8/25/2012  
(N05-10/11) 
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President Antonucci next presented his report.  He reported on the certification of the financial  
statements.  We are in compliance. He informed the Board that Mr. Martin F. Connors, Jr., had officially  
resigned as a member of the Finance & Administration Committee and also its Chairmanship to protect  
the interest of Rollstone Bank & Trust and abstain from any future financial discussions.  
 
Mr. Lisciotti said a conflict of interest letter had been received and that if any such matters come before  
this Board to abstain or be exempt.  
 
President Antonucci next explained a letter from a parent that had been sent for distribution to the  
Board. The contents of the letter cannot be discussed in a public forum. He read the last sentence of  
the letter. 
 
“I would also appreciate an acknowledgement that this letter was received and read by the Trustees.” 
 
President Antonucci said that we would respond by sending a letter stating the letter was given to the  
Trustees. 
 
President Antonucci referenced the enclosures included in the packet. They are as follows: 
 
Enclosures: 
  

 FY2011 Financial Reports and Certification 
 Central Links  - Finish First  
 Annual Honors Convocation Program 
 Undergraduate Conference on Research & Creative Practice Program 
 The Vision Project Report 
 News Articles  

 
President Antonucci invited the Board to participate in our commencement exercises on May 19 and 
May 21 and to let Ms. Doiron know of their intentions. He informed the Board of a host of end of the 
year celebrations.  
 
President Antonucci announced that this will be Dr. Michael Fiorentino, Jr.’s last official Board of 
Trustees meeting. He publicly recognized Dr. Fiorentino on behalf of the Trustees for his outstanding 
years of service as a faculty member and administrator. He thanked him for his commitment and 
dedication to the institution. We will miss him.  
 
President Antonucci announced that Mr. Gregg Lisciotti’s and Mr. David Mullaney’s terms had expired 
but they will remain on the Board until additional Trustees have been appointed.  He publicly thanked 
them for their service and commitment to the institution.    
 
President Antonucci said we would honor them all at the dinner to be held at 5:30 p.m. that evening. 
We also typically honor recently-tenured faculty, but there would not be any due to contractual 
changes.  
 
Mr. Lisciotti asked about the Highland Avenue project. Mr. Bry responded was moving forward and 
waiting for final approval from the Fitchburg City Council.  
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With no further business before the Board, the meeting was adjourned at 4:58 p.m. 
 
       Respectfully submitted: 
 
 
       ________________________ 
       Robert A. Pontbriand, Clerk 
       Board of Trustees 

 



 
Finance and  

Admin. Agenda 
   



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
FITCHBURG STATE UNIVERSITY BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

Finance and Administration Committee Meeting 
 

Joint meeting with Fitchburg State University Foundation Audit Committee 
& FSU Foundation Supporting Organization, Inc. 

 
Tuesday, October 18, 2011 

11:00 a.m. 
 

President’s Conference Room, Sanders Administration Bldg.  
300 Highland Avenue, Fitchburg, MA 01420 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

I. Call to Order, Anthony Mercadante, Chair 
II. Consideration of minutes from previous meeting 

 
a) April 26, 2011 

 
III. Audit Presentation 

 
The University and Foundation audits have been completed. The staff 
from Ercolini & Company will be at the meeting to discuss the audit 
process.   

 
a) FY2011 Audit – VOTE – (01-11/13) 

 
IV. Adjournment 
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MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON FRIDAY, APRIL 26, 2011 AT 4:00 P.M.  

 
FITCHBURG STATE UNIVERSITY BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

Finance and Administration Committee Meeting 
 

President’s Conference Room 
300 Highland Avenue, Fitchburg, MA 01420 

 
 
Committee Members Present: David Mullaney, Carol Vittorioso, Gregg Lisciotti, ex-

officio 
 
Committee Members Absent: None 
 
Trustees Present:   Matthew Costello, Anthony Mercadante 
 
Also Present:   Robert V. Antonucci, Gail Doiron, Sheila Sykes, Michael 

Fiorentino, Jr., Michael Shanley, Jay Bry, Sean Goodlett  
 
Upon a motion duly noted by Mr. Mullaney and seconded by Ms. Vittorioso it was 
 
Voted:   to approve the Finance and Administration minutes of the meeting held on  
(3-0) February 1, 2011 as presented.  
 
President Antonucci explained that Mr. Martin F. Connors, Jr. had officially resigned as a  
member of the Finance & Administration Committee and also its Chairmanship in order to  
avoid any appearance of a conflict of interest and to avoid any potential issues.  
 
President Antonucci welcomed Mr. Anthony Mercadante to the Board. He said it was a long  
ordeal and he thanked Mr. Mercadante for remaining patient during the process.  
 
Mr. Lisciotti explained that Mr. Mercadante could participate in the discussion but would not be  
eligible to vote until he was sworn in on May 2, 2011. 
 
Mr. Mercadante asked about the potential conflict. President Antonucci responded that we do  
business with Rollstone Bank & Trust and we are getting a ruling from the ethics commission.   
 
President Antonucci next explained the budget and the four distinct pools of funding sources.   
The House is debating on the state appropriation that is usually finalized at the end of June. He  
would get back to the Board in the fall with any changes to the budget.  We need to send out  
the student bills and fees need to be set. He referenced page three and said we will be able to  
retain any out-of–state tuition. We are not sure if it will be part of the Senate budget.  We  
currently send tuition back to the state.  
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There was a discussion on in-state and out-of-state tuition. 
 
President Antonucci explained about the reserves and recommended using the reserves. 
He said we were trying to hold off on our fee increases as much as possible.  
 
There was a discussion on enrollment. 
 
Mr. Mullaney asked about any DCAM funds.  President Antonucci responded that we always  
have a project ready should any DCAM funds become available. Mr. Mercadante asked if the  
money had to be used for capital projects. President Antonucci responded yes. 
 
President Antonucci discussed page seven and the projected fee increases that other Universities  
are considering. We have an obligation to fund collective bargaining contracts where the  
governor has not guaranteed the funding.  We have to honor the contracts. We have to fund  
the faculty contracts if the state does not give us the funds. 
 
President Antonucci referenced page eight that explained revenue sources and the operating  
budget. Mr. Lisciotti noted that we will not be receiving any stimulus dollars which we did  
receive last year.  
 
President Antonucci said we are going to take $3.3 million out of reserves based upon 3,400  
students. This is an estimated budget based on what we know right now.  
 
Mr. Costello commented on scholarships.  President Antonucci said that we will try to take  
some of the fee increase funds and use for scholarships. This would be something we would  
look at next fall.  
 
There was a discussion on scholarships. 
 
Mr. Mercadante asked about the state maintenance funds. President Antonucci said we  
are doing okay but without stimulus funds it is challenging. He said at this point there will be no  
layoffs.  
 
Mr. Mercadante asked if the institutions fight each other for funding. President Antonucci said  
we lobby as a system.  He does not really know how they come up with the numbers. Ms.  
Sykes commented that a lot of it is history.  
 
President Antonucci discussed tuition waivers. There is a whole category of waivers that we  
must provide tuition.  
 
Mr. Mullaney said that going forward if significant revenue sources don’t come along its going to  
be very tough. 
 
President Antonucci said we already know that we have a collective bargaining cost, along with 
energy costs and not knowing the state appropriation is difficult. 
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Mr. Lisciotti said the only way to offset the fee increases is by fundraising. Our Development 
Office is short two senior people. He expressed his hope that we invest in the Development 
Office to have it grow. He thought it was the only way to get some money and we have one of 
the smallest development offices in the state university system.  
 
President Antonucci commented by sending out a simple mailer, we were able to raise money. 
That initiative alone did not take a great deal of effort. He said it is more than just hiring staff. 
He also commented that our students need even more support whereas they are not able to 
get the jobs that were available in the past because of the economy.  
 
There was a discussion.  
 
Mr. Mullaney asked if it hurts us by having good reserves. Ms. Sykes said we are healthier than 
others. President Antonucci said we could get penalized for doing well and we also want funds 
for the future.  We have to keep a set amount of reserves should we need to payout salaries 
should the institution ever close. This is a required amount.  
 
Mr. Goodlett said small classes are valuable and we need to keep them. He suggested slowing 
down on the capital projects.  
 
President Antonucci said we normally would have higher capital projects. We still have a great 
deal of work to do on this old campus. If we don’t continue capital improvements it affects our 
admissions.  
 
Mr. Costello said students are concerned with the fee increases even if it’s only $200.00. He 
said part of their efforts at the recent State House Day was lobbying for more scholarships.  He 
expressed his concerns that some students may not be able to continue school if there is a fee 
increase.  Ms. Sykes responded that the Foundation assists a number of students each year.  
 
Mr. Lisciotti said if we approve a $550 fee increase we will be at the top and we have been 
aggressive the past few years.  
 
President Antonucci suggested we set a fee increase of $500 and see what enrollment is in the 
second semester.  
 
President Antonucci provided background on the two failed searches in the Development 
Office. We are going to utilize the services of a search firm.  
 
There was a discussion.  
 
Mr. Lisciotti expressed the concern of making sure there was funding for more staff in the 
Development Office.  
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Mr. Mercadante asked about Financial Aid. Ms. Sykes said the in- and out-of-state Financial Aid 
is based upon need.  President Antonucci explained the different types of aid and loans available 
to students.  
 
The consensus was to approve a $500 fee increase effective with the 2011 fall semester.  The 
new student fee will be distributed with $250 devoted to repaying the debt service on the $16 
million bond for the Hammond building and $250 allocated to the general university fee.  
 
Upon a motion duly noted by Ms. Vittorioso and seconded by Mr. Mullaney it was 
 
Voted:   to increase the following annual student fee, effective for the fall semester 2011. 
(3-0) 

Day School Student Fee Increase 
 
University Fee:    $500.00 for FY2012  
(06-10/11) 
 
President Antonucci said we would come back to the Board in the fall with any adjustments.   
 
 
 
Upon a motion duly noted by Ms. Vittorioso and seconded by Mr. Mullaney it was 
 
Voted:   to approve the FY2012 Budget as presented by the President. (07-10/11) 
(3-0) 
 
Upon a motion duly noted by Mr. Mullaney and seconded by Ms. Vittorioso it was 
 
Voted:   to approve that on-going capital projects roll forward into the FY2012 University 
(3-0) Budget. (08-10/11) 
 
With no further business before the Committee, the meeting was adjourned at  
3:50 p.m.  

Respectfully submitted, 
 

_______________________ 
Gregg P. Lisciotti, ex-officio 
Chairman, Finance & Administration  
Board of Trustees  
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Fitchburg State University  
Executive Summary  

Report on Audits of Financial Statements and Supplemental Information 
Years Ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 

 
 The University received an unqualified report from its auditors and there were no issues or findings that arose during the 

audit. 
 The Management’s Discussion and Analysis provides a broad overview of the financial position and fiscal activities of 

the University and includes ratio analysis in key areas. 

Statements of Net Position (pages 3 - 5): 

 Total assets increased by $32 million to $125.5 million.  Total liabilities increased by $18 to $42.8 due primarily to the 
bond issue for the Hammond Campus Center renovations.   

 Current unrestricted cash increased by $6 million as a result of receiving ARRA funds, increased enrollment and 
decreased amounts of tuition reverted to the state.   

 Capital assets increased to approximately $66.2 million net of current period depreciation of $4.2 million. 
 Total debt from bond issues and capital leases is $26.1 million.  The bonds were issued for various construction 

projects.  The capital leases funded network and phone system installations and other equipment purchases.   See Notes 
12 & 13, beginning on page 40.   

 Invested in capital assets; net of related debt increased by $3.7 million. Capital projects increased by $5.3 million.     

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position (pages 6 - 7): 

 Total revenue for the year was $85.8 million. 
 Tuition and fee revenue increased by 5.7%.  Scholarships awarded increased by 11.6%.  
 Auxiliary revenue, which represents operation of the residence halls, remained consistent with the prior year and does 

not include fees charged for the student housing facility owned and operated by the FSU Supporting Organization, Inc.  
 General appropriations increased 13.5%.  ARRA funding decreased by 53.5% to $3.1 million.   
 Total expenditures were $72.6 million, an increase of $4.4 million, primarily due to increased fringe benefit charges.   
 Instructional expenditures represent 41.0% of total operating expenditures, exclusive of depreciation and scholarships.    

84.4% of Instructional expenditures relate to payroll and benefit costs. 
 Institutional support consist of the day to day operational support of the institution, excluding plant operations and 

represents 10.2% of total operating expenses exclusive of depreciation and scholarships.   
 Operations and maintenance of plant expenditures totaled $10.8 million and remained consistent with the prior year. 
 There was an overall increase in net assets of $13.2 million for the fiscal year. 

Statement of Cash Flows (pages 8 - 10): 

 Total cash at June 30, 2011 was $41.6 million and includes $14.5 million in bond proceeds for the Hammond Campus 
Center project.         

 Cash received from operations (before appropriations) was $50.8 million. Cash expended for operations was $59.9 
million, resulting in an operating loss of $9.2 million, which was offset by an appropriation of $21.8 million net of 
tuition amounts reverted to the state. 

 Acquisitions of property and equipment totaled $8.2 million and do not include $4.9 million spent by DCAM on the 
University’s behalf for the Science Center Modernization project.        

Notes to the Financials Statements (pages 11 - 64): 

 Most of the notes are standard disclosures.  Note 1 spans pages 11 through 20 and outlines the University’s significant 
accounting policies.      

 Note 5, beginning on page 32, details the property and equipment held by the University.   
 Details relating to University debt (capital leases and bond issues) are in Notes 12 & 13, beginning on page 40. 
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Fitchburg State University 
 REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

 
 
TO: Board of Trustees 

 
DATE: 
 
October 18, 2011 

 
FROM:    The President 
 

 
REQUEST NUMBER: 
 
01-11/13  

SUBJECT:   FY2011 Audit Report    
 
 

 
 

 
It is requested that the Board of Trustees of Fitchburg State University accept the Audit 
Report for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2011. 
 

 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Fitchburg State University 
 

 
Audit Enclosures: 
 

A. FSU Report on Audits of Financial Statements and Supplemental 
Information Years Ended June 30, 2011 and 2010. 

 
B. FSU Report on Independent Auditor’s Report on Management’s 

Assertions on Compliance with Specified Requirements Applicable to 
the Massachusetts Office of Student Financial Assistance Program 
Cluster for Year Ended June 30, 2011. 

 
C. FSU Federal Student Financial Assistance Programs Report on 

Consulting Services Year Ended June 30, 2011. 
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FICTHBURG STATE UNIVERSITY                                       
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
UNAUDITED

Introduction
The following discussion and analysis are intended to provide an overview of the financial position and results of 
operations of Fitchburg State University (the “University”) for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2011, 2010 and 
2009.  This discussion is provided by the management of the University and should be read in conjunction with the 
financial statements and notes thereto.  The purpose of this document is to give some background to the financial 
statements, and foster an understanding of how these statements relate to the mission and activities of the 
University.

The University, located in North Central Massachusetts, is one of the nine comprehensive public universities in the 
Commonwealth of Massachusetts (the “Commonwealth”).  These institutions, along with the five-campus 
University of Massachusetts system and the fifteen community colleges comprise public higher education in 
Massachusetts.  The University offers approximately 49 undergraduate degree programs in eighteen academic 
departments, 20 Masters’ degree programs and several Graduate Certificates of Advanced Study. During fiscal 
2011, there were approximately 3,800 full-time students and thousands of part-time students enrolled in degree 
programs, for a combined full-time equivalent enrollment of approximately 5,300.  Thousands more non-
matriculated students take advantage of professional development programs through the Division of Graduate and 
Continuing Education (DGCE).  The University awarded approximately 1,200 graduate and undergraduate degrees
in fiscal 2011. The University is accredited by the New England Association of Schools and Colleges (NEASC)
and many of the University’s programs are accredited by program-specific accrediting bodies.

Financial Highlights
The University experienced positive results from operations in fiscal 2011 and remains on firm financial ground.
The following are key financial highlights for the current period:

� General appropriations from the Commonwealth are approved by the legislature to help fund the day-to-
day operations of the University. The University received appropriations of $24.3 million in fiscal 2011.  
In addition, the University received $3.1 million as a result of The American Recovery and Reinvestment 
Act of 2009 (ARRA).  ARRA funds were used primarily to support faculty payroll and fringe benefit costs.
General appropriations were $21.4 million in fiscal 2010 and $26.3 million in fiscal 2009.               

� Fees were increased to fund academic and capital initiatives.  Total mandatory per semester fees were
$3,415, $2,965, and $2,715 in fiscal 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. Fees were also increased for 
undergraduate continuing education students.  Tuition, which is controlled by the Commonwealth, has not 
increased since the fall of 2001 and remains at $485 per semester for in-state students.

� The University expended $8.2 million from current funds for capital additions in fiscal 2011. Projects 
completed during the year included completion of Phase III of the renovations to the Anthony Building,
Phase I construction of new academic space on North Street and renovations to the entrance to Thompson 
Hall.  An additional $4.8 million was spent on the University’s behalf by the Massachusetts Division of 
Capital Asset Management (DCAM) for the Science Center modernization project. Projects remaining in 
process at June 30, 2011 include the Hammond Campus Center renovations, the Science Center 
modernization project, renovations to Miller Hall and the Highland Avenue closure project.
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� Total assets at the end of fiscal 2011 were $125.5 million and exceeded liabilities and deferred inflows of 
resources of $45.4 million by $80.1 million (i.e. net position).  Unrestricted net position available to 
support short-term operations totaled $22.1 million, of which $8.5 million has been designated for specific 
purposes.    

� Total operating, non-operating, and gift revenue for fiscal 2011 was $85.8 million, while expenses totaled 
$72.6 million, resulting in an increase to net position of $13.2 million. The increase in net position 
includes a 5.7% increase in student tuition and fee revenues.     

� The consolidated financial information of the Fitchburg State University Foundation, Inc. is included in the 
University’s financial statements as a component unit of the University.  It is important to reiterate that the 
Foundation is a separate organization.  Foundation funds are largely restricted, and unrestricted funds can 
only be expended by vote of the Board of Directors of the Foundation.     

Using the Financial Statements
Fitchburg State University reports its activity as a business type activity using the full accrual basis of accounting.  
The accrual basis of accounting ensures that all amounts owed to the University and all pending obligations of the 
University are accounted for in the appropriate period, thus giving a clear picture of the University’s financial 
position.  The University is a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts.  A summary of the University’s 
financial statements is incorporated in the Commonwealth’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report in its 
government-wide financial statements.  

The Massachusetts Department of Higher Education has instituted the use of certain core financial ratios as part of 
their performance measures for public universities and colleges in the Commonwealth.  Analysis using these ratios, 
as well as other commonly accepted ratios, has been incorporated throughout this document. 

The University’s financial statements include three major documents:  The Statement of Net Position; the 
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position; and the Statement of Cash Flows.  These 
statements are prepared in accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards.    
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Statement of Net Position
The statement of net position presents the financial position of the University at the end of the year and includes all 
assets, liabilities and deferred inflows of resources of the University, with the difference reported as net position.
Assets, liabilities and deferred inflows are generally measured using current values, with a notable exception in 
capital assets, which are stated at historical cost less an allowance for depreciation.  Net position is one indicator of 
the financial condition of the University, while the change in net position from one period to the next is an 
indicator of whether the financial condition has improved or worsened. The statements of net position (condensed,
in thousands) at June 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009, are as follows:

2011   2010 2009
Assets
Current assets $ 29,673 $ 20,743   $ 10,601      
Capital assets, net 66,192 55,386    53,816 
Other 29,702 16,708   18,345
Total Assets  125,567  92,837 82,762   

Liabilities  
Current liabilities 13,817 10,659   9,955 
Long term liabilities 28,999 14,258     15,446        
Total Liabilities 42,816  24,917     25,401

Deferred Inflows of Resources   2,621      978       1,123  

Net Position
Net investment in capital assets   44,551 40,791 39,531 
Restricted:
 Nonexpendable 458 470 437 
 Expendable 13,045  8,403  6,515 
Unrestricted:

Designated 8,488 8,135 6,239 
Undesignated   13,588   9,143   3,516

Total net position  $ 80,130  $ 66,942    $ 56,238  

Current assets consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents (88.8%). Other assets include non current restricted 
cash and cash equivalents, investments in marketable securities and loans receivable. Capital assets are used to 
provide services to students, faculty and staff.  These assets are not available for current or future spending.  
Current liabilities primarily include trade accounts and salaries payable, accounts payable construction, the current 
portion of compensated absences and accrued faculty payroll.  In the normal course of events and based on a 
consistent past history in this regard, it is anticipated that obligations due to employees will be funded by state 
appropriations.  Deferred inflows of resources represent the acquisition of net assets applicable to future periods 
and are distinct from assets and liabilities.  The increase in net position over the past three periods is indicative of 
the capital improvement initiatives undertaken during this time.        

Ratio analysis measures certain elements of an institution’s financial health.  The analysis illustrates positive results 
of operations and remain indicators of the overall financial health of the institution.   

� Current Ratio: An excess of current assets over current liabilities (the current ratio) is a measure of 
liquidity and provides a buffer against future uncertainties.  The University’s current assets of $29.7 
million are sufficient to cover current liabilities of $13.8 million. The University’s current ratio at June 30
is 2.2 to 1 for 2011, 1.9 to 1 for 2010, and 1.1 to 1 for 2009.   
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� Return on Net Position Ratio: Net position represents the residual interest in the University's assets after 
liabilities and deferred inflows of resources are deducted.  Comparing the current change in total net 
position to total net position at the beginning of the period (return on net position) is an economic measure 
that determines if the University is financially better off than in previous years.  The University’s return on
net position at June 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009 was 19.7%, 19.0% and 5.6%, respectively. The ratio remains 
well above industry benchmarks.     

� Primary Reserve Ratio:  This ratio indicates how long the University could function using its expendable 
reserves without relying on additional net position generated by operations.  The University’s primary 
reserve ratio at June 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009 was 48.4%, 37.6% and 24.3%, respectively.  An improving 
trend indicates the University has been able to increase its expendable net position in proportion to the rate 
of growth in total operating expenditures.     

� Secondary Reserve Ratio:  This ratio measures the significance of non expendable net position in relation 
to an institution’s operating size.  An improving trend shows an improved capital base and the higher the 
ratio value, the better the long term financial condition.  The University’s secondary reserve ratio at June 
30, 2011, 2010 and 2009 was 62.0%, 60.5% and 59.8%, respectively. 

� In order to assess and evaluate the total financial health of an institution, core financial ratios are weighted 
and combined into a single factor called the Composite Financial Index (CFI).  When calculated, a strength
factor of three indicates a relatively healthy institution that can sustain moderate growth with expendable 
net position exceeding debt levels, although not by excessive amounts.  The University’s CFI at June 30,
2011, 2010 and 2009 was 5.1, 5.7 and 2.5, respectively.  The following graph illustrates the four core 
financial ratios after they have been weighted and strength factors calculated.

Composite Financial 
Index
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Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
The following Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position (condensed, in thousands) presents 
information showing the University’s results of operations for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009.  
Changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event given rise to the change occurs, regardless of 
the timing of related cash flows.  Thus, revenue and expenses are reported in this statement for some items that will 
result in cash flows in future periods (e.g. the accrual for compensated absences).

2011 2010 2009
Operating revenues:                  
Tuition & fees (net) $ 29,985 $ 28,372 $ 26,737 
Grants  9,714 12,780 4,483 
Sales & service of educational department 1,458 1,416 1,421 
Auxiliary 8,043 8,047 6,467 
Other operating revenue      712      680      678

Total operating revenue 49,912 51,295 39,786

Operating expenses: 
Instruction 27,139 25,682 25,010 
Research & public service 524 517 489 
Academic support 4,807 4,361 4,539 
Student services 8,031 7,445 7,299 
Scholarships 1,619 1,609 1,457 
Institutional support 6,768 5,988 6,464 
Operations & maintenance 10,881 10,818 11,306 
Depreciation 4,241 4,010 3,557 
Auxiliary    8,049    7,412     6,201
  Total operating expenses   72,059  67,842  66,322
Net operating loss (22,147) (16,547) (26,536)

Non-operating revenue & expenses: 
State appropriations 29,333 24,622 29,416 
Gifts 3 1 - 
Investment income 1,123 1,329  (179) 
Interest expense (583) (385) (546) 
State capital appropriations 140 - 498 
Capital grants   5,319   1,684       325
    Total non-operating revenue 35,335 27,251 29,514

Increase in net position 13,188 10,704 2,978 
Net position, beginning of the year    66,942  56,238  53,260
Net position, end of the year $  80,130 $ 66,942 $ 56,238

State appropriations are reported net of the amount of day school tuition collected by the University on behalf of 
the Commonwealth.  The tuition collected (for state supported courses taught by state employees) is then remitted 
to the Commonwealth as required by Massachusetts General Law.  The following schedule details the 
Commonwealth appropriations received by the University. Included in appropriations are the fringe benefit costs 
for University employees, which are paid by the Commonwealth.  The Commonwealth appropriates general funds 
to cover the cost of fringe benefits for state employees, but these funds are not appropriated directly to the 
University.  Non-state employees who are paid from trust funds, grants or other sources receive the same fringe 
benefits.  The University reimburses the Commonwealth for the benefit costs associated with these employees.  
The fringe benefit rate charged by the Commonwealth, exclusive of compensated absences, for fiscal years 2011,
2010 and 2009 was 31.8%, 26.4% and 24.5%, respectively.  The current fringe benefit rate includes group 
medical insurance (25.3%); retirement (5.3%) and terminal leave (1.2%).
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The following schedule (condensed, in thousands) details the Commonwealth appropriations received by the 
University: 

 2011  2010 2009

Commonwealth general appropriations $ 24,315 $ 21,429 $ 26,278 
Appropriations to cover fringe
  benefits provided to employees of 
  the Commonwealth   7,486   5,581   6,334

31,801 27,010 32,612 
Tuition remitted back to the Commonwealth  (2,468)  (2,388)  (3,196)
   Net appropriations 29,333 24,622 29,416 

Additional state capital appropriations       140           -       498
Total appropriations $ 29,473 $ 24,622 $ 29,914

The following is a graphic illustration of total revenue (operating, non-operating and capital) by source.  Total 
revenue for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009 was $85.8, $78.9 and $69.9 million, respectively.  

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2011, total appropriations increased by 19.7% due to significant reductions that 
occurred in fiscal 2010.  In fiscal 2010 reduced appropriations were replaced with ARRA funding which is now 
exhausted. Although appropriations in fiscal 2011 increased, the increase does not equate to the combination of 
appropriation and ARRA funding received in 2010.  State support continues to trend down forcing the University 
to rely more heavily on student fees to support operations.  Whereas state appropriations funded 61.5% of the total 
expenses in fiscal 2001, in fiscal 2011 that percentage is now 40.4%.  All other operating costs incurred by the 
University are funded from other non state revenue sources.  Tuition and fees are reported net of tuition waivers, 
exemptions, and scholarship allowances.  The amount of tuition charged per student is controlled at the state level 
and remains unchanged.  The increase in total tuition and fee revenue (5.7%) is due to increases in student fees and 
an increase in enrollment. During fiscal year 2011, 2010 and 2009, in-state tuition and fees for full time resident 
students was $7,953, $7,385 and $6,880 per semester, respectively.  In-state tuition and fees for commuting 
students in fiscal years 2011, 2010 and 2009 was $3,900, $3,450 and $3,200 per semester, respectively.
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Auxiliary revenue represents revenue received from the operations of the University’s residence halls.  Auxiliary 
revenue does not include fees charged for the student housing facility owned and operated by the FSU Supporting 
Organization, Inc. (the “Supporting Organization”).  The average residence hall occupancy rate for the year was
104% capacity.         

Grant revenue is made up of federal, state and private grants.  In fiscal 2011 the University received $3.1 million in 
ARRA stabilization funds to help offset decreases in state appropriations.  These funds were used to fund faculty 
payroll and fringe benefit costs.  Grant revenue includes PELL, SEOG and Federal Work Study financial aid 
programs.  Grant revenue also includes $5.3 million in capital grant funds used for the various construction projects.      

The following is a graphic illustration of total expenditures (operating and non-operating) by function.  Total 
expenditures for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009 were $72.6, $68.2 and $66.9 million,
respectively.     

Total expenditures, exclusive of depreciation, increased by 6.5% primarily due to increased fringe benefit rates set 
by the Commonwealth. The most significant area of expense remains Instruction, which represents 37.7% of total 
operating expenses.  Faculty payroll ($17.4 million) and related benefits ($5.3 million) represent approximately 
84.4% of instructional expenditures.  Institutional Support consists of the day-to-day operational support of the 
institution, excluding physical plant operations.  Scholarships are funded from Title V entitlement programs such 
as PELL and SEOG, as well as, from institutional operating funds.  Operations and Maintenance consists of 
expenditures related to physical plant.  Expenditures in this functional area include general repair costs and 
deferred maintenance costs that are below the capitalization threshold of $50,000.  The financial statements include 
$4.2, $4.0 and $3.6 million in depreciation expense for 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.  
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State appropriations are a significant source of funding for the University. According to the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board (GASB), appropriations are considered non-operating revenue.  As such, the 
University appears to experience a loss from operations.  However, it should be noted that state appropriations are
used to fund the operating activities of the University.   

The following schedule (condensed, in thousands) illustrates the University’s incurred losses from operations for 
the fiscal years ended June 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009.

      
                                                                        2011  2010         2009

   
Tuition & fees revenue, net $ 29,985 $ 28,372 $ 26,737 
Other operating revenue  19,927  22,923   13,049

Total operating revenue 49,912 51,295 39,786 
Operating expenses (72,059) (67,842) (66,322)
   Operating loss (22,147) (16,547) (26,536) 
Total state appropriations 29,333 24,622 29,914 
Other revenue (expense), net    6,002     2,629     (400)
  Increase in net position  $ 13,188 $ 10,704 $   2,978

Net Operating Revenues Ratio: This ratio indicates whether total operating activities resulted in a surplus or
deficit.  A positive ratio indicates that the institution experienced an operating surplus and is indicative of efficient 
and effective operations.  For the fiscal years ended June 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009, the University’s net operating 
revenues ratio was 9.6%, 11.7% and 3.1%, respectively.  

Statement of Cash Flows
The statement of cash flows provides pertinent information about the cash receipts and cash payments during a 
certain period of time.  The statement provides an additional tool to assess the financial health of the institution.  
As required by GASB, the statement is reported using the direct method.  The direct method of cash flow reporting 
portrays net cash flows from operations as major classes of receipts (e.g. tuition and fees) and disbursements (e.g. 
cash paid to employees for services).  

The following are the University’s statements of cash flows (condensed, in thousands) for the fiscal years ended 
June 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009: 

2011   2010 2009  

Cash received from operations $ 50,760 $ 50,918  $ 39,783 
Cash expended for operations (59,930) (57,112) (57,550)
  Net cash used by operations (9,170) (6,194) (17,767) 
Net cash provided by non-capital 

financing activities 21,850 19,043 23,082 
Net cash used by capital and

related financing activities 6,822 (5,895) (9,955) 
Net cash (used) provided by investing activities     294   1,563       279

Net increase (decrease) in cash and equivalents 19,796 8,517 (4,361) 
Cash and equivalents, beginning of the year 21,890 13,373 17,734
Cash and equivalents, end of the year $ 41,686 $ 21,890 $ 13,373  

The University’s cash and cash equivalents increased by approximately $19.8 million during fiscal 2011, resulting 
in the cash and cash equivalents balance of $41.7 million at fiscal year end.  The increase is primarily due to 
proceeds received from the MSCBA bond issue for the renovation of the Hammond Campus Center.  Non-capital 
financing activities, as defined by GASB, include state appropriations.  These appropriations fund the operating 
activities of the University. Investing activities include interest and dividends received from portfolio investments, 
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as well as, interest earned on University funds held in the Massachusetts Municipal Depository Trust (MMDT), a 
short-term money management vehicle provided by the Commonwealth.     

Capital Assets
Capital assets consist of land, buildings and building improvements, equipment, library materials, and construction 
in progress.  As of June 30, 2011, net capital assets increased to $66.2 million after depreciation expense of $4.2 
million.  During the current fiscal year there were $15.0 million in additions to capital assets. Major capital 
initiatives either continuing or undertaken during 2011 include: 

� Continuing construction for the Science Center Modernization project, $6.6 million (to date) 
� Continuing renovation of the Hammond Campus Center, $3.4 million (to date) 
� Completion of Phase I construction of new academic space on North Street, $2 million 
� Completion of Phase III of the Anthony Building renovations, $1.1 million 

Additional information on Fitchburg State University’s capital assets can be found in footnote 5 to the 
accompanying financial statements.   

Physical Asset Renewal Ratio: The extent to which capital renewal is occurring as compared to physical usage 
(depreciation) can be measured by the physical asset renewal ratio.  A ratio above 1:1 indicates increasing 
investment in plant facilities.  The University’s physical asset renewal ratio for fiscal years ended June 30, 2011, 
2010 and 2009 was 3.1, 1.3 and 2.5, respectively.    

Long Term Debt
The University has long term debt obligations issued for various capital projects.  The debt was issued through
several financing agreements with the Massachusetts Development Finance Agency (MDFA) (formerly the 
Massachusetts Health and Educational Facilities Authority (MHEFA)) and the Massachusetts State College 
Building Authority (MSCBA). The interest rate on the MDFA debt is a floating rate set every thirty five days 
based on market conditions.  The interest rate on the MSCBA debt is based on an increasing coupon rate ranging 
from 3.00% to 6.54 % over the term of the debt as set by MSCBA.  The debt is being repaid by the University 
primarily through dedicated student fees (DSF).  The following table summarizes the various debt vehicles, interest 
rates, debt service and debt outstanding at June 30, 2011 and is inclusive of any bond premiums or discounts.   

Issuing 
Agency

Construction 
Project

Fiscal 
Year 

Issued

Original 
Issue

Funding 
Source 

Effective
Interest

Rate

Debt 
Service

Debt 
Outstanding 

Maturity 

MDFA Recreation 
Center

1997 $6,000,000 DSF 1.32% $217,945 $4,037,685 2023

MSCBA Holmes 
Dining Hall 
Renovations

2005 $1,090,000 DSF 4.26% $82,894 $845,000 2025

MSCBA Elliot Athletic 
Field 
Improvements

2005 $4,020,000 DSF 4.26% $304,369 $3,110,000 2025

MSCBA Holmes 
Dining Hall 
Renovations

2006 $2,060,000 DSF 4.25% $165,012 $1,783,353 2026

MSCBA Hammond 
Campus Center 
Renovations

2011 $15,935,656 DSF & 
operating 

funds

3.22% $203,072 $15,923,924 2030

Total $29,105,656 $973,292 $25,699,962
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The University has acquired equipment through capital lease agreements with various financing companies.  The 
capital lease agreements allow for the acquisition of telephone, printing and computer equipment, software and 
implementation costs, and various other furniture and equipment costs.  Capital lease agreements are generally paid 
from operating funds and have terms ranging from three to five years.  The following table summarizes the various 
capital lease agreements, interest rates, debt service and amounts outstanding at June 30, 2011. 

Financing 
Agreement

Equipment 
Acquisition 

Initial 
Lease 
Year

Original 
Amount 
Financed 

Funding 
Source 

Interest 
Rate

Debt 
Service

Debt 
Outstanding 

Maturity 

1 Student 
information 
system

2001 $5,000,000 Operating 
funds 

5.85% $308,166 - 2010

2 Residence Hall 
Furniture  

2009 $499,938 Operating 
funds 

2.85% $107,636 $332,974 2014

all others Telephone, 
computer and 
other

2005
to 

2009

$538,455 Operating 
funds 

3.27% 
- 

6.29%

$106,268 $65,279 2010-
2012 

Total $6,038,393 $522,070 $398,253

For the fiscal years ended June 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009, the total debt (current and long term) attributable to 
interagency payments, capital leases and bond premiums amounted to $26.1, $11.2 and $13.1 million, respectively.

Additional information on Fitchburg State University’s long term debt activity can be found in footnotes 12 and 13
to the accompanying financial statements.  

Viability Ratio:  The availability of expendable net position to cover debt (the viability ratio) is a basic
determinant of financial health.  A viability ratio of 1.0 indicates that, as of the statement of net position date, the 
University has sufficient net position to satisfy its debt obligations.  As of June 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009, the 
University’s viability ratio was 1.4, 2.3 and 1.2, respectively.

Debt Burden:  The debt burden ratio measures an institution’s dependence on borrowed funds by comparing the 
level of debt service to total expenditures.  In order to effectively manage resources, including debt, the 
Massachusetts Department of Higher Education recommends a debt burden ratio of no more than 5%.  As of June 
30, 2011, 2010 and 2009, the University’s debt burden was 2.2%, 4.3% and 3.1%, respectively.

Looking Forward
Heavy construction equipment has become a constant feature on the campus as the University continues to invest 
in its buildings and grounds.  The University has broken ground for the new Science Center.  This is the first new 
academic building constructed at Fitchburg State University in thirty-five years.  The 54,000 square foot addition 
to the existing Condike Science Building will be framed in the fall and is expected to be completed in two years, at 
which time the Condike Science Building will undergo a year-long renovation.  The $57 million project is expected 
to be completed in the spring of 2014.   

Construction has also begun on renovations to the Hammond Campus Center.  The $26 million project will 
enhance the student life experience by creating new meeting spaces, student lounges and study spaces.  The project 
will also create new office space for student support services and upgrade the building’s mechanical infrastructure.  
The project is being funded by a combination of bond issues, capital appropriations and institutional funds.  Other 
projects scheduled for completion in fiscal 2012 include Conlon lobby renovations, renovations of Miller Hall, 
renovations of Weston Auditorium and the Highland Avenue closure project.  

The University continues to employ innovative uses of technology to maximize student learning.   A new wireless 
system is now in place for all buildings on campus, including academic, administrative and residence halls as well 
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as common outdoor areas.  The University has recently implemented a new application to connect faculty, staff and 
students. Wimba Pronto is a tool that allows users to utilize instant messaging, voice over internet protocols and 
video conferencing technologies in real time.  During the summer, the University also began the deployment of 
virtual workstations that will place Fitchburg State University at the leading-edge of technology.   

The University is near completion of its NEASC accreditation process.   The New England Association of Schools 
and Colleges (NEASC) is the regional accrediting body that provides public assurance about educational quality.  
Institutions seeking accreditation must demonstrate adherence to eleven Standards of Accreditation which establish 
the criteria for institutional quality.  The process begins with a lengthy self study meant to demonstrate that the 
institution has effective means to ensure institutional improvement and is completed prior to a formal peer 
evaluation.  The self study is near completion and will be submitted to NEASC in advance of the evaluation team’s 
March 2012 visit.  The University’s goal is to receive another 10 year accreditation.  

In July 2010, the Massachusetts State Legislature passed legislation creating the Massachusetts State University 
system.  As a result, Fitchburg State College officially became Fitchburg State University on October 26, 2010.  
The name change recognizes Fitchburg State as a comprehensive institution and allows it to better compete with 
peer institutions, access new opportunities and provide students with a competitive advantage.  

Challenging economic times persisted through fiscal 2011 and are expected to continue well into the future.  
Federal stimulus funds, which supported operating budgets for the last two years, are now exhausted.  Although 
there was some improvement in 2011, the economic environment remains volatile.  Legislation was passed to 
allow institutions to retain out of state tuition which may give the University added flexibility.  However, it comes 
with a corresponding reduction in state appropriations.  There is little doubt that budget challenges will continue 
for additional years mandating that the University intensify its efforts to enhance current revenue, protect operating 
dollars, increase assets, and contain costs. These measures will ensure the long term solvency and success of the 
University, preserve its core mission, and make the best possible use of resources while at the same time 
positioning the institution for a viable, progressive and successful future. 

Requests for Information
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the finances of Fitchburg State University for 
anyone interested in this information.  Questions concerning any of the data provided in this report or requests for 
additional financial information should be addressed to Robert V. Antonucci, President, Fitchburg State University,
160 Pearl Street, Fitchburg, Massachusetts, 01420. 



                         Ercolini & Company LLP 
              Certified Public Accountants

                 101 Arch Street, Suite 300      
                 Boston, MA  02110-1103 

                                                                                                                                                              t 617-482-5511     
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   f 617-426-5252 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   www.recpa.com 
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To the Board of Trustees
Fitchburg State University
Fitchburg, Massachusetts 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the business-type activities of Fitchburg State University
(the University) (formerly known as Fitchburg State College) (a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)
as of and for the years ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, and the discretely presented component unit as of and for the 
years ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, which collectively comprise Fitchburg State University’s basic financial 
statements as listed in the table of contents.  These financial statements are the responsibility of Fitchburg State 
University’s management.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our 
audits.  

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and 
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller 
General of the United States.  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.  An audit includes examining on a 
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  An audit also includes 
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall financial statement presentation.  We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements of Fitchburg State University and its discretely presented component 
unit are intended to present the respective financial position, results of operations and, where applicable, cash flows of 
only that portion of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented 
component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Commonwealth of 
Massachusetts that is attributable to the transactions of Fitchburg State University and its discretely presented 
component unit.  They do not purport to, and do not, present fairly the financial position of the Commonwealth of 
Massachusetts as of June 30, 2011 and 2010, the change in its financial position, or, where applicable, its cash flows 
for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial 
position of the business-type activities and discretely presented component unit of Fitchburg State University as of 
June 30, 2011 and 2010, and the respective results of operations and cash flows, where applicable, for the years then 
ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, in fiscal 2011, the University elected to early implement the 
provisions of Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 60, Accounting and Financial 
Reporting for Service Concession Arrangements, and GASB Statement No. 63, Financial Reporting of Deferred 
Outflows of Resources, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and Net Position.
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In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued a report dated October 18, 2011 on our 
consideration of Fitchburg State University’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, grant agreements and other matters for the year 
ended June 30, 2011.  The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal control 
over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards and should be considered in assessing the results of our 2011 audit.

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s discussion 
and analysis on pages i through xi be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.  Such information, 
although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, 
who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an 
appropriate operations, economic, or historical context.  We have applied certain limited procedures to the required 
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, 
which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the 
information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other 
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.  We do not express an opinion or provide 
any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express 
an opinion or provide any assurance.

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements as a whole.  The 
residence hall fund and residence hall damage fund activity on pages 65 and 66, and the statistical section on pages 67 
through 71 are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the 2011 financial 
statements.  The residence hall fund and residence hall damage fund activity are the responsibility of management and 
were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the 2011 financial 
statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the 2011 financial 
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the 2011 financial statements or to the 2011 financial 
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America.  In our opinion, the residence hall fund and residence hall damage fund activity are fairly 
stated in all material respects in relation to the 2011 financial statements as a whole.  The statistical section has not 
been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the 2011 financial statements and, accordingly, we do 
not express an opinion or provide any assurance on it.

Boston, Massachusetts
October 18, 2011
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See notes to financial statements. 3

(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2011 AND 2010

ASSETS 2011

Component Unit
Fitchburg State

University
Foundation, Inc.

2011 2010

Component Unit
Fitchburg State

University
Foundation, Inc.

2010

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 22,481,590 $ 2,270,542 $ 16,750,963 $ 1,536,405
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 3,867,412 - 1,646,828 151,614
Investments - 2,996,227 - 2,129,552
Accounts receivable, net 3,045,758 10,911 2,074,949 58,826
Contributions receivable, net - 1,396,439 - 1,258,756
Loans receivable - current portion 4,189 - 2,570 -
Other current assets 273,857 33,665 267,810 18,445

Total current assets 29,672,806 6,707,784 20,743,120 5,153,598

Noncurrent Assets

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 15,336,664 - 3,492,599 -
Investments 11,142,978 - 10,410,255 -
Endowment investments 699,432 7,122,220 671,693 6,996,347
Contributions receivable, net - 104,426 - 252,097
Accounts receivable, net of current portion 408,721 - - -
Loans receivable, net of current portion 1,937,582 - 1,921,386 -
Capital assets, net 66,192,103 4,815,752 55,386,250 5,002,205
Other noncurrent assets 177,185 153,737 211,803 150,299

Total noncurrent assets 95,894,665 12,196,135 72,093,986 12,400,948

Total assets 125,567,471 18,903,919 92,837,106 17,554,546

      



DR
AF
T

FITCHBURG STATE UNIVERSITY

See notes to financial statements. 4

(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION - CONTINUED

JUNE 30, 2011 AND 2010

LIABILITIES 2011

Component Unit
Fitchburg State

University
Foundation, Inc.

2011 2010

Component Unit
Fitchburg State

University
Foundation, Inc.

2010

Current Liabilities

Interagency payables - current portion $ 1,146,738 $ - $ 479,731 $ -
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 2,488,414 80,981 2,496,144 90,904
Accounts payable - construction 2,495,246 - 516,138 -
Accrued workers’ compensation - current 

portion 148,183 - 130,238 -
Compensated absences - current portion 2,664,148 - 2,341,896 -
Faculty payroll accrual 2,624,441 - 2,488,554 -
Deferred revenue 1,642,678 22,405 1,203,210 42,005
Capital leases - current portion 166,275 - 497,437 -
Long-term debt - current portion - 150,153 - 138,416
Deposits 259,160 - 319,850 -
Bank line of credit - - - 125,000
Other current liabilities 182,007 - 186,021 -

Total current liabilities 13,817,290 253,539 10,659,219 396,325

Noncurrent Liabilities

Interagency payables, net of current portion 24,553,224 - 9,786,006 -
Accrued workers’ compensation, net of current 

portion 604,015 - 530,867 -
Compensated absences, net of current portion 1,709,652 - 1,673,143 -
Rebate payable 17,993 - 17,965 -
Capital leases, net of current portion 231,978 - 398,252 -
Long-term debt, net of current portion - 3,653,458 - 3,803,481
Loan payable - federal financial assistance 

programs 1,882,087 - 1,851,713 -

Total noncurrent liabilities 28,998,949 3,653,458 14,257,946 3,803,481

Total liabilities 42,816,239 3,906,997 24,917,165 4,199,806

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Service concession arrangement 2,621,266 - 978,377 -

  Total deferred inflows of resources 2,621,266 -   978,377   -
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See notes to financial statements. 5

(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION - CONTINUED

JUNE 30, 2011 AND 2010

NET POSITION 2011

Component Unit
Fitchburg State

University
Foundation, Inc.

2011 2010

Component Unit
Fitchburg State

University
Foundation, Inc.

2010

Net investment in capital assets $ 44,551,543 $ 1,012,141 $ 40,791,020 $ 935,309
Restricted for:

Non-expendable
Scholarships and fellowships 458,004 4,078,595 470,158 4,161,886
Cultural programs - 2,563,762 - 2,329,756
Centennial endowments - 1,592,974 - 1,592,974
Other - 80,095 - 73,186

Expendable
Scholarships and fellowships 428,682 1,632,517 372,040 988,453
Cultural programs - 1,090,192 - 810,625
Loans 256,995 - 252,226 -
Capital projects 8,857,161 - 3,589,443 -
Debt service 3,501,000 - 4,188,550 -
Other 930 327,139 930 294,447

Unrestricted 22,075,651 2,619,507 17,277,197 2,168,104

Total net position $ 80,129,966 $ 14,996,922 $ 66,941,564 $ 13,354,740
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See notes to financial statements. 6

(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2011 AND 2010

OPERATING REVENUES 2011

Component Unit
Fitchburg State

University
Foundation, Inc.

2011 2010

Component Unit
Fitchburg State

University
Foundation, Inc.

2010

Student tuition and fees $ 34,909,405 $ - $ 32,449,385 $ -
Student fees restricted for repayment of

Interagency payables   1,453,795   -   1,479,837   - 
Less:  Scholarship allowances ( 6,377,904) - ( 5,557,180) -
Net student tuition and fees 29,985,296 - 28,372,042 -

Federal grants and contracts 6,282,893 - 5,603,958 -
State and local grants and contracts 88,284 44,036 196,606 20,880
Stimulus grants 3,098,023 - 6,666,991 -
Nongovernmental grants and contracts 244,867 - 312,022 -
Sales and services of educational departments 1,457,855 654,575 1,416,538 544,370
Gifts and contributions - 3,313,136 - 456,229

Auxiliary enterprises:
Residential life 8,010,522 200,120 8,014,002 185,873
Alcohol awareness and other programs 32,400 - 32,780 -

Other operating revenues 712,028 6,909 680,069 4,816

Total operating revenues 49,912,168 4,218,776 51,295,008 1,212,168

OPERATING EXPENSES

Educational and general:
Instruction 27,138,609 2,896,430 25,682,331 62,204
Research 68,156 - 106,458 -
Public service 456,372 237,621 409,901 173,430
Academic support 4,806,942 13,985 4,361,103 14,407
Student services 8,030,813 127,590 7,445,019 175,969
Institutional support 6,767,632 313,982 5,988,283 201,371
Operations and maintenance of plant 10,881,270 69,092 10,818,202 335,269
Depreciation and amortization 4,241,022 101,729 4,010,435 81,525
Scholarships and awards 1,618,980 228,695 1,608,419 204,587

Auxiliary enterprises:
Residential life 8,018,729 46,399 7,386,831 46,605
Alcohol awareness and other programs 30,185 - 24,946 -

Total operating expenses 72,058,710 4,035,523 67,841,928 1,295,367

Operating  income (loss) ( 22,146,542) 183,253 ( 16,546,920) ( 83,199)
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See notes to financial statements. 7

(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION - CONTINUED

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2011 AND 2010

  

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES) 2011

Component Unit
Fitchburg State

University
Foundation, Inc.

2011 2010

Component Unit
Fitchburg State

University
Foundation, Inc.

2010

State appropriations $ 29,332,885 $ - $ 24,622,349 $ -
Gifts 2,740 - 1,271 -
Investment income (loss), net of investment expense 1,008,505 437,376 1,226,975 546,501
Investment income (loss) on restricted assets 114,426 1,099,417 100,845 453,484
Interest expense on Interagency payables and 

capital asset related debt  ( 583,060)  ( 228,580)  ( 384,861)  ( 222,608) 

Net nonoperating revenues before capital 
and endowment additions   29,875,496   1,308,213   25,566,579   777,377

INCOME BEFORE CAPITAL AND 
ENDOWMENT ADDITIONS 7,728,954 1,491,466 9,019,659 694,178

State capital appropriations 140,046 - - -
Capital grants 5,319,402 - 1,683,802 -
Private gifts for endowment purposes - 150,716 - 1,063,289

Total capital and endowment additions 5,459,448 150,716 1,683,802 1,063,289

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN NET POSITION 13,188,402 1,642,182 10,703,461 1,757,467

NET POSITION - BEGINNING OF YEAR 66,941,564 13,354,740 56,238,103 11,597,273

NET POSITION - END OF YEAR $ 80,129,966 $ 14,996,922 $ 66,941,564 $ 13,354,740
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See notes to financial statements. 8

(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2011 AND 2010

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 2011 2010

Tuition and fees $ 29,920,906 $ 27,937,671
Research grants and contracts 6,545,425 6,347,705
Stimulus funds 3,147,054 6,290,586
Payments to suppliers ( 17,001,488) ( 15,317,369)
Payments to utilities ( 4,075,803) ( 3,587,306)
Payments to employees ( 34,404,372) ( 33,930,067)
Payments for benefits ( 2,449,114) ( 2,348,948)
Payments for scholarships ( 1,653,433) ( 1,640,584)
Loans issued to students ( 281,579) ( 287,794)
Collection of loans to students 250,169 239,731
Auxiliary enterprise receipts:

Residential life 8,022,787 8,015,838
Alcohol awareness program 32,400 32,780

Receipts from sales and services of educational departments 2,133,342 1,309,268
Other payments ( 64,703) 67,237
Other receipts 708,171 677,406

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities ( 9,170,238) ( 6,193,846)

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES

State appropriations 24,314,689 21,426,785
Tuition remitted to State ( 2,467,840) ( 2,385,290)
Gifts from grants for other than capital purposes 2,740 1,271

Net cash provided by (used in) noncapital financing activities 21,849,589 19,042,766

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES

State capital appropriations 140,046 -
Loan programs net funds received 34,418 20,576
Capital grants 573,382 -
Interagency payable proceeds received 15,935,656 -
Payments for capital assets ( 8,194,122) ( 3,065,878)
Principal paid on capital debt and leases ( 981,453) ( 2,448,026)
Interest paid on Interagency payables and capital leases ( 507,920) ( 401,194)
Bond issuance costs ( 178,440) -

Net cash provided by (used in) capital and related financing
activities 6,821,567 ( 5,894,522)
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(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS - CONTINUED

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2011 AND 2010

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 2011 2010

Purchase of investments ($ 575,000) ($ 900,678)
Proceeds from sale of investments 575,000 2,087,113
Earnings on investments 294,358 376,818

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 294,358 1,563,253

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 19,795,276 8,517,651

Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year 21,890,390 13,372,739

Cash and cash equivalents - end of year $ 41,685,666 $ 21,890,390

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING LOSS TO NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Operating loss ($ 22,146,542) ($ 16,546,920)

Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash
used in operating activities: 

Bad debt expense 47,067 122,582
Depreciation and amortization 4,241,022 4,010,435
Fringe benefits paid by the Commonwealth of Massachusetts 7,486,036 5,580,855
Changes in assets and liabilities:

Receivables 162,305 ( 544,778)
Other current and noncurrent assets 207,012 229,514
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities ( 96,610) 882,083
Accrued workers’ compensation 91,093 157,337
Compensated absences 358,761 61,189
Accrued faculty payroll 135,887 ( 30,840)
Deferred revenue 439,468 ( 136,312)
Other current liabilities ( 4,014) 18,463
Deposits ( 60,690) 48,775
Loans to students ( 31,033) ( 46,229)

Net cash used in operating activities ($ 9,170,238) ($ 6,193,846)
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See notes to financial statements. 10

(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS - CONTINUED

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2011 AND 2010

SCHEDULE OF NONCASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES: 2011 2010

Acquisition of capital assets $ 15,046,875 $ 5,581,039
Accounts payable thereon:

Beginning of year 516,138 39,816
End of year ( 2,495,246) ( 516,138)

Acquisition of assets from capital lease obligations - ( 499,938)
Capital grants from DCAM ( 4,873,645) ( 1,538,901)
Net interest earned and incurred, capitalized in construction in progress - -

Payments for capital assets $ 8,194,122 $ 3,065,878

Unrealized gain (loss) on investments $ 738,899 $ 1,097,274

Fringe benefits paid by the Commonwealth of Massachusetts $ 7,486,036 $ 5,580,855

Capital grants - amortization of deferred inflows of resources - service
concession arrangement $ 172,374 $ 144,901

RECONCILIATION OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT BALANCES:

2011 2010
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 22,481,590 $ 16,750,963
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 3,867,412 1,646,828

Noncurrent assets:
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 15,336,664 3,492,599

Total cash and cash equivalents $ 41,685,666 $ 21,890,390



DR
AF
T

11

FITCHBURG STATE UNIVERSITY
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2011 AND 2010

1. Summary of significant accounting policies:

Organization: 

Fitchburg State University (the University) (formerly known as Fitchburg State College) is a public, State-
supported comprehensive four-year University which offers a quality education leading to baccalaureate and 
masters degrees in many disciplines.  With its campus located in Fitchburg, Massachusetts, the University
provides instruction in a variety of liberal arts, allied health, and business fields of study.  The University also 
offers, through the Division of Graduate and Continuing Education, credit and non-credit courses.  The 
University is accredited by the New England Association of Schools and Colleges.

On July 28, 2010, the Governor of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, Deval Patrick, signed legislation 
creating the State University System.  Under this legislation, Fitchburg State College became Fitchburg State 
University effective October 26, 2010.

The University is a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts (the State or the Commonwealth). The 
accompanying financial statements reflect only the transactions of the University and its discretely presented 
component unit.  Accordingly, the accompanying financial statements may not necessarily be indicative of the 
conditions that would have existed if the University had been operated independently of the State.  

Fitchburg State University Foundation, Inc. (the Foundation) (formerly known as Fitchburg State College 
Foundation, Inc.) is a component unit of Fitchburg State University. During fiscal 2011, the Commonwealth of 
Massachusetts approved a name change from Fitchburg State College Foundation, Inc. to Fitchburg State 
University Foundation, Inc.  The Foundation is a legally separate, tax-exempt organization under Section 501(c)
(3) of the Internal Revenue Code. It was organized on June 6, 1978, exclusively for the benefit of Fitchburg State 
University, to establish scholarships and make awards to educationally talented and needy students; to establish a 
Distinguished Professor award within the faculty of the University; to subsidize inter-collegiate athletic 
programs; to subsidize budgets of departments of the University as needed for particular purposes; to encourage 
public use and support of functions and activities which further the mission of the University; and to encourage 
other activities necessary for, or incidental to, any or all of the foregoing.  The following programs are supported 
under the auspices of the Foundation:  Center Stage, Alumni Association, Women in Today's Society, Amelia V. 
Gallucci - Cirio endowment and the University’s Booster Clubs. The Board of the Foundation is self-
perpetuating and consists of graduates and friends of the University.  Although the University does not control 
the timing or amount of receipts from the Foundation, the majority of resources, or income thereon that the 
Foundation holds and invests are restricted to the activities of the University by the donors.  Because these 
restricted resources held by the Foundation can only be used by, or for the benefit of, the University, the 
Foundation is considered a component unit of the University and is discretely presented in the University’s 
financial statements. The University provides, at no cost, certain administrative services to the Foundation.

FSU Foundation Supporting Organization, Inc. (the Foundation Supporting Organization) (formerly known as 
FSC Foundation Supporting Organization, Inc.) was organized on October 29, 1999 for the exclusive benefit of 
the Foundation and all of its educational and charitable activities. During fiscal 2011, the Commonwealth of 
Massachusetts approved a name change from FSC Foundation Supporting Organization, Inc. to FSU Foundation 
Supporting Organization, Inc. The Foundation Supporting Organization is a legally separate, tax-exempt 
organization under Section 501(c) (3) of the Internal Revenue Code.  The Foundation Supporting Organization’s 
sole program activity, as of June 30, 2011, has been to acquire, hold, operate and lease real estate and related
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies - continued: 

Organization - continued: 

improvements for the benefit of the Foundation and the University.  The financial information of the Foundation 
Supporting Organization is consolidated into the financial statements of the Foundation. The Foundation and 
Foundation Supporting Organization are collectively referred to hereinafter as the FSU Foundation.

During the year ended June 30, 2011, FSU Foundation distributed a net amount of $355,744 to the University for 
both restricted and unrestricted purposes.  During 2011, FSU Foundation distributed scholarships and awards in 
the amount of $228,695 directly to students and faculty of the University, and incurred an additional $3,679,664
in support of its mission in other ways.  Complete financial statements for FSU Foundation can be obtained from 
the Office of the Vice President for Finance and Administration, Fitchburg State University, 160 Pearl Street, 
Fitchburg, MA 01420.

During the year ended June 30, 2010, FSU Foundation distributed a net amount of $284,021 to the University for 
both restricted and unrestricted purposes.  During 2010, FSU Foundation distributed scholarships and awards in 
the amount of $204,587 directly to students and faculty of the University, and incurred an additional $1,029,367
in support of its mission in other ways.

Basis of presentation: 

The University’s financial statements have been prepared using the “economic resources measurement focus” 
and the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America, as prescribed by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB).  Revenues are 
recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related 
cash flows.  Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements have been 
met.  

FSU Foundation, as a nonprofit organization, reports under Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) 
guidance on financial reporting for Not-for-Profit Entities.  As such, certain revenue recognition criteria and 
presentation features are different from GASB revenue recognition criteria and presentation features.  Other than 
the reclassification of certain items, no modifications have been made to FSU Foundation’s consolidated 
financial information in the University’s financial reporting entity for these differences.

The University’s policy for defining operating activities in the statements of revenues, expenses and changes in 
net position are those that generally result from exchange transactions such as the payment received for services 
and payment made for the purchase of goods and services.  Certain other transactions are reported as 
nonoperating activities in accordance with GASB Statement No. 35.  These nonoperating activities include the 
University’s operating and capital appropriations from the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, net investment 
income, gifts, and interest expense.

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the University’s policy to use the 
restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed.
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies - continued:

Basis of presentation - continued: 

The accompanying statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position demonstrate the degree to which 
the direct expense of a given function is offset by program revenues.  Direct expenses are those that are clearly 
identifiable within a specific function.  Program revenues primarily include charges to students or others who 
enroll or directly benefit from services that are provided by a particular function.  Items not meeting the 
definition of program revenues are instead reported as general revenue.

GASB Statement No. 34 requires that resources be classified for accounting purposes into the following four net 
position categories:  

� Net investment in capital assets: Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation and outstanding 
principal balances of debt attributable to the acquisition, construction or improvement of those assets.
Deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources that are attributable to the 
acquisition, construction or improvement of those assets or related debt are also included in this 
component of net position.

� Restricted:

   Nonexpendable - Component of net position whose net assets are subject to externally-imposed 
stipulations that they be maintained permanently by the University.  Such assets include the 
University’s permanent endowment funds.

Expendable - Component of net position whose use of net assets by the University is subject to 
externally-imposed stipulations that can be fulfilled by actions of the University pursuant to those 
stipulations or that expire by the passage of time.

� Unrestricted: All other categories of net position.  Unrestricted net position may be designated for 
specific purposes by action of management or the Board of Trustees.  

In accordance with the requirements of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, the University’s operations are    
accounted for in several trust funds.  All of these trust funds have been consolidated and are included in these 
financial statements.

Use of estimates: 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts and 
disclosures reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes.  Although these estimates are based on 
management's knowledge of current events and actions it may undertake in the future, they may ultimately differ 
from actual results.
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies - continued:

Cash and cash equivalents and investments: 

The University’s cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on hand, cash and cash equivalents held by
the Commonwealth’s Treasurer and Receiver-General, MDFA and MSCBA, and short term investments with 
original maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition.

Investments for the University are reported at fair value.  Any investments held with the Commonwealth’s 
Treasurer and Receiver-General in the Massachusetts Municipal Depository Trust are also at fair value.  This 
external investment pool, run by the Treasurer and Receiver-General, operates in accordance with appropriate 
laws and regulations. The reported value of the pool is the same as the fair value of the pool shares.

Investments include marketable debt and equity securities which are carried at their readily determinable fair 
values.  Investments also include pooled investment funds with Commonfund which are valued at fair value 
based upon estimated net asset values provided by the management of Commonfund.  These pooled investment 
funds are primarily invested in marketable debt and equity securities. Realized and unrealized gains and losses 
are included in nonoperating revenues.  Gains and losses on the disposition of investments are determined based 
on specific identification of securities sold or the average cost method.  Investment income is recognized when 
earned and is generally credited to the trust fund holding the related assets.  

Dividends, interest and net gains or losses on investments are reported in the Statements of Revenues, Expenses 
and Changes in Net Position.  Any net earnings not expended are included in net position categories as follows:

(i) as increases in restricted - nonexpendable net position if the terms of the gift require that they be added to 
the principal of a permanent endowment fund;

(ii) as increases in restricted - expendable net position if the terms of the gift or the University’s interpretation of 
relevant state law impose restrictions on the current use of the income or net gains.  The University has 
relied upon the Attorney General’s interpretation of state law that unappropriated endowment gains should 
be classified as restricted - expendable; and

(iii) as increases in unrestricted net position in all other cases.

At June 30, 2011 and 2010, the University had $395,530 and $339,238, respectively, in endowment income 
available for authorization for expenditure, which is included in restricted-expendable net position for
scholarships and fellowships. 

Massachusetts General Law, Chapter 15 grants authority to the University Boards of Trustees to administer the 
general business of the University.  Inherent in this authority is the authority to invest funds of the University.
Chapter 15 further grants the Trustees the authority to delegate, to the President, any said powers or 
responsibilities.  The Board of Trustees of Fitchburg State University has delegated the authority to make specific 
investment decisions to the President of the University and the Finance Committee of the Board of Trustees. The 
University currently holds one publicly-traded equity security related to one of its endowments and it has invested 
in pooled investment funds with the Commonfund.  The primary cash equivalent funds are the Massachusetts 
Municipal Depository Trust, an external investment pool for political subdivisions of the Commonwealth.
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies - continued:

Cash and cash equivalents and investments - continued: 

The University’s authorized spending rule provides that all earnings on endowment investments may be 
expended pursuant to the stipulations placed on these endowments. If a donor has not provided specific 
instructions, Massachusetts General Law permits the University’s Board of Trustees to authorize for expense the 
net appreciation (realized and unrealized) of the investments of endowment funds.  Any net appreciation that is 
spent is required to be spent for the purposes for which the endowment was established.

FSU Foundation’s investments consist of debt, marketable equity securities, mutual funds, a pooled investment 
real estate fund and other investments which are carried at their fair values.  Unrealized gains and losses are 
included in revenue.  Restricted investment income and gains are reported as increases in unrestricted net 
position, unless a donor or law temporarily (expendable) or permanently (non-expendable) restricts their use.  
Gains and losses on the disposition of investments are principally determined based on the first-in, first-out 
method or specific identification of securities sold.

FSU Foundation maintains cash and an investment pool that is available for use by all funds.  Each fund’s 
portion is reflected in the financial statements under cash and equivalents and investments.  Earnings on cash and 
investments of the unrestricted net position and temporarily restricted (expendable) net position are reflected in 
the fund in which the assets are recorded.

The University’s and FSU Foundation’s investment income are presented net of investment expense in the 
statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position. The University’s investment expense amounted to 
$22,272 and $32,392 for the years ended June 30, 2011 and 2010. The Foundation’s investment expense 
amounted to $42,923 and $33,009 for the years ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

Accounts receivable: 

Accounts receivable are stated at the amount the University expects to collect from outstanding balances.  The 
University provides for probable uncollectible amounts through a charge to operations and a credit to a valuation 
allowance based on its assessment of the current status of individual accounts.  Balances that are still outstanding 
after the University has used reasonable collection efforts are written off through a charge to the valuation 
allowance and a credit to accounts receivable.

Accounts receivable also include a receivable from the operator of the University’s food services operation in 
connection with a service concession arrangement between the University and the operator.  The receivable has 
been recorded at the net present value of the installments to be received from the operator using a discount rate 
determined by management of the University.

Loans receivable and payable: 

Loans receivable consist, primarily, of the Federal Perkins Loan Program (Perkins) and the Federal Nursing 
Student Loan Program (NSL).  The federal government provides the majority of the funds to support these
programs.  Loan payments received from students made under the Perkins and NSL programs may be re-loaned 
after collection.  The portion of the Perkins and NSL Loan Programs provided by the federal government is
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies - continued:

Loans receivable and payable - continued: 

refundable to the federal government upon the ending (liquidation) of the University’s participation in the 
programs. The amount due to the federal government upon liquidation by the University is $1,511,094 and
$1,489,744 for Perkins and $370,993 and $361,969 for NSL at June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively.  These 
amounts are included as a noncurrent liability in the accompanying statements of net position. 

The prescribed practices for the Perkins and NSL programs do not provide for accrual of interest on student loans 
receivable or for the provision of an allowance for doubtful loans.  Accordingly, interest on loans is recorded as 
received and loan balances are reduced subsequent to the determination of their uncollectability and have been 
accepted (assigned) by the Department of Education and the Department of Health and Human Services.
Management closely monitors outstanding balances and assigns loans to the Department of Education based 
upon such factors as student payment history, current status of applicable students, and the results of collection 
efforts.

Capital assets: 

Capital assets are controlled but not owned by the University.  The University is not able to sell or otherwise 
pledge its assets, since the assets are all owned by the Commonwealth of Massachusetts.  Capital assets, which 
include land, buildings, building improvements, equipment and other assets are reported in the statement of net 
position at cost.  Capital assets are defined by the University as assets with an initial, individual cost of more than 
$50,000 in accordance with the Commonwealth’s capitalization policy. Prior to July 1, 2001, the 
Commonwealth’s capitalization policy was for items with a unit cost of more than $15,000. Such assets are 
recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost if purchased or constructed.  Donated capital assets are 
recorded at estimated fair market value at the date of donation.  The University does not hold collections of 
historical treasures, works of art, or other items not requiring capitalization or depreciation.
  
The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend asset 
lives are not capitalized.

Capital assets, with the exception of land, are depreciated using the straight-line method over estimated useful 
lives of 40 years for buildings, 20 years for building improvements, 5 years for furniture and 3 to 10 years for 
equipment.

Library materials acquired for the most recent five year period are capitalized.  The cost of library materials 
purchased in the current year is added and the cost of purchases made in the earliest year of the five year period 
is deducted from the net position balance.  

In addition, the land on which the residence halls stand is leased by the Massachusetts State College Building 
Authority (MSCBA) from the Commonwealth of Massachusetts at a yearly cost of one dollar.  The residence 
halls have various lease terms which extend to the years 2012 and 2016.  The leases can be extended at the end 
of the terms for additional 10-year periods. 
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies - continued:

Capital assets - continued: 

The University, per a management and services agreement between the MSCBA and Commonwealth of 
Massachusetts, is charged a semi-annual revenue assessment which is based on a certified occupancy report, the 
current rent schedule, and the design capacity for each of the residence halls.  This revenue assessment is used by 
MSCBA to pay principal and interest due on its long-term debt obligations.  These obligations may include the 
costs of periodic renovations and improvements to the residence halls.  Certain obligations are guaranteed by the 
Commonwealth.  The revenue assessment amounts for the years ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 were $4,704,606 
and $4,219,772, respectively.  These amounts are included in the Residential life auxiliary enterprises in the 
accompanying statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position.  All facilities and obligations of the 
MSCBA are included in the financial statements of the MSCBA.  It is not practical to determine the specific 
asset cost or liability attributable to the University.  The leases, therefore, are accounted for under the operating 
method for financial statement purposes.

FSU Foundation’s capital assets are recorded at cost, if purchased or constructed and, if donated, at fair value at 
the date of donation.  Capital assets, with the exception of land, are depreciated using the straight-line method 
over the estimated useful lives of the assets of 40 years for buildings, 20 years for building and land 
improvements, 7 years for furniture and fixtures, 5 years for equipment and 3 years for computer software and 
equipment.  FSU Foundation generally capitalizes all additions and improvements with an individual cost or, if 
donated, fair value in excess of $5,000.

Contributions and bequests: 

FSU Foundation recognizes contributions revenue when the donor makes a promise to give, that is, in substance, 
unconditional. Unconditional promises to give are reported at net realizable value if at the time the promise is 
made collection is expected to be received in one year or less.  Unconditional promises to give that are expected 
to be collected in more than one year are reported at fair value using present value techniques and a discount rate 
determined by management of FSU Foundation.  Amortization of discounts is recorded as additional contribution 
revenue in accordance with donor-imposed restrictions, if any, on the contributions.  Conditional promises to 
give are recognized only when the conditions on which they depend are substantially met and the promises 
become unconditional.  Contributions in the form of property and equipment and other assets are recorded at the 
fair value on the date the donation is received.  All contributions are considered to be available for unrestricted 
use by FSU Foundation unless specifically restricted by the donor.  FSU Foundation provides for probable 
uncollectible amounts of unconditional promises to give through a charge to earnings and a credit to a valuation 
allowance based on its assessment of the current status of individual account balances.

Compensated absences: 

Employees earn the right to be compensated during absences for vacation leave and sick leave.  Accrued vacation 
is the amount earned by all eligible employees through June 30 each year.  Pursuant to statewide experience on 
sick pay buy-back agreements applicable to state employees, the University accrues sick leave to a level 
representing 20 percent of amounts earned by those University employees with ten or more years of State service 
at the end of the fiscal year.  Upon retirement, these employees are entitled to receive payment for this accrued 
balance. (See also Note 8).
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies - continued:

Student fees: 

Student tuition and fees are presented net of scholarships applied to students’ accounts.  Certain other scholarship 
amounts are paid directly to, or refunded to, the student and are generally reflected as expenses.

Deferred revenue: 

Deposits and advance payments received for tuition and fees related to the University's summer programs and 
tuition billed for the following fiscal year are deferred and are recorded as deferred revenues.  Funds received in 
advance from various grants and contracts are deferred and are included in deferred revenues.

Agency funds:

Agency funds consist of resources held by the University as custodian or fiscal agent of student organizations, the
State Treasurer and others.  Transactions are recorded to asset and liability accounts.  There were no material 
balances at June 30, 2011 and 2010. 

Bond related items: 

Bond issuance costs and bond premiums are being amortized on a straight-line basis over the terms of the related 
debt agreements. 

Interest expense and capitalization: 

The University follows the policy of capitalizing interest expense as a component of the cost of capital assets 
constructed for its own use.  During 2011 and 2010, total interest costs incurred were accounted for as follows:

2011 2010

Total interest costs incurred $ 600,446 $ 390,454
Less: Interest income on unused funds from tax 

exempt borrowings - -
Rebate payable increase (decrease) 28 90
Bond premium amortization ( 17,414) ( 5,683)

583,060 384,861

Less: Capitalized portion of net interest earned  and incurred - -

Interest expense $ 583,060 $ 384,861
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies - continued:

Fringe benefits: 

The University participates in the Commonwealth’s fringe benefit programs, including health insurance, 
unemployment, pension and workers’ compensation benefits. Workers’ compensation coverage is provided by 
the Commonwealth on a self-insured basis. Health insurance and pension costs are billed through a fringe 
benefit rate charged to the University.  Workers’ compensation and unemployment insurance costs are assessed 
separately based on the University’s actual experience.

Tax status: 

The University is a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts and is therefore exempt from federal and 
state income taxes.

Reclassifications: 

Certain reclassifications have been made to the 2010 financial statements to conform to the 2011 presentation.

Recent accounting pronouncements: 

Recently adopted accounting pronouncements - 

In November, 2010, the GASB issued GASB Statement No. 60, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Service 
Concession Arrangements.  GASB Statement No. 60 addresses the accounting, financial reporting and disclosure 
related to service concession arrangements.  The University has a service concession arrangement with Compass 
Group, Inc. to manage and operate the University’s food services operation.  GASB Statement No. 60 is effective 
for financial statements for periods beginning after December 15, 2011.  The University elected to early adopt 
the requirements of this Statement in fiscal 2011.  The effect of the adoption of GASB Statement No. 60 in the 
accompanying financial statements is discussed in Note 11.

In December, 2010, the GASB issued Statement No. 62, Codification of Accounting and Financial Reporting 
Guidance Contained in Pre-November 30, 1989 FASB and AICPA Pronouncements.  GASB Statement No. 62 
incorporates into the GASB’s authoritative literature certain accounting and financial reporting guidance that is 
included in the following pronouncements issued on or before November 30, 1989, which does not conflict with 
or contradict GASB pronouncements: (i) Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Statements and
Interpretations; (ii) Accounting Principles Board Opinions; and (iii) Accounting Research Bulletins of the 
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants’ (AICPA) Committee on Accounting Procedures.  GASB 
Statement No. 62 also supersedes GASB Statement No. 20, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Proprietary 
Funds and Other Governmental Entities That Use Proprietary Fund Accounting, thereby eliminating the election 
for enterprise funds and business-type activities to apply post-November 30, 1989 FASB Statements and 
Interpretations that do not conflict with or contradict GASB pronouncements.  The requirements of GASB 
Statement No. 62 are effective for financial statements for periods beginning after December 15, 2011 with 
earlier application encouraged.  The University elected to early adopt the requirements of this Statement in fiscal 
2011.  The adoption of GASB Statement No. 62 did not have a material impact on the University’s financial 
statements. 
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies - continued:

Recent accounting pronouncements - continued: 

Recently adopted accounting pronouncements - continued - 

In June, 2011, the GASB issued GASB Statement No. 63, Financial Reporting of Deferred Outflows of 
Resources, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and Net Position.  GASB Statement No. 63 provides financial 
reporting guidance for deferred outflows of resources (consumption of net assets that is applicable to a future 
reporting period) and deferred inflows of resources (acquisition of net assets that is applicable to a future 
reporting period) and distinguishes them from assets and liabilities.  GASB Statement No. 63 also renames net 
assets to net position as the residual measure of the difference between (a) assets and deferred outflows of 
resources and (b) liabilities and deferred inflows of resources within a statement of financial position.  GASB 
Statement No. 63 is effective for financial statements for periods beginning after December 15, 2011.  The 
University elected to early adopt the requirements of this Statement in fiscal 2011. As a result of the early 
adoption, the University has renamed the Statement of Net Assets to the Statement of Net Position; reported 
deferred inflows of resources in a separate section following liabilities; and presented the Statement of Net 
Position in a format that displays assets, plus deferred outflows of resources (of which there are none), less 
liabilities, less deferred inflows of resources to equal net position.  The Statement has been applied retroactively 
by reclassifying the Statement of Net Position and balance sheet information for the year ended June 30, 2010. 

Recent accounting pronouncements not yet adopted - 

In November, 2010, the GASB issued GASB Statement No. 61, The Financial Reporting Entity: Omnibus, an 
amendment of GASB Statements No. 14 and No. 34.  GASB Statement No. 61 modifies certain requirements for 
inclusion of component units in the financial reporting entity.  The Statement also amends the criteria and adds 
new criteria related to requirements for blending of component units in certain circumstances.  In addition, the 
Statement clarifies the reporting of equity interests in legally separate organizations.  GASB Statement No. 61 is 
effective for financial statements for periods beginning after June 15, 2012.  Management has not yet determined 
the impact on the University’s financial statements that will result from the adoption of this Statement in fiscal 
2013.
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2. Cash and cash equivalents, and investments:

Cash and cash equivalents - unrestricted and restricted - include the following at June 30, 2011 and 2010: 

2011

Current
Unrestricted

Current
Restricted

Noncurrent 
Restricted

Cash and money market accounts $ 1,966,465 $ 238,370 $ 41,463
Cash equivalents held by MDFA * - 195,091 414,106
Cash equivalents held by MSCBA *** - 1,271,600 13,686,794
Massachusetts Municipal Depository Trust 18,839,560 1,961,717 466,488
Massachusetts State Treasurer ** 1,674,770 200,634 727,813
Petty cash 795 - -

$ 22,481,590 $ 3,867,412 $ 15,336,664

2010

Current
Unrestricted

Current
Restricted

Noncurrent 
Restricted

Cash and money market accounts $ 1,625,295 $ 204,743 $ 26,847
Cash equivalents held by MDFA * - 184,048 414,458
Cash and cash equivalents held by MSCBA *** - - 835,566
Massachusetts Municipal Depository Trust 13,791,308 1,050,130 2,215,728
Massachusetts State Treasurer ** 1,333,350 207,907 -
Petty cash 1,010 - -

$ 16,750,963 $ 1,646,828 $ 3,492,599

* This amount consists of cash equivalents which are restricted by the Massachusetts Development Finance 
Agency (MDFA) for the funding of payments to retire the bonds (See Note 13). The University does not 
have access to these funds except by the authorization of MDFA.

** The University has recorded cash held for the benefit of the University by the State Treasurer in the 
amount of $1,674,770 and $1,333,350 at June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively, for University funds and
$200,634 and $207,907 at June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively, to pay year-end liabilities.  The latter 
balance represents amounts paid from State appropriations subsequent to the fiscal year end. At June 30, 
2011, cash held for the benefit of the University by the State Treasurer also includes other restricted 
funds in the amount of $727,813.

*** This amount consists of cash and cash equivalents which are restricted by the Massachusetts State 
College Building Authority (MSCBA) for the funding of certain construction projects at the University
and payments to retire bonds (See Note 13).  The University does not have access to these funds except 
by authorization of MSCBA.
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2. Cash and cash equivalents, and investments - continued: 

Money market funds include the JPMorgan Prime Money Market Fund in the aggregate amount of $879,048 and 
$708,969 at June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively.  The JPMorgan Prime Money Market Fund invests in U.S. 
Treasury and government agency securities, high quality corporate securities, asset-backed and commercial and 
bank paper, repurchase agreements and reverse repurchase agreements, taxable municipal obligations and 
funding agreements issued by banks and highly rated U.S. insurance companies.  The fund aims to provide the 
highest possible level of current income while still maintaining liquidity and preserving capital.  At June 30, 
2011 and 2010, the fund's investment securities had a weighted average maturity of 43 and 36 days, respectively.
The fund had an average credit quality rating of AAAm at June 30, 2011 and 2010. 

Money market funds include the State Street Institutional Liquid Reserves Fund in the aggregate amount of 
$879,225 and $708,969 at June 30, 2011 and 2010.  The State Street Institutional Liquid Reserves Fund invests 
in U.S. Treasury and government agency securities, high quality corporate securities, asset-backed and 
commercial and bank paper, variable and floating rate notes and repurchase agreements.  The fund seeks to 
maximize current income to the extent consistent with preservation of capital and liquidity and the maintenance 
of a stable $1.00 per share net asset value, by investing in U.S. dollar-denominated money market securities.  At 
June 30, 2011 and 2010, the fund's investment securities had a weighted average maturity of 33 and 29 days,
respectively.  The fund had an average credit quality rating of AAAm at June 30, 2011 and 2010. 

The Massachusetts Municipal Depository Trust (MMDT) is not subject to FDIC insurance.  According to the 
MMDT, the Massachusetts Municipal Depository Trust is an investment pool for political subdivisions in the 
Commonwealth which was designed as a legal means to safely invest temporarily available cash.  Its primary 
purpose is to provide a safe, liquid, high-yield investment vehicle offering participation in a diversified portfolio 
of high quality debt instruments.  The MMDT is not a bank, savings institution, or financial institution. The 
MMDT is an instrumentality of the State Treasurer. 

The University maintains a cash and investment pool that is available for use by all trust funds.  Each fund type's 
portion of this pool is reflected in the financial statements under the caption, cash and cash equivalents and 
investments.   The method of allocating interest earned on pooled cash and investments is to record all interest to 
the appropriate fund based on that fund's average monthly balance.  Interest earnings attributable to each trust 
fund are included under investment income.

Custodial credit risk

Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the University’s deposits may not 
be returned to it.  The University’s deposit policy provides for bank balances to be held in interest-bearing 
checking accounts and, where account activity and balances warrant it, in money market accounts. All bank 
balances are to be held at financial institutions of high credit quality.  As of June 30, 2011 and 2010, all of the 
University’s bank balances in excess of Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) limits are fully 
collateralized under an agreement with Sovereign Bank.  

Credit risk

The University is required to comply with the Commonwealth of Massachusetts’ deposit and investment policies 
which are principally defined in the Massachusetts General Laws, Chapter 29.  State Statutes permit investment 
in obligations of the U.S. Treasury, authorized bonds of all states, bankers’ acceptances, certificates of deposit,
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2. Cash and cash equivalents, and investments - continued: 

Credit risk - continued

commercial paper rated within the three highest classifications established by Standard & Poor’s Corporation and 
Moody’s Commercial Paper Record and repurchase agreements secured by any of these obligations.  The 
University has also adopted its own formal investment policy, the objectives of which are: safety of principal; 
liquidity for operating needs; return on investment; and diversification of risk.  The University’s investment 
policy generally limits the maturities of investments to not more than one year.  However, the University may 
invest in securities with maturities in excess of one year if it is determined to be in the best interest of the 
University as described in the University’s investment policy.  The University may also appoint a professional 
fund manager and invest in equity and bond funds.  Eligible investments shall be consistent with those permitted 
by State Statutes.2 

As of June 30, 2011 and 2010, the fair values of the University’s deposits held at the Massachusetts Municipal 
Depository Trust were $21,267,765 and $17,057,166, respectively. At June 30, 2011, the approximate 
percentage of the University’s deposits held at the MMDT and the respective investment maturities in days were 
as follows: 38% at 30 days or less; 27% at 31-90 days; 17% at 91-180 days; and 18% at 181 - 397 days.  At June 
30, 2011, approximately 98% of the MMDT’s cash portfolio had a credit quality rating of P1 and the remaining 
2% had a credit quality rating of P2.

The University’s funds held at MDFA are invested in the Short Term Asset Reserve (STAR) Fund and had a fair 
value of $609,197 and $598,506 at June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively. The STAR Fund invests primarily in 
U.S. Treasury bills, notes, and other obligations guaranteed by the U.S. government or its agencies or 
instrumentalities.  Additionally, the fund invests in repurchase agreements, bankers’ acceptances, certificates of 
deposit, commercial paper, notes, and both corporate floating rate and corporate fixed-rate securities.  The STAR 
Fund maintains a net asset value of $1 per share and had a fund credit quality rating of AAAm as of June 30, 
2011 and 2010, respectively.  The fund’s investment securities maintain a weighted average maturity of less than 
57 days.

At June 30, 2011, certain of the University’s funds are held at MSCBA.  Of the total, $12,975,441 is deposited in 
various cash accounts which are fully collateralized by securities in accounts in the name of MSCBA, and 
$1,982,953 is invested in various funds as listed below:

Investment Maturities (in years)

Investment Type
Fair 

Value
Less

Than 1 1-5 6-10
Greater 
Than 10

Credit
Rating

Fannie Mae Corporation
discount note $ 388,335 $ 388,335 $ - $ -

$ -
AAA

Federal Home Loan
Banks discount note

  
144,841 144,841 - - - AAA

Massachusetts ST Bonds 485,614 - - 485,614 - AAA
Massachusetts ST Bonds 964,163 - - - 964,163 AAA

Total $1,982,953 $ 533,176 $ - $ 485,614 $ 964,163
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2. Cash and cash equivalents, and investments - continued: 

Credit risk - continued

At June 30, 2010, certain of the University’s funds are held at MSCBA.  Of the total, $302,390 is deposited in 
various cash accounts which are fully collateralized by securities in accounts in the name of MSCBA, and 
$533,176 is invested in various funds as listed below:

Investment Maturities (in years)

Investment Type
Fair 

Value
Less

Than 1 1-5 6-10
Credit
Rating

Federal Home Loan 
Mortgage Corporation
discount note $ 388,335 $ 388,335 $ - $ - AAA

Federal Home Loan Banks
discount note

  
144,841 144,841 - - AAA

Total $ 533,176 $ 533,176 $ - $ -

On August 5, 2011, Standard and Poor’s (S&P) lowered its long-term Sovereign credit rating on the United 
States of America to ‘AA+’ from ‘AAA’.

The University’s investments are represented by the following at June 30, 2011 and 2010: 

2011 2010

Cost
Fair

Value Cost
Fair

Value

Noncurrent:
Commonfund (pooled investment funds):

Intermediate Term Fund $ 1,850,648 $ 1,800,504 $ 1,275,648 $ 1,206,259
Multi-Strategy Equity Fund 3,000,000 3,074,307 3,000,000 2,443,695
High Quality Bond Fund 6,646,563 6,928,538 7,200,000 7,380,779

Bank of America Corporation
common stock (3,564 shares) 7,257 39,061   7,257   51,215

$ 11,504,468 $ 11,842,410 $ 11,482,905 $ 11,081,948
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2. Cash and cash equivalents, and investments - continued: 

The University’s investments at fair value are presented in the accompanying statements of net position as 
follows:

2011 2010

Investments  $ 11,142,978  $ 10,410,255
Endowment investments 699,432 671,693

$ 11,842,410 $ 11,081,948

The Intermediate Term Fund invests in high-quality fixed income securities with maturities generally ranging 
from 1-3 years.  The fund may, however, invest in high-quality fixed income securities with maturities ranging 
from one day to 30 years.  The fund’s objective is to exceed the performance of the Merrill Lynch 1-3 Year 
Treasury Index.  At June 30, 2011 and 2010, the fund’s investment securities had a weighted average life of 2.9 
years at each date and an effective duration of 1.6 and 1.5 years, respectively.  The fund had an average credit 
quality rating of AA as of both June 30, 2011 and 2010. 

The Multi-Strategy Equity Fund invests in equity securities across strategies in proportions that are considered to 
be optimal for a fully diversified equity portfolio.  The fund’s objective is to add value over long time periods, 
above the return of the U.S. equity market as measured by the Standard & Poor’s 500 Index.

The High Quality Bond Fund invests in debt securities across strategies in proportions that are considered to be 
optimal for a fully diversified fixed income portfolio.  The fund’s assets are primarily invested in U.S. 
government agency securities, mortgages, corporate bonds and commercial mortgage backed securities.  The 
fund’s objective is to exceed the return of the broad U.S. bond market as measured by the Barclays Capital U.S. 
Aggregate Bond Index.  As of June 30, 2011 and 2010, the fund’s investment securities had a weighted average 
life of 9.5 and 8.5 years, respectively, and an effective duration of 4.3 and 4.1 years, respectively.  The fund had 
an average credit quality rating of AA as of both June 30, 2011 and 2010. 

FSU Foundation’s cash and cash equivalents consist of the following at June 30, 2011 and 2010: 

2011 2010

Cash and other demand deposits $ 1,886,488 $ 1,212,355
Money Market Funds 384,054 475,664

$ 2,270,542 $ 1,688,019

Money market funds include the SSgA US Government Money Market Fund, the Schwab Advisor Cash 
Reserves Fund, and the Dreyfus Cash Management Institutional - Shares Fund in the amounts of $154,884, 
$31,140, and $198,030, respectively, at June 30, 2011. 
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2. Cash and cash equivalents, and investments - continued: 

Money market funds include the JP Morgan Prime Money Market Fund and the State Street Institutional Liquid 
Reserve Fund in the amounts of $237,829 and $237,835, respectively, at June 30, 2010. 

The cash balances are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) up to $250,000. Included in 
cash and equivalents at June 30, 2011 are overnight repurchase agreements in the amounts of $1,624,569 and 
$124,540 each at an interest rate of .15% per annum.  Included in cash and equivalents at June 30, 2010 are 
overnight repurchase agreements in the amounts of $674,304 and $21,167 each at an interest rate of .15% per 
annum. At June 30, 2011 and 2010, overnight repurchase agreements were fully collateralized under an 
agreement between Sovereign Bank and the University.  At June 30, 2011 and 2010, FSU Foundation’s 
uninsured cash and equivalent balances, including the SSgA US Government Money Market Fund, Schwab 
Advisor Cash Reserves Fund, Dreyfus Cash Management Institutional - Shares Fund, JPMorgan Prime Money 
Market Fund, and State Street Institutional Liquid Reserves Fund, amounted to $384,054 and $578,701, 
respectively.

FSU Foundation’s investment policy consists of an asset allocation range of 50% to 60% equity securities, 30% 
to 50% fixed income securities and up to 10% in cash and cash equivalents.

During the first half of fiscal 2011, FSU Foundation liquidated all of its investments held by Commonfund, with 
the exception of Commonfund Realty Investors, LLC, and transferred the proceeds to three new professional 
investment management firms.

FSU Foundation’s investments are represented by the following at June 30, 2011: 

Cost Fair Value

Equities $ 4,503,714 $ 4,833,905
Preferred stock 201,927 203,862
Mutual funds 2,681,710 2,775,217
Corporate bonds 907,401 900,809
U.S. government securities 1,406,291 1,404,654
Commonfund Realty Investors, LLC - -

$ 9,701,043 $ 10,118,447

FSU Foundation’s investments are represented by the following at June 30, 2010: 

Cost Fair Value

Commonfund (pooled investment funds):
Intermediate Term Fund $ 41,050 $ 36,734
Multi-Strategy Equity Fund 5,128,882 5,712,167
Multi-Strategy Bond Fund 3,091,150 3,376,998
Commonfund Realty Investors, LLC - -

$ 8,261,082 $ 9,125,899
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2. Cash and cash equivalents, and investments - continued: 

FSU Foundation’s investments at fair value are presented in the accompanying statements of net position as
follows:

2011 2010

Current assets:
Investments $ 2,996,227 $ 2,129,552

Noncurrent assets:
Investments - -
Endowment investments 7,122,220 6,996,347

$ 10,118,447 $ 9,125,899

At June 30, 2011, net unrealized gains in FSU Foundation’s investment portfolio amounted to $417,404. At 
June 30, 2010, net unrealized gains in FSU Foundation’s investment portfolio amounted to $864,817.  

At June 30, 2011, equities include securities in the consumer goods sector which represent 13% of the fair value 
of FSU Foundation’s investment portfolio.

At June 30, 2011, 9% of the fair value of FSU Foundation’s investment portfolio represents foreign investments.

Investments held by FSU Foundation with an equivalent fair value of $1,287,000 collateralize certain debt 
agreements (see Notes 14 and 15). 

Commonfund Realty Investors, LLC (the Fund) is a commingled, open-end real estate investment fund 
specifically designed to meet the needs of endowments, foundations and other tax-exempt investors.  The Fund is 
composed of income oriented, value-add and development properties that are combined to create a value-added 
portfolio with a strong focus on distributable income.  The Fund’s investment objective is to earn an average 
annual net return of 11-15% over long periods of time by following a disciplined investment strategy and actively 
managing all investments.  The Fund seeks to mitigate risk through diversification by property type and 
geographic area.  The Fund expects to reinvest proceeds from the sale of investments unless such proceeds are 
needed to satisfy redemptions.  The Fund seeks to periodically make distributions of operating cash flow if funds 
are available.

FSU Foundation made a capital commitment to the Commonfund Realty Investors, LLC totaling $485,000, of 
which $246,623 was funded as of June 30, 2007.  The remaining commitment of $238,377 was funded in 
August, 2007.  Investment units in the Fund are not deemed to be readily marketable as investors may only elect, 
once each year during September, to have the Fund redeem up to 20% of the units they have owned for at least 
five years. Redemptions are processed at the Fund’s net asset value at the date the redemption is paid.  However, 
as discussed further below, the Fund may defer payment of these redemptions indefinitely, contingent on the 
results of the Fund’s operations and the outcome of negotiations for the restructuring of the Fund’s debt. No 
redemptions have been scheduled for payment by the Fund.
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2. Cash and cash equivalents, and investments - continued: 

On June 30, 2010, FSU Foundation wrote down its investment in Commonfund Realty Investors, LLC to zero 
representing its fair value based upon the latest available information (March 31, 2010) provided by its 
professional investment manager.  The gross write-down amounted to a realized loss of $485,000 in fiscal 2010, 
and a related decrease in unrealized losses in fiscal 2010 of $314,379 representing the previously recorded 
unrealized losses as of June 30, 2009. These amounts are included in investment income in FSU Foundation’s 
2010 statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position.  The decline in the fair value of this 
investment resulted from the continuing disruptions in the global capital, credit and real estate markets.  These 
disruptions, which were significant, have led to, among other things, a significant decline in the volume of 
transaction activity, in the fair value of many real estate and real estate related investments, and a significant 
contraction in short-term and long-term debt and equity funding sources.  This contraction in capital and declines 
in liquidity and prices of real estate, and real estate investments have had a significant adverse impact on this 
portfolio investment.  Although the capital markets showed some signs of stabilizing in fiscal 2010, the 
investment fund’s real estate investments continue to be adversely affected as the market value of commercial 
real estate did not recover, and liquidity and capital sources remained unavailable to the investment fund at 
sensible pricing.  The investment fund had been experiencing negative operating results, an adverse liquidity 
position, major debt defaults, and uncertainty regarding the outcome of ongoing debt restructuring negotiations 
with certain of its lenders. The investment fund has no redemptions scheduled for payment to its investors.  Due 
to these factors, in the opinion of management of FSU Foundation, the decline in fair value of this investment 
was considered to be other-than-temporary.

At June 30, 2011, the fair value of FSU’s Foundation investments in debt securities by contractual maturities is 
as follows:

Maturity
Within
1 year

1 - 5
Years

5-10
Years

More Than
10 Years Total

Corporate bonds $ 62,712 $ 536,411 $ 301,686 $ - $ 900,809
U.S. government

securities 103,652 1,120,611 180,391 - 1,404,654

$ 166,364 $ 1,657,022 $ 482,077 $ - $ 2,305,463
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2. Cash and cash equivalents, and investments - continued: 

The following table presents the gross unrealized losses and fair values of FSU Foundation’s investments with 
unrealized losses that are not deemed to be other-than-temporarily impaired, aggregated by investment category 
and length of time that the investments have been in a continuous unrealized loss position at June 30, 2011. 

Less than 12 months 12 months or greater Total

Description of Investments
Fair 

Value
Unrealized

Losses
Fair

Value
Unrealized

Losses
Fair

Value
Unrealized

Losses

Equities $ 1,011,122 $ 60,586 $ - $ - $ 1,011,122 $ 60,586
Preferred stocks 59,968 254 - - 59,968 254
Mutual funds 532,545 11,618 - - 532,545 11,618
Corporate bonds   672,487   9,625   -   -   672,487   9,625
U.S. government

securities   592,793   7,208   -   -   592,793   7,208

Total $ 2,868,915 $ 89,291 $ - $ - $ 2,868,915 $ 89,291

At June 30, 2010, the fair values and unrealized losses of FSU Foundation’s investments in an unrealized loss 
position were not material.

Equities and preferred stocks

FSU Foundation has one hundred and one investments in equities of which twenty-four were in an unrealized 
loss position at June 30, 2011. FSU Foundation also has twenty investments in preferred stocks of which six 
were in an unrealized loss position at June 30, 2011.  The fluctuation in the equity securities and preferred stocks 
reflects general economic conditions and current changes in the industries of the companies in which the 
securities are held.  FSU Foundation has evaluated the severity and duration of the impairments.  Based on that 
evaluation and FSU Foundation’s ability and intent to hold these investments for a reasonable period of time 
sufficient for a recovery of fair value, FSU Foundation does not consider these investments to be other-than-
temporarily impaired at June 30, 2011.

Mutual funds

FSU Foundation has twenty mutual fund investments of which four are in an unrealized loss position at June 30, 
2011.  The mutual funds are invested in equities and debt securities of companies in diverse industries and reflect 
current general economic conditions.  FSU Foundation has evaluated the severity and duration of the 
impairments.  Based on that evaluation and FSU Foundation’s ability and intent to hold the investments for a 
reasonable period of time sufficient for a recovery of fair value, FSU Foundation does not consider these 
investments to be other-than-temporarily impaired at June 30, 2011. 
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2. Cash and cash equivalents, and investments - continued: 

Corporate bonds

At June 30, 2011, FSU Foundation’s investments in corporate debt securities were in the form of interest bearing 
securities of top-rated corporate issuers.  FSU Foundation has forty corporate debt security investments of which
twenty-three are in an unrealized loss position at June 30, 2011.  The securities in an unrealized loss position are 
comprised of fixed-rate debt securities of varying maturities.  The value of fixed income securities is sensitive to 
interest rate fluctuations and the credit rating of the issuer.  

There have been no indications of default on interest or principal payments by the issuers.  FSU Foundation does 
not intend to sell nor does it believe it would be required to sell the corporate bonds before their anticipated 
market value recovery.  Accordingly, FSU Foundation does not consider these investments to be other-than-
temporarily impaired at June 30, 2011. 

U.S. government obligations

FSU Foundation has nineteen U.S. government investment securities at June 30, 2011, of which eleven were in 
an unrealized loss position as a result of interest rate fluctuations.  The contractual terms of the investments do 
not allow the issuer to settle the securities at a price less than the amortized cost of the investment.  FSU
Foundation does not intend to sell nor does it believe it would be required to sell these investment securities 
before their anticipated market value recovery.  Accordingly, FSU Foundation does not consider the investments 
to be other-than-temporarily impaired at June 30, 2011. 

Investment securities and real estate investments are exposed to various risks, such as interest rate, market, and 
credit risks.  Real estate investments are exposed to additional risks based on investment concentrations by 
specific property type and geographic area.  Due to the level of risk associated with certain investments, it is at 
least reasonably possible that changes in the value of these investments will occur in the near term and such 
changes could materially affect the University’s and FSU Foundation’s investment account balances.

3. Accounts and contributions receivable:

The University’s accounts receivable include the following at June 30, 2011 and 2010: 

2011 2010

Student accounts receivable $ 1,441,540 $ 1,592,074
Parking and other fines receivable 114,395 149,955
Commissions receivable 147,434 88,008
Grants receivable (see Note 26) 407,713 498,744
Compass receivable, including accrued 

interest of $58,724 (see Note 11) 1,589,146 -
Miscellaneous other receivable 6,881 12,713

3,707,109 2,341,494
Less allowance for doubtful accounts ( 252,630) ( 266,545)

$ 3,454,479 $ 2,074,949
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3. Accounts and contributions receivable - continued: 

FSU Foundation’s contributions receivable consist of the following at June 30, 2011 and 2010: 

2011 2010

Receivable in less than one year $ 1,406,930 $ 1,272,718
Receivable in one to five years 102,350 259,900
Receivable in one to five years 3,000 -

1,512,280 1,532,618
Discount on pledges ( 11,415) ( 21,765)

$ 1,500,865 $ 1,510,853

Contributions which are to be received in more than one year are reflected net of a discount determined at the 
time of contribution ranging from 2% to 4%.

Contributions receivable measured at fair value and net realizable value consist of the following at June 30:

2011 2010

Measured at fair value $ 382,835 $ 530,970
Measured at net realizable value 1,118,030 979,883

$ 1,500,865 $ 1,510,853

4. Loans receivable:

Loans receivable include the following at June 30, 2011 and 2010: 

2011 2010

Perkins loans receivable $ 1,580,099 $ 1,560,043
Nursing loans receivable 357,483 361,343
Emergency student loans receivable 5,086 4,058

1,942,668 1,925,444

Less allowance for doubtful accounts ( 897) ( 1,488)

$ 1,941,771 $ 1,923,956
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5. Capital assets:

Capital assets activity of the University for the year ended June 30, 2011 is as follows:

Capital assets:
Totals 

June 30, 2010 Additions

Reclassifications* 
and

Reductions
Totals

June 30, 2011

Non-depreciable capital assets

Land $ 4,597,544 $ 145,221 $ 388,076 $ 5,130,841
Construction in progress 3,294,351 9,430,189 ( 1,418,676) 11,305,864

Total non-depreciable assets 7,891,895 9,575,410 ( 1,030,600) 16,436,705

Depreciable capital assets

Buildings 44,491,325 - - 44,491,325
Building improvements 41,593,669 5,143,078 1,030,600 47,767,347
Equipment 14,135,610 273,797 - 14,409,407
Furniture 597,676 - - 597,676
Library materials 320,942 54,590 ( 34,138) 341,394
Total depreciable assets 101,139,222 5,471,465 996,462 107,607,149

Total capital assets 109,031,117 15,046,875 ( 34,138) 124,043,854

Less: accumulated depreciation

Buildings 34,232,098 928,672 - 35,160,770
Building improvements 8,779,013 2,185,881 - 10,964,894
Equipment 10,509,522 959,764 - 11,469,286
Furniture 124,234 132,567 - 256,801
Library materials - 34,138 ( 34,138) -

Total accumulated depreciation 53,644,867 4,241,022 ( 34,138) 57,851,751

Capital assets, net $ 55,386,250 $ 10,805,853 $ - $ 66,192,103

As of June 30, 2011, capital assets of the University with a cost of approximately $20,661,000 were fully 
depreciated and still in service.

* Construction costs incurred for various capital projects were included in construction in progress and 
subsequently transferred to capital asset additions upon completion during the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2011. 

The University has entered into various contract commitments with contractors for improvements to its facilities. 
The outstanding balances under commitment were approximately $1,250,000 at June 30, 2011. 



DR
AF
T

FITCHBURG STATE UNIVERSITY
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2011 AND 2010

33

5. Capital assets - continued: 

Capital assets activity of the University for the year ended June 30, 2010 is as follows:

Capital assets:
Totals 

June 30, 2009 Additions

Reclassifications* 
and

Reductions
Totals

June 30, 2010

Non-depreciable capital assets

Land $ 4,597,544 $ - $ - $ 4,597,544
Construction in progress 1,137,902 2,391,041 ( 234,592) 3,294,351

Total non-depreciable assets 5,735,446 2,391,041 ( 234,592) 7,891,895

Depreciable capital assets

Buildings 44,491,325 - - 44,491,325
Building improvements 39,130,645 2,315,093 147,931 41,593,669
Equipment 13,769,419 294,529 71,662 14,135,610
Furniture 82,739 499,938 14,999 597,676
Library materials 310,405 80,438 ( 69,901) 320,942
Total depreciable assets 97,784,533 3,189,998 164,691 101,139,222

Total capital assets 103,519,979 5,581,039 ( 69,901) 109,031,117

Less: accumulated depreciation

Buildings 33,303,426 928,672 - 34,232,098
Building improvements 6,793,276 1,985,737 - 8,779,013
Equipment 9,607,631 901,891 - 10,509,522
Furniture - 124,234 - 124,234
Library materials - 69,901 ( 69,901) -

Total accumulated depreciation 49,704,333 4,010,435 ( 69,901) 53,644,867

Capital assets, net $ 53,815,646 $ 1,570,604 $ - $ 55,386,250

As of June 30, 2010, capital assets of the University with a cost of approximately $12,745,000 were fully 
depreciated and still in service.

* Construction costs incurred for various capital projects were included in construction in progress and 
subsequently transferred to capital asset additions upon completion during the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2010. 

The University has considered the requirements of GASB Statement No. 49, Accounting and Financial 
Reporting for Pollution Remediation Obligations, and has noted no implications of this standard to the 
University’s financial statements for the years ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
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5. Capital assets - continued: 

Capital assets activity of FSU Foundation for the year ended June 30, 2011 is as follows: 

Capital assets:
Totals 

June 30, 2010 Additions

Reclassifications 
and

Reductions
Totals 

June 30, 2011

Real estate under lease to the University:
Land $ 402,663 $ - $ - $ 402,663
Building   1,557,724   -   -   1,557,724
Building improvements 100,452 - - 100,452

2,060,839 - - 2,060,839

Real estate used for student housing:
Land 253,555 - - 253,555
Building 434,225 - - 434,225
Building improvements 28,600 - 28,600

716,380 - 716,380

Land 1,733,311 - ( 123,270) 1,610,041
Land improvements 61,899 - - 61,899
Buildings 556,478 - - 556,478
Building improvements 39,569 - - 39,569
Equipment 403,453 35,077 - 438,530
Furniture and fixtures 22,287 - - 22,287
Library materials 6,570 - 6,570

Total capital assets 5,600,786 35,077 ( 123,270) 5,512,593

Less: accumulated depreciation

Real estate under lease to the University:
Land - - - -
Building 149,282 38,943 - 188,225
Building improvements   15,905   5,022   -   20,927

165,187 43,965 - 209,152

Real estate used for student housing:
Land - - - -
Building 33,471 10,856 - 44,327
Building improvements 1,191 1,431 - 2,622

34,662 12,287 - 46,949
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5. Capital assets - continued:  

Totals  
June 30, 2010 Additions

Reclassifications 
and

Reductions
Totals 

June 30, 2011

Land $ - $ - $ - $ -
Land improvements 35,850 3,095 - 38,945
Buildings 26,377 13,912 - 40,289
Building improvements 2,043 1,978 - 4,021
Equipment 331,923 18,526 - 350,449
Furniture and fixtures 1,882 3,183 - 5,065
Library materials 657 1,314 - 1,971

Total accumulated depreciation 598,581 98,260 - 696,841

Capital assets, net $ 5,002,205 ($ 63,183) ($ 123,270) $ 4,815,752

Non-depreciable capital assets of FSU Foundation totaled $2,266,259 at June 30, 2011 and consisted of land.

During fiscal 2010, FSU Foundation acquired two properties in Fitchburg, Massachusetts at an aggregate cost of 
$528,940.  One property, acquired at a cost of $123,270, was sold during fiscal 2011 for $120,000 less closing 
costs of $1,130 to the Commonwealth of Massachusetts acting by and through its Division of Capital Asset 
Management and Maintenance (DCAM) on behalf of Fitchburg State University.  A loss of $4,400 was recorded 
from the sale of the property. The other property is currently serving as green space.

At June 30, 2011, capital assets of FSU Foundation with a cost of approximately $331,000 were fully 
depreciated and still in service.  
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5. Capital assets - continued:

Capital assets activity of FSU Foundation for the year ended June 30, 2010 is as follows:

Capital assets:
Totals 

June 30, 2009 Additions

Reclassifications 
and

Reductions
Totals

June 30, 2010

Real estate under lease to the University:
Land $ 402,663 $ - $ - $ 402,663
Building 1,557,724 - - 1,557,724
Building improvements 100,452 - - 100,452

2,060,839 - - 2,060,839

Real estate used for student housing:
Land 253,555 - - 253,555
Building 434,225 - - 434,225
Building improvements - 28,600 - 28,600

687,780 28,600 - 716,380

Land 1,480,040 528,941 ( 275,670)   1,733,311
Land improvements 61,899 - - 61,899
Buildings 556,478 - - 556,478
Building improvements 8,966 30,603 - 39,569
Equipment 333,728 69,725 - 403,453
Furniture and fixtures - 22,287 - 22,287
Library materials - 6,570 - 6,570

Total capital assets 5,189,730 686,726 ( 275,670) 5,600,786
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5. Capital assets - continued:

Totals 
June 30, 2009 Additions

Reclassifications 
and

Reductions
Totals

June 30, 2010

Less: accumulated depreciation

Real estate under lease to the University:
Land $ - $ - $ - -
Building 110,338 38,944 - 149,282
Building improvements 10,882 5,023 - 15,905

121,220 43,967 - 165,187

Real estate used for student housing:
Land - - - -
Building 22,615 10,856 - 33,471
Building improvements - 1,191 - 1,191

22,615 12,047 - 34,662

Land - - -   - 
Land improvements 32,755 3,095 - 35,850
Buildings 12,465 13,912 - 26,377
Building improvements 529 1,514 - 2,043
Equipment 330,941 982 - 331,923
Furniture and fixtures - 1,882 - 1,882
Library materials - 657 - 657

Total accumulated depreciation 520,525 78,056 - 598,581

Capital assets, net $ 4,669,205 $ 608,670 ($ 275,670) $ 5,002,205

Non-depreciable capital assets of FSU Foundation totaled $2,389,529 at June 30, 2010 and consisted of land.

In February, 2010, FSU Foundation acquired a property in close proximity to the Fitchburg State University 
campus consistent with FSU Foundation's mission and the University's strategic plan which includes campus 
expansion and additional green space.  The property, which included land and a building, was purchased for an 
aggregate cost of $405,670.  The University subsequently razed the building and created green space.  The land is 
being held for future use and development to further enhance the resources available for the University and City 
communities.

In April, 2010, FSU Foundation obtained an appraisal of the property.  As a result of the appraisal, management 
determined, in accordance with the requirements of FASB accounting guidance, that the property was impaired 
and wrote down the asset to its fair value of $130,000.  The impairment charge (a noncash accounting charge) to 
operations in the amount of $275,670 had no impact on FSU Foundation’s fiscal 2010 cash flow or its ability to 
generate cash flow in the future.  The impairment charge is reflected in operations and maintenance of plant in 
FSU Foundation’s accompanying 2010 statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position. 
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5. Capital assets - continued:

As of June 30, 2010, capital assets of FSU Foundation with a cost of approximately $331,000 were fully 
depreciated and still in service.

6. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities include the following at June 30, 2011 and 2010: 

2011 2010

Accounts payable - trade $ 824,761 $ 1,114,261
Salaries and fringe benefits payable 1,280,844 1,179,028
Accrued interest payable 132,481 49,423
Tuition due State 250,328 153,432

$ 2,488,414 $ 2,496,144

7. Accrued workers' compensation:

Independent actuarial reviews of the outstanding loss reserve requirements for the Commonwealth of 
Massachusetts' self-insured workers' compensation program were conducted as of June 30, 2011 and 2010.
Based upon the Commonwealth's analyses, $752,198 and $661,105 of accrued workers' compensation has been 
recorded as a liability at June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

8. Accrued compensated absences:

Accrued compensated absences are comprised of the following at June 30, 2011 and 2010: 

2011 2010

Vacation time payable $ 2,101,884 $ 2,004,822

Sick time payable 2,271,916 2,010,217

Total $ 4,373,800 $ 4,015,039

Amount representing obligations due to employees
funded through sources other than State appropriations $ 253,387 $ 239,346

Amount representing obligations for employees
compensated through State appropriations 4,120,413   3,775,693

Total $ 4,373,800 $ 4,015,039
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8. Accrued compensated absences - continued: 

It is anticipated that the obligation due to employees funded through State appropriations will be discharged 
through future State appropriations and the balance is expected to be liquidated through trust funds.  Had these 
amounts not been reflected as obligations of the University, the University’s unrestricted net position balances 
would be $26,196,064 and $21,052,890 at June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively.  (See Note 1, Compensated 
absences). 

9. Faculty payroll accrual:

The contract for full-time faculty begins on September 1 and ends on May 31, of any given academic year.  The 
Commonwealth of Massachusetts and Fitchburg State University pay all faculty over the twelve month period 
from September through August.  Consequently, on June 30 of each year there is a balance due on each faculty 
contract which is to be paid from the subsequent year's State appropriation. The total amount due at June 30, 
2011 of $2,624,441 will be paid from the University’s fiscal 2012 State appropriations. The total amount due at 
June 30, 2010 of $2,488,554 was paid from the University's fiscal 2011 State appropriations.

10. Deferred revenue:

Deferred revenue includes tuition received in advance from students for summer courses commencing after June 
30 and grant funds received in advance.  

Deferred revenue includes the following at June 30, 2011 and 2010: 

2011 2010

Tuition, fees and professional development $ 1,574,582 $ 1,079,838
Grants 58,796 119,767
Other 9,300 3,405

$ 1,642,678 $ 1,203,010

11. Deferred inflows of resources: 

Deferred inflows of resources at June 30, 2011 and 2010 in the amounts of $2,621,266 and $978,577, 
respectively, consist of the unamortized balances of a service concession arrangement with Compass Group 
USA, Inc. (Compass) to manage and operate the University’s food services operation at the University’s dining 
services locations as more fully described in the arrangement.  The service concession arrangement commenced 
on July 1, 1999 for a term of ten years through June 30, 2009 and has been amended several times thereafter to 
modify its terms, provide for additional payments to the University for investment in improvements in or at the 
University as mutually agreed upon by the parties, and extend the term of the arrangement until June 30, 2024.  
The last such amendment to the service concession arrangement was effective August 1, 2010 and provides for 
the extension of the arrangement to June 30, 2024 and payments to the University totaling $2,000,000.  These
payments shall be made to the University by Compass in six installments as follows: $300,000 in fiscal 2011; 
$1,200,000 in fiscal 2012; $200,000 in fiscal 2014; $200,000 in fiscal 2016; $50,000 in fiscal 2020; and $50,000
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11. Deferred inflows of resources - continued: 

in fiscal 2022.  As of June 30, 2011, the University has received the first installment from Compass.  In addition, 
Compass has agreed to pay the University specified percentages of 4%, 4 ½% or 12% of specified sales receipts 
from the food services operation as more fully described in the arrangement.  All improvements and equipment 
purchased with the payments received from Compass shall remain the property of the University.  The 
arrangement may be terminated by either party at any time, without cause, by giving not less than sixty days prior 
written notice to the other party.  The arrangement contains provisions, whereby, in the event of termination of 
the arrangement, the University shall be required to repay a portion of any payments made to the University by 
Compass.  The portion required to be repaid shall be determined in accordance with amortization schedules 
prepared by Compass.  The amortization schedules assume that all funds will be received from Compass.  The 
University does not anticipate that the arrangement will be terminated prior to its expiration date.

In fiscal 2011, the University elected to early adopt the requirements of GASB Statement No. 60, Accounting 
and Financial Reporting for Service Concession Arrangements.  The effect of adopting GASB Statement No. 60 
on prior years was not material to the University’s financial statements. Accordingly, the prior period presented 
has not been restated.  Instead, an adjustment for the effect on prior periods has been included as a reduction of
capital grants revenue in the accompanying 2011 statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position. In 
addition, the effect of adopting GASB Statement No. 60 in the current fiscal year was not material. As a result of 
the adoption of GASB Statement No. 60, the University has recorded the service concession arrangement as a 
deferred inflow of resources at its present value using a 5% discount rate determined by management of the 
University.  The unamortized balance of the service concession arrangement at June 30, 2010 has been 
reclassified from a liability to a deferred inflow of resources in the accompanying 2010 statement of net position. 
The University has also recorded, in fiscal 2011, an accounts receivable from Compass at the present value of the 
future payments to be received from Compass, using a 5% discount rate determined by management of the 
University.  The University received $300,000 from Compass in fiscal 2011 which was applied as follows: 
interest income - $15,159; and a reduction of the accounts receivable - $284,841.  At June 30, 2011, the
accompanying statement of net position includes a remaining accounts receivable from Compass in the amount 
of $1,589,146, which includes accrued interest receivable of $58,724 (see Note 3).  The deferred inflow of 
resources is being amortized to revenue on a straight-line basis over the term of the arrangement.  Amortization 
in the amounts of $172,374 and $144,901, respectively, has been recognized in capital grants revenue in the 
accompanying statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position for the years ended June 30, 2011
and 2010.

12. Capital lease obligations:

During fiscal year 2001, the University acquired, through a capital lease arrangement, computer software and 
hardware for a student records system.  Payments under the lease agreement were due each year on March 27 and 
September 27 for a ten year period commencing on March 27, 2001.  The scheduled semi-annual payments were 
approximately $334,000. In September 2004, $255,920 remaining in the acquisition escrow upon completion of 
the project covered by this lease agreement was applied to the principal portion of the outstanding lease 
payments.  The remaining lease payments were then recomputed based on the reduced principal balance.  
Commencing on March 27, 2005, the semi-annual lease payments were approximately $308,000 for the 
remainder of the lease term.  The University utilized an interest rate of 5.85% per year which was determined to 
be applicable at the inception of the lease. The lease was satisfied in full during fiscal 2011.
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12. Capital lease obligations - continued: 

In June 2005, the University entered into a noncancellable capital lease for printing equipment.  The lease had a
term of five years and required monthly payments of $913.  The asset and capital lease obligation were recorded 
at the present value of the future minimum lease payments based upon an interest rate of 5.86% determined to be 
applicable at the inception of the lease.  The lease was satisfied in full during fiscal 2011.

During fiscal 2006, the University entered into two noncancellable capital leases for upgrades to the voice, data 
and video cable system.  The leases had terms of four years and required aggregate monthly payments of $2,819. 
The assets and capital lease obligations were recorded at the present value of the future minimum lease payments 
based upon interest rates of 4.96% and 7.93% which were determined to be applicable at the inception of the 
leases.  The leases were satisfied in full during fiscal 2010.

During fiscal 2007, the University entered into a noncancellable capital lease for an upgrade to its network 
system hardware and software.  The lease had a term of five years and required quarterly payments of $106,607 
which commenced on September 30, 2007 and were to continue through June 30, 2012.  The University prepaid 
the lease in full during fiscal 2010.  The asset and capital lease obligation were recorded at the present value of 
the future minimum lease payments based upon an interest rate of 5.13% which was determined to be applicable 
at the inception of the lease.  In connection with this capital lease, the University entered into a maintenance and 
ongoing support agreement with a term of five years which commenced on July 1, 2007.  In order to obtain 
favorable pricing terms, the University agreed to prepay the entire cost of the contract totaling $1,059,020.  The 
University paid $500,000 prior to June 30, 2007 and the balance of $559,020 in July, 2007.  Of the total 
payments made, $211,803 and $211,808 are included in other current assets at June 30, 2011 and 2010,
respectively and $211,803 is included in other noncurrent assets at June 30, 2010. 

During fiscal 2007, the University entered into a noncancellable capital lease for a telephone messaging system. 
The lease had a term of four years and required monthly payments of $1,806 which commenced in August, 2006. 
The asset and capital lease obligation were recorded at the present value of the future minimum lease payments 
based upon an interest rate of 6.29% which was determined to be applicable at the inception of the lease.  The 
lease was satisfied in full during fiscal 2011.

During fiscal 2009, the University entered into two noncancellable capital leases for various building wiring and 
cabling and equipment.  The leases have terms of three years and require aggregate quarterly payments of 
$11,350 which commenced on March 31, 2009 and shall continue through December 31, 2011.  The assets and 
capital lease obligations have been recorded at the present value of the future minimum lease payments based 
upon an interest rate of 4.25% which was determined to be applicable at the inception of the leases.    

During fiscal 2009, the University entered into two noncancellable capital leases for various building wiring and 
cabling and furniture.  The leases have terms of three years and require aggregate quarterly payments of $14,546 
which commenced on June 30, 2009 and shall continue through March 31, 2012.  The assets and capital lease 
obligations have been recorded at the present value of the future minimum lease payments based upon an interest 
rate of 3.27% which was determined to be applicable at the inception of the leases.  
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12. Capital lease obligations - continued: 

During fiscal 2010, the University entered into a noncancellable capital lease for furniture.  The lease has a term 
of five years and requires quarterly payments of $26,909 which commenced on September 30, 2009 and shall 
continue through September 30, 2014.  The assets and capital lease obligation have been recorded at the present 
value of the future minimum lease payments based upon an interest rate of 2.85% which was determined to be 
applicable at the inception of the lease.  

Capital lease assets are secured by the related assets.

The University’s assets held under capital leases at June 30, 2011 and 2010 consists of the following:

2011 2010

Printing equipment $ - $ 55,375
Voice, data and video cable system 1,182,652 1,259,114
Student records system - 5,184,072
Building wiring and cabling 130,126 130,126
Equipment 65,000 65,000
Furniture 597,675 597,675

$ 1,975,453 $ 7,291,362

The assets under capital leases are being depreciated over their useful lives and the depreciation on these assets is 
included in depreciation expense.  The accumulated depreciation on these leased assets amounted to $1,139,343
and $5,098,850 at June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively.  Depreciation expense totaled $213,427 and $745,018
for 2011 and 2010, respectively. 

During fiscal 2011, equipment and the student records system totaling $5,315,910 was no longer subject to a 
capital lease.

The following is a schedule of future minimum lease payments under capital leases:

Year ending June 30,
Total

Payments

2012 $ 173,975
2013 107,636
2014 107,636
2015 26,909

Total minimum lease payments 416,156
Less amount representing interest ( 17,903)

Present value of future minimum lease payments $ 398,253
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13. Interagency payables:

MDFA - 

On November 22, 1996, the University signed a financing agreement to receive $6,000,000 from a MDFA 
(formerly Massachusetts Health and Educational Facilities Authority (MHEFA)) bond issuance, to be used for 
the construction of the University’s athletic facility.  This obligation is being repaid solely by the University
through an increase in student fees. Construction of the athletic facility was completed in August, 2000.   MDFA
retained $502,899 of the bond proceeds for a debt service retirement fund.

In addition, the Commonwealth appropriated an additional $6,000,000 on behalf of the University for its share of 
the cost of the athletic facility.

The net proceeds of the borrowing deposited by MDFA on behalf of the University were as follows:

Debt issue $ 6,000,000

Amount held by MDFA for debt service retirement fund
  (included in restricted cash and cash equivalents -  

noncurrent) ( 502,899)

Origination fees paid to MDFA ( 98,707)

Net proceeds $ 5,398,394

The University is required to make annual funding payments of principal on this debt each July 1.  The principal 
payment due July 1, 2011 of $195,091 was made as scheduled.  These payments are made to a restricted cash
account held in escrow in the University’s name and recorded on the books of the University.  These amounts, 
along with the initial deposit of $502,899, are to be held in escrow until July 1, 2023, when the total debt is due 
and payable unless the University elects to release the funds in the debt service reserve to redeem portions of the 
debt obligation. Earnings on this balance are transferred and used by the University to offset the administrative 
costs associated with this debt. In a prior year, the University elected to release the annual funding payments 
from the reserve to redeem portions of the debt obligation.   Accordingly, each year the funding payments are 
now being released from the debt service reserve to redeem portions of the outstanding debt obligation.   
Furthermore, during fiscal 2011 and 2010, additional amounts of $9,968 and $20,584 were released from the 
debt service reserve and used to redeem portions of the outstanding debt obligation.  The outstanding principal 
balance of this Interagency payable at June 30, 2011 and 2010 was $4,037,685 and $4,231,701, respectively.

Interest on the debt is paid every thirty-five days at a floating rate of interest subject to market conditions.  The 
interest rate is determined by MDFA conducting a true auction of their debt issuance every thirty-five days, in 
which the University’s obligation is pooled with other higher education institutions within the Commonwealth 
who have debt funded through MDFA.  The most recent auctioned interest rate in effect at June 30, 2011 and 
2010 was 0.831% and 0.883%, respectively.  The University is also responsible to pay for program expenses at 
an annual rate of 0.504% (2011) and 0.825% (2010) of the outstanding principal balance, calculated and payable 
every thirty-five days when the rate is auctioned. The effective interest rate (including annual program expenses) 
for 2011 and 2010 amounted to 1.32% each year. 
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13. Interagency payables - continued: 

MDFA - continued - 

Principal funding payments and estimated interest, due to maturity, consist of the following:

For the year ending June 30, Principal
Estimated 
Interest (1) Total

2012 $ 195,091 $ 31,932 $ 227,023
2013 200,797 30,263 231,060
2014 219,204 28,442 247,646
2015 232,356 26,511 258,867
2016 246,298 24,464 270,762

2017-2021 1,471,708 87,054 1,558,762
2022-2024 1,119,534 18,515 1,138,049

3,684,988 247,181 3,932,169
Balance of restricted cash held for debt principal 352,697 - 352,697

Total $ 4,037,685 $ 247,181 $ 4,284,866

(1) The interest rate in effect at June 30, 2011 of 0.831% was used to calculate the estimated interest on the 
debt obligation of $4,037,685. The estimated interest also reflects the reduction of the outstanding debt 
obligation each year by the annual funding payments.

  
MDFA is responsible to determine, subject to certain criteria, if income earned on unexpended bond proceeds 
exceeds the interest cost to the bondholders.  Any excess income earned is held in a rebate fund by an appointed 
trustee.  Such amounts are held until every fifth year, whereby payment is to be made as indicated by the bond 
indenture agreement.

MSCBA - 

During March 2005, the University signed a financing agreement to receive $5,110,000 from a Massachusetts 
State College Building Authority (MSCBA) bond issuance.  These funds were used for renovations of the 
athletic fields and dining hall (the Projects) at the University.  This obligation will be repaid solely by the 
University through dedicated student fees.  The University also provided equity contributions totaling $5,582,838 
to fund their portion of the total renovation costs of the Projects.   Of this amount, $1,582,838 was provided by 
the University’s food service vendor for the dining facilities Project.  The University also executed a 
management agreement with MSCBA whereby MSCBA will provide management services to the University for 
the Projects.

As of June 30, 2010, unexpended net proceeds amounted to $1,007. During fiscal 2010, the unexpended 
University contribution of $246,186 was transferred and combined with the remaining funds from the Hammond 
Campus Center Project (see below).
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13. Interagency payables - continued: 

MSCBA - continued - 

As of June 30, 2011 and 2010, amounts held by MSCBA related to the debt issue and the Projects are as follows:

2011 2010

Unexpended debt proceeds $ - $ 1,007
Unexpended University contribution - -
Debt service reserve fund 388,335 388,335

$ 388,335 $ 389,342

The amounts held by MSCBA are included in the accompanying statements of net position at June 30, 2011 and 
2010 as follows:

2011 2010

Restricted cash and cash equivalents:
Current $ - $ -
Noncurrent 388,335 389,342

$ 388,335 $ 389,342

The University is required to make annual principal payments on this debt each May 1. The final principal 
payment is due on May 1, 2025.  Interest on the debt is payable May 1 and November 1 each year.  Interest 
payments are based on an amortization schedule prepared by MSCBA using an increasing coupon rate of interest 
ranging from 3.5% to 5% over the term of the debt to maturity.  Funds from the debt service reserve fund will be 
applied to reduce the semi annual interest payments on the debt pursuant to the amortization schedule prepared 
by MSCBA. Earnings on the balance in the debt service reserve fund are to be used to defray debt service costs.  
For the years ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, the effective interest rate on this debt was 4.26% and 4.23%, 
respectively.  The outstanding balance of this Interagency payable was $3,955,000 and $4,165,000 at June 30, 
2011 and 2010, respectively.
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13. Interagency payables - continued:

MSCBA - continued - 

Principal and interest payments due to maturity consist of the following:

For the year ending June 30, Principal Interest Total

2012 $ 215,000 $ 169,913 $ 384,913
2013 220,000 162,388 382,388
2014 235,000 153,588 388,588
2015 240,000 144,188 384,188
2016 255,000 134,588 389,588

2017-2021 1,420,000 511,656 1,931,656
2022-2025 1,370,000 173,100 1,543,100

Total $ 3,955,000 $ 1,449,421 $ 5,404,421

During March 2006, the University signed a financing agreement to receive $2,060,000 from a Massachusetts 
State College Building Authority (MSCBA) bond issuance.  These funds were used for renovations of the dining 
hall (the Project) at the University.  This obligation will be repaid solely by the University through dedicated 
student fees.  The University also executed a management agreement with MSCBA whereby MSCBA will 
provide management services to the University for the Project.

As of June 30, 2010, unexpended net proceeds amounted to $6,291. 

As of June 30, 2011 and 2010, amounts held by MSCBA related to the debt issue and the Project are as follows:

2011 2010

Unexpended debt proceeds $ - $ 6,291
Debt service reserve fund 144,841 144,841

$ 144,841 $ 151,132

The amounts held by MSCBA are included in the accompanying statements of net position at June 30, 2011 and 
2010 as follows:

2011 2010

Restricted cash and cash equivalents:
Current $ - $ -
Noncurrent 144,841 151,132

$ 144,841 $ 151,132
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13. Interagency payables - continued:

MSCBA - continued - 

The University is required to make annual principal payments on this debt each May 1. The final principal 
payment is due on May 1, 2026.  Interest on the debt is payable May 1 and November 1 each year.  Interest 
payments are based on an amortization schedule prepared by MSCBA using an increasing coupon rate of interest 
ranging from 3.5% to 5% over the term of the debt to maturity.  Funds from the debt service reserve fund will be 
applied to reduce the semi annual interest payments on the debt pursuant to the amortization schedule prepared 
by MSCBA. Earnings on the balance in the debt service reserve fund are to be used to defray debt service costs.  
For the years ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, the effective interest rate on this debt was 4.25% and 4.23%, 
respectively.  The outstanding balance of this Interagency payable was $1,783,353 and $1,869,036 at June 30, 
2011 and 2010, respectively, including unamortized premium.  

Principal and interest payments due to maturity consist of the following:

For the year ending June 30, Principal Interest Total

2012 $ 80,000 $ 81,813 $ 161,813
2013 85,000 77,813 162,813
2014 90,000 73,563 163,563
2015 95,000 69,963 164,963
2016 95,000 65,450 160,450

2017-2021 550,000 258,150 808,150
2022-2026 705,000 109,500 814,500

1,700,000 736,252 2,436,252
Plus: Unamortized premiums 83,353 - 83,353

Total $ 1,783,353 $ 736,252 $ 2,519,605

In December 2005, the University advanced $300,000 to MSCBA to be used for renovations to the Hammond 
Campus Center.  In 2007, the University advanced an additional $842,000 to MSCBA to be used for renovations 
to the Hammond Campus Center.  During fiscal 2009, the renovations were placed in service and are being 
depreciated.  During fiscal 2010, the remaining funds of $246,186 from the athletic fields and dining hall 
projects were transferred to and combined with the remaining funds from the Hammond Campus Center Project. 
As of June 30, 2011 and 2010, the unexpended portion of the University’s contribution held by MSCBA 
amounted to $142,159 and $295,092, respectively.  

The amounts held by MSCBA related to the Hammond Campus Center Project are included in the accompanying 
statements of net position at June 30, 2011 and 2010 as follows:

2011 2010

Restricted cash and cash equivalents:
Current $ - $ -
Noncurrent 142,159 295,092

$ 142,159 $ 295,092
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13. Interagency payables - continued: 

  MSCBA - continued - 

During December, 2010, the University signed a financing agreement to receive $15,935,656 from a 
Massachusetts State College Building Authority (MSCBA) bond issuance.  These funds, net of bond issuance 
costs and a debt service reserve fund, are being used for renovations to the Hammond Campus Center.  This 
obligation will be repaid solely by the University through dedicated student fees and operating funds.  The 
University also executed a management agreement with MSCBA whereby MSCBA will provide management 
services to the University for the renovations. 

The net proceeds of the borrowing deposited by MSCBA on behalf of the University were as follows:

2011

Debt issue $ 15,935,656
Amount held by MSCBA for debt service reserve fund

(included in restricted cash and cash equivalents - noncurrent) ( 1,449,777)

Debt issuance costs ( 178,440)

Other miscellaneous expense ( 439)

Net proceeds $ 14,307,000

As of June 30, 2011, unexpended net proceeds amounted to $12,833,282. 

As of June 30, 2011, amounts held by MSCBA related to the debt issue and the Project are as follows:

2011

Unexpended debt proceeds $ 12,833,282
Debt service reserve fund 1,449,777

$ 14,283,059

The amounts held by MSCBA are included in the accompanying statement of net position at June 30, 2011 as
follows:

2011

Restricted cash and cash equivalents:
Current $ 1,271,600
Noncurrent 13,011,459

$ 14,283,059
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13. Interagency payables - continued: 

  MSCBA - continued - 

The University is required to make annual principal payments on this debt each May 1 commencing in fiscal 
2012. The final principal payment is due on May 1, 2030.  Interest on the debt is payable May 1 and November 
1 each year.  Interest payments are based on an amortization schedule prepared by MSCBA with interest rates 
ranging from 3.0% to 6.54% over the term of the debt to maturity.  Funds from the debt service reserve fund will 
be applied to reduce the semi annual interest payments on the debt pursuant to the amortization schedule 
prepared by MSCBA. Earnings on the balance in the debt service reserve fund are to be used to defray debt 
service costs.  For the year ended June 30, 2011, the effective interest rate on this debt was 3.22%.  The 
outstanding balance of this Interagency payable was $15,923,924 at June 30, 2011, including unamortized 
premium.  

Principal and interest payments due to maturity consist of the following:

For the year ending June 30, Principal Interest Total

2012 $ 571,715 $ 533,797 $ 1,105,512
2013 589,374 516,645 1,106,019
2014 607,033 498,964 1,105,997
2015 631,315 474,683 1,105,998
2016 655,596 449,430 1,105,026

2017-2021 3,730,495 1,861,913 5,592,408
2022-2026 4,478,801 1,151,916 5,630,717
2027-2030 4,269,099 271,242 4,540,341

15,533,428 5,758,590 21,292,018
Plus: Unamortized premiums 390,496 - 390,496

Total $ 15,923,924 $ 5,758,590 $ 21,682,514

14. FSU Foundation long term debt: 

FSU Foundation’s long-term debt consists of the following at June 30, 2011 and 2010:

2011 2010

First mortgage notes payable $ 3,121,795 $ 3,224,841
Notes payable - bank 681,816 717,056

3,803,611 3,941,897
Less current portion 150,153 138,416

$ 3,653,458 $ 3,803,481
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14. FSU Foundation long term debt - continued: 

In April, 2008, the Foundation acquired land and buildings at a total cost of $561,664, including related 
acquisition costs.  The properties are located on the Fitchburg State University campus and were previously 
owned by an unrelated third party.  The acquisitions were funded with the proceeds of a mortgage note payable 
in the amount of $550,000, dated April 16, 2008, with Fidelity Co-operative Bank.  The note is secured by a first 
mortgage interest in the real estate and related personal property located thereon, and an assignment of leases and 
rents.  Furthermore, any and all deposits held by the lender serve as additional collateral for the loan.

The loan agreement has a term of twenty years and provides for a fixed rate of interest of 5.75% per annum for 
the first ten years of the loan term.  Thereafter, the interest rate will be fixed at the Federal Home Loan Bank Ten 
Year Cost of Funds Rate in effect as of the first day of the final ten years of the term of the loan plus 118 basis 
points.  The loan requires monthly installments of principal and interest of $3,862.  The monthly installments of 
principal and interest during the final ten years of the loan term shall be determined based on the interest rate 
then in effect to provide for the amortization of the then outstanding loan principal over the remaining term of the 
loan.  The note matures on April 16, 2028.  The note may be prepaid at any time, in whole or in part, without 
premium or penalty.

At June 30, 2011 and 2010, the outstanding principal balance of this mortgage note payable amounted to 
$500,402 and $517,127, respectively.

In August, 2006, the Foundation Supporting Organization acquired land and a building consisting of 4,179 
square feet of office space and 53,429 square feet of warehouse space located in Fitchburg, Massachusetts near 
the University campus.  The entire property has been leased to DCAM on behalf of the University (see Note 23). 
The University is currently using the property for its print services, maintenance, and shipping and receiving and 
financial services.

The acquisition and related costs were funded with the proceeds of an offering of tax-exempt revenue bonds, 
Massachusetts Development Finance Agency Revenue Bonds, FSC Foundation Supporting Organization Issue, 
Series 2006 (the bonds), dated August 1, 2006, in the amount of $1,900,000, issued by the Massachusetts 
Development Finance Agency (MDFA), pursuant to a Loan and Trust Agreement.  People’s United Bank, as 
succession in interest to Chittenden Trust Company, is the bond Trustee.  MDFA assigned all of its rights, title, 
and interest in and to the loan and related loan documents to the bond Trustee as security for repayment of the
bonds.  The loan is secured by a first mortgage interest in the real estate and related personal property located 
thereon, and an assignment of leases and rents.  Payment and performance of the Foundation Supporting 
Organization’s obligations under the loan agreement have been guaranteed by the Foundation.

The loan agreement has a term of twenty years and provides for a fixed rate of interest of 5.5% per annum for the 
first five years of the loan term.  Thereafter, the interest rate will be adjusted at five-year intervals (August 16, 
2011, 2016 and 2021) to a fixed rate of interest equal to 80% of the bank’s prime rate, but no greater than 1% or 
less than 1% of the interest rate in effect for the immediately preceding five-year adjustment interval. The interest 
rate was adjusted to 4.5% per annum on August 16, 2011 pursuant to the provisions of the loan agreement.  The 
loan required monthly installments of principal and interest of $13,154 through August 16, 2011.  Commencing 
thereafter, the monthly installments of principal and interest are $12,306 until the next five-year interval 
adjustment date of August 16, 2016.  The loan matures on August 16, 2026.  The loan agreement requires the 
Supporting Organization to maintain a Debt Service Coverage Ratio, as defined, of not less than 1.10 to 1 to be 
measured annually at the end of its fiscal year.
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14. FSU Foundation long term debt - continued: 

The mortgage note was issued pursuant to the Loan and Trust Agreement and related loan documents and is 
subject to and governed by the terms and conditions of those agreements.  The loan may be prepaid in 
accordance with the terms of the Loan and Trust Agreement for prepayment of the bonds as more fully described 
in the Loan and Trust Agreement.

The loan documents contain cross default provisions with the DCAM lease.

At June 30, 2011 and 2010, the outstanding principal balance of this first mortgage note payable amounted to 
$1,612,542 and $1,678,437, respectively.

Workers’ Credit Union (WCU) provided financing to the Foundation Supporting Organization in the form of a 
note, dated February 27, 2009, in the amount of $750,000.  The proceeds of the loan were used primarily to 
repay advances made to the Foundation Supporting Organization by the Foundation for the acquisition of four 
real estate properties.  The note is secured by a first mortgage interest in certain real estate owned by the 
Foundation Supporting Organization and an assignment of certain leases and rents.  The note is also 
collateralized by all funds held by the lender.  At June 30, 2011 and 2010, the Foundation Supporting 
Organization has total cash balances of $81,194 and $82,428, respectively, held at WCU which serve as 
additional collateral for both WCU loans to the Foundation Supporting Organization (see below). 

The mortgage note has a term of ten years, expiring on February 27, 2019, and provides for a fixed rate of 
interest of 5.74% per annum.  The note requires monthly installments of principal and interest of $4,714 based on 
a twenty-five year principal amortization.  The note may be prepaid at any time, in whole or in part, without 
premium or penalty.

As of June 30, 2011 and 2010, the outstanding principal balance of this first mortgage loan amounted to 
$716,105 and $731,099, respectively.

During fiscal 2010, Workers’ Credit Union provided financing to the Foundation Supporting Organization in the 
form of a note, dated February 19, 2010, in the amount of $300,000.  The proceeds of the loan were used to 
finance the acquisition of a real estate property.  The note is secured by a first mortgage interest in the property 
and an assignment of leases and rents on this property.  The note is also collateralized by all funds held by the 
lender.  At June 30, 2011 and 2010, the Foundation Supporting Organization has total cash balances of $81,194 
and $82,428, respectively, held at WCU which serve as additional collateral for both WCU loans to the 
Foundation Supporting Organization.  

In June, 2010, the Foundation Supporting Organization determined that the value of the property securing this 
first mortgage note payable to WCU was less than its carrying value.  Accordingly, the Foundation Supporting 
Organization recorded an impairment loss.  As a result, WCU required additional collateral to further secure this 
loan.  On October 25, 2010, the Foundation Supporting Organization provided WCU with a second mortgage 
interest in the real estate and related personal property located at 167 Klondike Avenue in Fitchburg, 
Massachusetts.  The first mortgage on that property secures the Foundation Supporting Organization’s 
obligations under the MDFA Revenue Bonds Issue.  The Foundation Supporting Organization also provided 
WCU with a second assignment of leases and rents related to that property.
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14. FSU Foundation long term debt - continued: 

The mortgage note has a term of ten years, expiring on February 19, 2020, and provides for a fixed rate of 
interest of 6.03% per annum.  The note requires monthly installments of principal and interest of $1,939 based 
on a twenty-five year principal amortization.  Monthly principal and interest payments commenced on March 19, 
2010.  The note may be prepaid at any time, in whole or in part, without premium or penalty. The loan 
documents contain cross default - cross collateralization provisions with all other obligations of the Foundation 
Supporting Organization to WCU.

As of June 30, 2011 and 2010, the outstanding principal balance of the mortgage loan amounted to $292,746 and 
$298,178, respectively. 

In connection with the fiscal 2010 loan, the Foundation Supporting Organization was required to establish an
escrow account held at WCU in the amount of $75,000 until the Foundation Supporting Organization resolved 
certain environmental matters related to the property.  The environmental matters have since been resolved and 
WCU released the escrow in fiscal 2011.

During fiscal 2010, Rollstone Bank & Trust provided financing to the Foundation in the form of a note dated 
January 5, 2010, in the amount of $77,952.  The proceeds of the loan were used to finance the purchase of 
computer software to be used in the Foundation's operations.  The note is unsecured.

The note has a term of three years, expiring on January 5, 2013, and provides for a fixed rate of interest of 5% 
per annum.  The note requires monthly installments of principal and interest of $2,339 based on a three year 
principal amortization.  Monthly principal and interest payments commenced on February 5, 2010. 

At June 30, 2011 and 2010, the outstanding principal balance of this note payable amounted to $42,590 and 
$67,820, respectively. 

In May, 2007, the Foundation Supporting Organization acquired land and a building consisting of six apartment 
units at a total cost of $504,479, including related acquisition costs.  The Foundation Supporting Organization 
also acquired an adjacent parcel of land at a cost of $183,301.  The properties are located in the area surrounding 
the Fitchburg State University campus. The apartments are being used by the University as additional student 
housing for which the Foundation Supporting Organization receives residence hall fees.

The acquisitions were funded with the proceeds of a note payable in the amount of $680,000, dated April 26, 
2007, with Enterprise Bank and Trust Company.  The note is secured by investments with an equivalent fair 
value of $972,000. In addition, payment and performance of the Foundation Supporting Organization’s 
obligations under the loan agreement have been guaranteed by the Foundation.

The promissory note has a term of thirty years, expiring on May 5, 2037, and provides for a fixed rate of interest 
of 6% per annum for the first five years of the loan term.  Thereafter, the interest rate will be adjusted at five-year 
intervals to the Federal Home Loan Bank Boston Classic Advance Five Year Rate plus 1.15% per annum. The 
loan requires monthly installments of principal and interest of $4,122 based on a thirty year principal 
amortization. The note may be prepaid at any time, in whole or in part, without premium or penalty.
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14. FSU Foundation long term debt - continued: 

At June 30, 2011 and 2010, the outstanding principal balance of this note payable amounted to $639,226 and 
$649,236, respectively.

Principal funding payments and estimated interest, due to maturity, consist of the following:

  
For the year ending June 30, Principal

Estimated 
Interest (1) Total

2012 $ 150,153 $ 202,256 $ 352,409
2013 148,358 191,300 339,658
2014 139,180 184,128 323,308
2015 146,444 176,866 323,310
2016 152,729 169,580 322,309

2017-2021 1,115,996 698,892 1,814,888
2022-2026 1,102,831 397,389 1,500,220
2027-2031 481,094 172,116 653,210
2032-2036 346,237 51,043 397,280

2037 20,589 310 20,899

Total $ 3,803,611 $ 2,243,880 $ 6,047,491

(1) The interest rates in effect at June 30, 2011 of 5.75%, 5.5% (adjusted to 4.5% on August 16, 2011), 5.74%,
and 6.03% on the first mortgage notes payable and 5% and 6% on the notes payable - bank were used to 
calculate the estimated interest on these debt obligations.

15. FSU Foundation line of credit:

In March, 2011, the Foundation renewed, under substantially the same terms, its existing revolving working 
capital line of credit agreement with Workers’ Credit Union which permits the Foundation to borrow up to 
$250,000. At June 30, 2011, there were no borrowings outstanding under the line of credit.  At June 30, 2010,
the Foundation had an outstanding balance of $125,000 under the line of credit.  The line of credit provides for 
interest at the Wall Street Journal Prime Rate, but in no event less than 6% per annum.  At both June 30, 2011
and 2010, the effective interest rates were 6% per annum.  Borrowings are secured by investments with an
equivalent fair value of $315,000. The line of credit agreement expires on March 17, 2013. The Foundation 
may prepay outstanding revolving loans under the agreement in whole or in part at any time without premium or 
penalty.
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16. Long term liabilities:

Long-term liability activity of the University for the year ended June 30, 2011 included the following:

Totals June 30, 2011      
Totals

June 30, 2010 Additions Reductions
Ending
Balance

Current
Portion

Interagency payables    
and capital leases:

Interagency payables $ 10,265,737 $ 15,935,656 $ 501,431 $ 25,699,962 $ 1,146,738
Capital leases 895,689 - 497,436 398,253 166,275

Total 11,161,426 15,935,656 998,867 26,098,215 1,313,013

Other liabilities:
Workers’ compensation 661,105 221,331 130,238 752,198 148,183
Compensated absences 4,015,039 2,700,657 2,341,896 4,373,800 2,664,148
Rebate payable 17,965 28 - 17,993 -
Loan payable - federal 

financial assistance 1,851,713 63,680 33,306 1,882,087 -
Total other liabilities 6,545,822 2,985,696 2,505,440 7,026,078 2,812,331

Long term obligations $ 17,707,248 $ 18,921,352 $ 3,504,307 $ 33,124,293 $ 4,125,344

Long-term liability activity of the University for the year ended June 30, 2010 included the following:

Totals June 30, 2010     
Totals

June 30, 2009 Additions Reductions
Ending
Balance

Current
Portion

Interagency payables    
and capital leases:

Interagency payables $ 10,745,634 $ - $ 479,897 $ 10,265,737 $ 479,731
Capital leases 2,369,565 499,938 1,973,814 895,689 497,437

Total 13,115,199 499,938 2,453,711 11,161,426 977,168

Other liabilities:
Workers’ compensation 503,768 256,579 99,242 661,105 130,238
Compensated absences 3,953,850 2,383,433 2,322,244 4,015,039 2,341,896
Rebate payable 17,875 90 - 17,965 -
Loan payable - federal 

financial assistance 1,833,747 53,453 35,487 1,851,713 -
Total other liabilities 6,309,240 2,693,555 2,456,973 6,545,822 2,472,134

Long term obligations $ 19,424,439 $ 3,193,493 $ 4,910,684 $ 17,707,248 $ 3,449,302
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16. Long term liabilities - continued: 

Long-term liability activity of FSU Foundation for the year ended June 30, 2011 included the following:

Totals June 30, 2011
Totals

June 30, 2010 Additions Reductions
Ending
Balance

Current
Portion

First mortgage notes
payable $ 3,224,841 $ - $ 103,046 $ 3,121,795 $ 112,846

Notes payable - bank 717,056 - 35,240 681,816 37,307

Long-term obligations $ 3,941,897 $ - $ 138,286 $ 3,803,611 $ 150,153

Long-term liability activity of FSU Foundation for the year ended June 30, 2010 included the following:

Totals June 30, 2010
Totals

June 30, 2009 Additions Reductions
Ending
Balance

Current
Portion

First mortgage notes
Payable $ 3,018,845 $ 300,000 $ 94,004 $ 3,224,841 $ 102,952

Note payable - bank 658,859 77,952 19,755 717,056 35,464

Long-term obligations $ 3,677,704 $ 377,952 $ 113,759 $ 3,941,897 $ 138,416

17. Unrestricted net position: 

Unrestricted net position is comprised of net assets that are not subject to externally imposed stipulations; 
however, they may be subject to internal restrictions.  For example, unrestricted net assets may be designated for 
specific purposes by action of management or the Board of Trustees or may otherwise be limited by contractual 
agreements with outside parties. Certain unrestricted net assets are internally designated for academic and 
research programs and initiatives, and graduate and continuing education programs.  Designated unrestricted net 
assets were $8,488,308 and $8,134,673 at June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively.  Undesignated unrestricted net 
assets were $13,587,343 and $9,142,524 at June 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively. 

The unrestricted net position amount of $22,075,651 includes the effect of deferring the recognition of revenue 
from the installment payments associated with the dining facilities service concession arrangement.  The 
$2,621,266 balance of the deferred inflow of resources at June 30, 2011 will be recognized as revenue and 
increase unrestricted net position over the remaining thirteen years of the arrangement.  
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18. Net position restricted by enabling legislation:

Fitchburg State University Foundation, Inc.’s consolidated statements of net position as of June 30, 2011 and 
2010 reflect a restricted net position of $11,365,274 and $10,251,327, respectively.  Of these amounts, 
$2,357,931 for each year, are restricted by enabling legislation for the State Matching Funds Program.

19. Operating expenses:

The University’s operating expenses for the years ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, on a natural classification 
basis, are comprised of the following:

2011 2010
Salaries:

Faculty 17,381,110 $ 16,568,424
Exempt wages 2,794,427 3,734,036
Non-exempt wages 14,868,032 13,750,367
Benefits 9,983,512 8,250,267

Scholarships (endowed) 1,653,433 1,640,584
Utilities 3,996,055 3,698,307
Supplies and other services 17,141,119 16,189,508
Depreciation 4,241,022 4,010,435

Total operating expenses $ 72,058,710 $ 67,841,928

20. State controlled accounts:

Certain significant costs and benefits associated with the operations of the University are appropriated, expended, 
controlled, and reported by the Commonwealth through non-University line items in the Commonwealth’s 
budget. Under generally accepted accounting principles, such transactions must be recorded in the financial 
statements of the University.  These transactions include payments by the Commonwealth for the employer’s 
share of funding the Massachusetts State Employees’ Retirement System and for the employer’s share of health 
care premiums.  

The estimated amounts of funding attributable for the Commonwealth’s retirement system contribution and the 
employer’s share of health care premiums for the years ended June 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009 were as follows
(See State appropriations under Note 25):

2011 2010 2009

Commonwealth’s retirement system Contributions $ 1,519,792 $ 1,489,214 $ 1,962,325

Employers share of health care premium $ 5,966,244 $ 4,091,641 $ 4,371,925
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21. Retirement plan:
  

Substantially all of the University's full-time employees are covered by the Massachusetts State Employees' 
Retirement System (SERS).  SERS, a single employer defined benefit public employee retirement system, is 
administered by the Massachusetts State Retirement Board and covers substantially all non-student employees.  
SERS provides retirement and disability benefits, annual cost-of-living adjustments, and death benefits to plan 
members and beneficiaries.  Chapter 32A of the General Laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts assigns 
the authority to establish and amend benefit provisions to the Massachusetts Legislature.  The University is not
required  to contribute from  its  appropriation  allocation  or other University  funds to SERS for employees
compensated from State appropriations.  For University employees covered by SERS but compensated from a 
trust fund or other source, the University is required to contribute an amount determined as a percentage of 
compensation in accordance with a fringe benefit rate established by the State. The total amount of current 
funding by the State related to the University’s employees was $1,519,792, $1,489,214 and $1,962,325 during 
2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.  Annual covered payroll was approximately 67%, 62% and 76% of total 
payroll for the University for the years ended June 30, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

The Commonwealth does not issue separately audited financial statements for the plan.  The financial position 
and results of operations of the plan are incorporated into the Commonwealth’s financial statements, a copy of 
which may be obtained from the Office of the State Comptroller, Commonwealth of Massachusetts, One 
Ashburton Place, Room 901, Boston, MA 02108.

Substantially all full-time staff are covered by and must participate in SERS.  Benefits fully vest after 10 years of 
full-time employment.  An employee may receive retirement benefits after 20 years of service, or after 10 years of
service and having attained the age of 55.

Based on State statute, covered employees of the University contribute an amount ranging from 5% to 9% 
(depending on date of employment) of their eligible compensation to SERS.  Employees hired after January 1, 
1979, are required to contribute an additional 2% for the eligible compensation over $30,000 per year.  The State 
is required to make actuarially determined contributions that maintain the financial integrity of the retirement 
system.

22. Fringe benefits for current employees and post employment obligations - pension and non-pension: 

The University participates in the Commonwealth’s Fringe Benefit programs, including active employee and post 
- employment health insurance, unemployment, pension, and workers’ compensation benefits.  Health insurance 
and pension costs for active employees and retirees are paid through a fringe benefit rate charged to the 
University by the Commonwealth and currently the liability is borne by the Commonwealth.

On-behalf payments of fringe benefits for benefited employees on the Commonwealth’s payroll are recognized as 
revenues and expenses in the University’s financial statements in each of the fiscal years presented.

Post Employment Other than Pensions

In addition to providing pension benefits, under Chapter 32A of the Massachusetts General Laws, the 
Commonwealth is required to provide certain health care and life insurance benefits for retired employees of the 
Commonwealth, housing authorities, redevelopment authorities, and certain other governmental agencies. 
Substantially all of the Commonwealth’s employees may become eligible for these benefits if they reach
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22. Fringe benefits for current employees and post employment obligations - pension and non-pension -   
  continued:

Post Employment Other than Pensions - continued

retirement age while working for the Commonwealth. Eligible retirees are required to contribute a specified 
percentage of the health care benefit costs which is comparable to contributions required from employees. The 
Commonwealth is reimbursed for the cost of benefits to retirees of the eligible authorities and non-state agencies. 

The Commonwealth’s Group Insurance Commission (GIC) was established by the Legislature in 1955 to provide 
and administer health insurance and other benefits to the Commonwealth's employees and retirees, and their 
dependents and survivors. The GIC also covers housing and redevelopment authorities' personnel, certain 
authorities and other offline agencies, retired municipal teachers from certain cities and towns and a small
amount of municipalities as an agent multiple employer program, accounted for as an agency fund activity of the 
Commonwealth, not the University.

The GIC administers a plan included within the State Retire Benefits Trust Fund, an irrevocable trust.  Any 
assets accumulated in excess of liabilities to pay premiums or benefits or administrative expenses are retained in 
that fund. The GIC’s administrative costs are financed through Commonwealth appropriations and employee 
investment returns. The Legislature determines employees’ and retirees’ contribution ratios. 

The GIC does not issue separately audited financial statements.  The financial position and results of operations 
of the plan are incorporated in the Commonwealth’s financial statements, a copy of which may be obtained from 
the Office of the State Comptroller, Commonwealth of Massachusetts, One Ashburton Place, Room 901, Boston, 
MA 02108.

The GIC is a quasi-independent state agency governed by an eleven-member body (the Commission) appointed 
by the Governor. The GIC is located administratively within the Executive Office of Administration and Finance, 
and is responsible for providing health insurance and other benefits to the Commonwealth’s employees and 
retirees and their survivors and dependents. During the fiscal years ended on June 30, 2011 and 2010, the GIC 
provided health insurance for its members through indemnity, PPO, and HMO plans. The GIC also administered 
carve-outs for the pharmacy benefit and mental health and substance abuse benefits for certain of its health plans. 
In addition to health insurance, the GIC sponsors life insurance, long-term disability insurance (for active 
employees only), dental and vision coverage for employees not covered by collective bargaining, a retiree 
discount vision plan and retiree dental plan, and finally, a pre-tax health care spending account and dependent 
care assistance program (for active employees only).

The amount of funding by the University related to benefits other than pensions for the years ended June 30, 
2011, 2010 and 2009 were $9,983,512, $8,250,267 and $7,620,674, respectively, which equaled the required 
contributions each year charged to it through the Commonwealth’s fringe benefit recovery program.

23. Lease and license agreements:

As disclosed in Note 14, the Foundation Supporting Organization entered into a long-term operating lease 
agreement with DCAM on behalf of the University.  The lease commenced on August 16, 2006.  The lease is for 
a term of ten years and provides for base rent of $165,000 per year, payable in monthly installments of $13,750, 
for the entire lease term. The University is also responsible for the payment of normal operating, maintenance
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23. Lease and license agreements - continued:

and repair costs associated with its use of the property.  At the expiration of the lease term, the Foundation 
Supporting Organization expects the lease will be renewed with DCAM on behalf of the University.  For the 
years ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, rental income for the Foundation Supporting Organization amounted to 
$165,000 in each year.  The rental income is reflected in revenue from sales and services of educational 
departments in the accompanying statements of net position.  The corresponding rent expense of the University is 
reflected in operations and maintenance of plant.  

The following is a schedule of future minimum rent on this lease:

Year ending
June 30, Amount

2012 $ 165,000
2013 165,000
2014 165,000
2015 165,000
2016 165,000
2017 20,625

$ 845,625

On August 6, 2008, the Foundation Supporting Organization entered into a ten year operating lease agreement 
with an unrelated third party for 2,350 square feet of office space located in Fitchburg, Massachusetts.  The lease 
commenced on November 1, 2008 and shall expire on October 31, 2018.  The space is being used by Fitchburg 
State University as office and classroom space for its Center for Professional Studies.  The lease provides for a 
base annual rent of $17,625 for each of the first three years of the lease term, payable in monthly installments of 
$1,469.  Beginning with the fourth year of the lease there will be a 7.5% increase at the commencement of each 
three year period of the lease term, including the continuous period of any extensions thereof.  The Foundation 
Supporting Organization may extend the initial term of the lease, under the same terms and conditions, for 
successive periods of one year provided it is not then in default of the lease terms and it gives proper notice.  The 
Foundation Supporting Organization may cancel the lease at any time after November 1, 2009 with the payment 
of two months’ base rent as a termination charge.  The Foundation Supporting Organization is also responsible 
for the payment of normal operating, maintenance and repair costs associated with the use of the property.  For 
the years ended June 30, 2011 and 2010, rent expense amounted to $17,625 each year.

The following is a schedule of future minimum rental payments under this operating lease agreement:

Year ending June 30, Amount

2012 $ 18,506
2013 18,947
2014 18,947
2015 19,895
2016 20,368

2017 - 2019 49,053

$ 145,716
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23. Lease and license agreements - continued:

The Foundation Supporting Organization and the University entered into a License Agreement whereby the 
Foundation Supporting Organization granted the University an irrevocable and exclusive license to occupy, 
manage, maintain and operate certain property owned by the Foundation Supporting Organization. The License
Agreement, which commenced on September 3, 2008, had an initial term of one year.  Upon expiration of the 
initial term, the License Agreement provides for automatic annual renewals thereafter. The License Agreement 
provided for an annual license fee of $108,875 payable, in arrears, in twelve equal monthly installments.  The 
annual license fee was increased to $177,455 commencing July 1, 2010 by agreement between the parties.  All 
costs to operate and maintain the property, including any capital improvements made thereto, shall be borne by 
the University. The License Agreement may be terminated by either party upon the expiration of the initial term 
of the agreement and any subsequent renewal term with the giving of proper notice. In addition, the University
may terminate the agreement at any time with the giving of proper notice.  For the years ended June 30, 2011 and 
2010, license fee income for the Foundation Supporting Organization amounted to $177,455 and $108,875,
respectively. The license fee income is reflected in revenue from sales and services of educational departments 
in the accompanying statements of net position.  The corresponding license fee expense of the University is 
reflected in operations and maintenance of plant.

24. Donated equipment, materials and services:

The value of donated equipment, materials and services received by the Foundation included in gifts and 
contributions for the year ended June 30, 2011 totaled $2,862,391.  Of this amount, $20,738 represents 
equipment that has been included in capital assets and the remainder of $2,841,653 has been reflected in 
educational and general expenses as follows:

Functional Expense
Category Nature of expense Amount

Speakers and cultural programs Advertising $ 17,500

Equipment and maintenance

Computer software 
license and miscellaneous 
equipment 2,824,153

$ 2,841,653

The computer software license has been renewed for another term of one year expiring on June 30, 2012 and it is 
currently expected to be renewed annually thereafter.  The Foundation shall record donation revenue each year in 
an amount equal to the then commercial value of the license to use the software.

25. Management Accounting and Reporting System:

Section 15C of Chapter 15A of the Massachusetts General Laws requires Commonwealth Colleges and 
Universities to report activity of campus based funds to the Comptroller of the Commonwealth on the 
Commonwealth's Statewide Accounting System, Massachusetts Management Accounting and Reporting System 
(MMARS) on the statutory basis of accounting.  The statutory basis of accounting is a modified accrual basis of 
accounting and differs from the information included in these financial statements.  The amounts reported on 
MMARS meet the guidelines of the Comptroller's Guide for Higher Education Audited Financial Statements. 
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25. Management Accounting and Reporting System - continued: 

State appropriations: 

The University’s State appropriations are comprised of the following for the years ended June 30, 2011 and 
2010: 

2011 2010

Gross State appropriations $ 24,454,735 $ 21,429,373

Add: Fringe benefits for benefited employees on the 
Commonwealth payroll 7,486,036 5,580,855

Less: Day school tuition remitted to the Commonwealth 
and included in tuition and fee revenue ( 2,467,840) ( 2,387,879)

Net State appropriations $ 29,472,931 $ 24,622,349

$29,332,885 and $24,622,349 represent appropriations for maintenance and payroll during 2011 and 2010,
respectively, and $140,046 represents appropriations for capital improvements for 2011.  These amounts are 
presented separately in the accompanying statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position. 

Day school tuition receipts and transfers have been recorded in an agency fund during the year and had no 
material balance outstanding at June 30, 2011 and 2010. 

26. Stimulus grants:

In fiscal years 2011 and 2010, Fitchburg State University, through the Department of Higher Education, was the 
subrecipient of $3,098,023 and $6,666,991, respectively, in stimulus grants as part of the American Recovery 
and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (ARRA).  As of June 30, 2011 and 2010, $327,274 and $376,405, respectively, 
of the total awarded for fiscal 2011 and 2010 is included in accounts receivable in the accompanying 2011 and 
2010 statements of net position.  The funds awarded have been expended as follows:

2011 2010

Regular employee compensation $ 2,311,522 $ 2,335,343
Pension and insurance 779,676 649,226
Capital lease payments - 1,121,070
Scholarship allowances 6,825 2,561,352

$ 3,098,023 $ 6,666,991
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27. Risk management: 

The University is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets; 
errors and omissions; and natural disasters for which the Commonwealth is self-insured.  In addition, the 
University maintains commercial insurance coverage for certain of those risks.  Management believes such 
coverage is sufficient to preclude any significant uninsured losses for the covered risks.  The separate insurance 
policies maintained by the University consist of Educator’s Legal Liability, commercial crime, general liability, 
automobile liability, excess liability, and a foreign package policy.  There were no significant reductions in 
insurance coverage from coverage in the prior year.  The costs of settled claims have not exceeded policy 
coverages in any of the past three years.

The University also participates in the Commonwealth’s self-insured programs for employees workers’ 
compensation, health care and other insurance.  The Commonwealth assesses the costs of workers’ compensation 
and unemployment insurance to the University based on the University’s actual experience (see Note 7).  The 
Commonwealth manages workers’ compensation as part of its general operations.  No separate fund for workers’ 
compensation is provided for in Massachusetts General Laws.  The Commonwealth assesses the costs of health 
care insurance to the University through a fringe benefit rate and the liability for such coverage is borne by the 
Commonwealth.  The Commonwealth’s Group Insurance Commission manages health insurance and other 
benefits for the Commonwealth’s active and retired employees (see Note 22). 

Massachusetts General Laws limit the risk assumed by the Commonwealth for claims of personal injury or 
property damages to $100,000 per occurrence, in most circumstances.

28. Commitments and contingencies:

Pending or threatened lawsuits against governmental agencies arise in the ordinary course of operations.  In the 
opinion of the University’s administration, the ultimate resolution of any legal actions at this date will not result 
in a material loss to the University since most of any obligation is expected to be paid from state appropriated 
funds.

The University receives significant financial assistance from federal and state agencies in the form of grants.  
Expenditure of funds under these programs require compliance with the grant agreements and are subject to audit 
by representatives of these federal and state agencies.  Any disallowed expenditures resulting from such audits 
become a liability of the University.  In the opinion of management, such liabilities, if any, are not expected to 
materially affect the financial condition of the University. 

The University participates in the Massachusetts College Savings Prepaid Tuition Program.  This program allows 
participants to pay in advance (against a bond) for future tuition at the cost of tuition at the time of the bond 
purchase, increased by changes in the Consumer Price Index plus 2%. The University is obligated to accept as 
payment of tuition the amount determined by this program without regard to the standard tuition rate in effect at 
the time of the individual’s enrollment at the University. The effect of this program cannot be determined as it is 
contingent on future tuition increases and the bond purchasers who attend the University. 

The University can perform capital projects that are funded and controlled by another State agency.  These 
projects would be paid from funds appropriated and under the control of the Department of Capital Asset 
Management (DCAM). The projects generally consist of renovations and improvements and have been recorded 
in the respective accounts.



DR
AF
T

FITCHBURG STATE UNIVERSITY
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2011 AND 2010

63

29. McKay Agreement:  

The University has an agreement with the City of Fitchburg, whereby the City can use the McKay building to 
provide elementary education to local residents on a year to year basis.  The University receives quarterly 
payments from the City to reimburse the University for its share of payroll and related operating expenses (the 
McKay School expenditures).  Reimbursements received for each of the years ended June 30, 2011 and 2010
were $994,887.  These reimbursements are included in the Sales and Services of Educational Departments 
revenue amount and the McKay School expenditures are included in the appropriate categories under Operating 
Expenses in the accompanying statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position. 

30. Civic Center:

In August 2006, the University and the City of Fitchburg entered into a Memorandum of Understanding in which 
the University would assume responsibility for the operations, management and maintenance of the George R. 
Wallace, Jr. Civic Center and the Alice G. Wallace Planetarium (collectively, the Civic Center).  The Civic 
Center includes two skating rinks and the adjoining planetarium.  The Commonwealth of Massachusetts acting 
by and through its Division of Capital Asset Management and Maintenance (DCAM) on behalf of the University
entered into a lease agreement for the Civic Center with the City of Fitchburg and the Board of Trustees of the 
Civic Center.  The lease commenced on October 1, 2007 and is for a term of 99 years. The lease provided for an
initial nominal rent payment and is otherwise a net lease.  Pursuant to the terms of the lease, the University has 
complete authority, at its sole discretion, to do all such acts and deeds as it deems reasonably necessary to 
manage, maintain and operate the Civic Center for the permitted uses specified in the lease agreement. The
University is responsible for payment, from net revenues generated by its operation of the Civic Center, of all 
costs associated with the maintenance and operation of the Civic Center, and certain other payments as specified 
in the lease agreement.  DCAM, at the instruction of the University and with 60 days prior written notice, may 
terminate the lease in the event that the University, in its sole discretion, determines that continuation of the lease 
is not in the interest of the University.

During fiscal 2007, the University commenced initial management, maintenance and operations activities at the 
Civic Center in anticipation of the lease agreement being executed.  The Commonwealth of Massachusetts 
Legislature appropriated an aggregate amount of $2,500,000 for repairs and upgrades to the Civic Center.  
During fiscal 2008, the University made repairs and upgrades to the Civic Center for an aggregate cost of 
$2,477,381.  The University engaged the services of a professional management company, Facilities 
Management Corporation (FMC), to assist with management, maintenance and operations activities of the ice-
skating rink program at the Civic Center.  The initial management contract expired on December 31, 2008. 

On February 1, 2009, the Commonwealth of Massachusetts acting by and through its Division of Capital Asset 
Management and Maintenance on behalf of the University entered into a sublease agreement with FMC for a 
term of twenty-five years commencing on the date of the agreement.  The sublease agreement is a net lease and, 
accordingly, FMC is responsible for all costs associated with the operations, management, and maintenance of 
the sublease premises as well as repairs and required capital improvements.  The sublease premises consist of the 
facilities and related equipment associated with the operation of a public ice-skating rink program.  The 
planetarium is not part of the sublease premises and it is not currently operational.  FMC is also responsible for 
certain other payments for and on behalf of the University related to obligations in existence at the date the
University initially assumed management of the Civic Center.  During the term of the sublease agreement, FMC 
is required to pay the University monthly percentage rent based upon the actual gross revenues from its
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30. Civic Center - continued: 

operations, as defined.  During each of the first ten years of the sublease term, no percentage rent is required.  
Thereafter, for each of the years eleven through twenty-five, percentage rent at the rate of 1% of actual gross 
revenues shall be due and payable on a monthly basis.  However, in no event shall the aggregate amount of 
percentage rent paid by FMC during the sublease term be less than $107,155.

The University, officials of the City of Fitchburg, and the Board of Trustees of the Civic Center believe that their 
collective efforts will return the Civic Center to a vibrant place where the citizenries of the City of Fitchburg and 
its surrounding cities and towns can enjoy athletic, educational and cultural activities.
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The University's Residence Hall Fund and Residence Hall Damage Fund non-classified Statements of Net 
Position at June 30, 2011 are as follows: 

Statements of Net Position

Residence 
Hall Fund

Residence Hall
Damage Fund

Assets:
Cash $ 681,734 $ 92,579
Cash held by State Treasurer 150,438 -
Investments 1,726,459 -
Accounts receivable, net 31,944 17,971
Prepaid expenses 525 -

Total assets 2,591,100 110,550

Liabilities:
Accounts payable 91,190 487
Deposits 259,160 -
Salaries payable 82,864 -
Compensated absences 108,801 -
Deferred revenue 2,400 -

Total liabilities 544,415 487

Net position $ 2,046,685 $ 110,063
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The University's Residence Hall Fund and Residence Hall Damage Fund Statements of Revenues, Expenses 
and Changes in Net Position (presented in accordance with the Commonwealth of Massachusetts’ Expenditure 
Classification plan) for the year ended June 30, 2011 are as follows:

Residence
Hall Fund

Residence Hall
Damage Fund

Revenues:
Student fees  $ 7,756,640  $ 338
Interest 52,204 1,360
Investment income (loss) 94,136 2,440
Commissions 34,341 -
Rentals    29,284    - 
Room damage assessments - 9,874
Miscellaneous 29,905 -

Total revenues 7,996,510 14,012

Expenses:
Regular employee compensation 1,047,763 -
Regular employee related expenses 7,888 -
Special employee/contract services   190,620   - 
Pension and insurance 352,242 -
Facility operating supplies and related expenses 7,093 -
Administrative expenses 22,882 -
Energy and space rental   1,083,177   - 
Consultant services 5,508 -
Operational services 26,712 87
Equipment purchases 71,745 1,670
Equipment lease - purchase, lease, rent, repair 11,732 -
Purchased client services and programs 4,064 -
Construction and improvements 360,790 20,036
Benefit program 34,453 -
Loans and special payments 4,755,410 -
Other - bad debt expense (recovery)    1,747  ( 2,217)
Information technology expenses 15,327 -

Total expenses 7,999,153 19,576

Transfers (in)/out:
Interdepartmental rental income ( 111,949) -
Printing 12,164 -
Other 31,291 -

      Total transfers  ( 68,494)   -
Total expenses and transfers 7,930,659 19,576

Increase (decrease) in net position 65,851 ( 5,564)
Net position - beginning of year 1,980,834   115,627
Net position - end of year $ 2,046,685 $ 110,063

The above Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position do not include an allocation of the 
current year charge for workers' compensation as estimated by the Commonwealth's actuarial review.  It is not 
practical to allocate any such amount to any specific trust fund.
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Schedule of Net Position by Category
2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 a

Net investment in capital assets  $     20,780,141  $     20,793,469  $     21,045,366  $     20,186,185  $     20,360,103  $     25,806,513  $     30,983,682  $     39,530,560  $     40,791,020 $     44,551,543 
Restricted-expendable           4,483,491 4,076,361 3,816,427 7,138,933 9,083,307         10,946,782           9,850,228           6,515,426           8,403,189        13,044,768 
Restricted-nonexpendable              529,685 521,361 576,826 588,587 597,461              600,377              511,206              437,045              470,158             458,004 
Unrestricted           4,493,708 6,881,233 9,583,813 11,085,627 14,253,916         12,699,422         11,914,978           9,755,072         17,277,197        22,075,651 
Total net position  $     30,287,025 $     32,272,424 $     35,022,432 $     38,999,332 $     44,294,787  $     50,053,094 $     53,260,094 $     56,238,103 $     66,941,564 $     80,129,966 

Sources and Uses of Funds

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
Source of Revenue
Student charges (net of scholarships) 11,213,515$      13,943,385$      16,035,993$      18,083,828$      20,877,997$      22,942,610$      25,033,128$      26,737,289$      28,372,042$      29,985,296$      
Grants & contracts 2,930,694 3,081,004 3,962,244 3,831,266 3,486,257 3,656,979          3,951,007          4,483,292          6,112,586          6,616,044          
Stimulus grants -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    6,666,991          3,098,023          
Auxiliary enterprises 3,477,126 3,877,418 4,317,584 5,027,889 5,485,605 5,946,282          6,085,147          6,467,184          8,046,782          8,042,922          
Other operating revenue 1,702,415 1,806,843 1,796,923 1,889,756 1,927,868 1,987,191          1,963,274          2,098,358          2,096,607          2,169,883          
Total operating revenue 19,323,750 22,708,650 26,112,744 28,832,739 31,777,727 34,533,062 37,032,556 39,786,123 51,295,008 49,912,168

State appropriations 29,808,715        27,974,237        25,199,981        27,375,808        29,645,087        31,702,393        34,063,661        29,415,783        24,622,349        29,332,885        
State capital appropriations 486,480 177,600 -                    407,191 1,195,000 1,799,754          475,000            497,822            -                    140,046            
Capital grants 23,750 85,000 118,358 121,217 123,535 123,535            178,264            325,351            1,683,802          5,319,402          
Other non-operating revenue 383,553 260,729 265,905 510,689 1,078,894 1,393,662          819,844            (179,115)           1,329,091          1,125,671          
Total non-operating revenue 30,702,498 28,497,566 25,584,244 28,414,905 32,042,516 35,019,344 35,536,769 30,059,841 27,635,242 35,918,004

Total revenue 50,026,248$      51,206,216$      51,696,988$      57,247,644$      63,820,243$      69,552,406$      72,569,325$      69,845,964$      78,930,250$      85,830,172$      

Functional Expense
Instruction 20,092,140$ 19,366,094$ 18,019,813$ 18,847,979$      22,856,426$      24,193,071$      26,699,550$      25,010,246$      25,682,331$      27,138,609$      
Research 1,323 2,499 130,803 164,787 165,550 61,077              37,104              99,265              106,458            68,156              
Public service 640,666 810,173 785,084 636,765 598,273 486,633            558,388            390,127            409,901            456,372            
Academic support 5,038,238 4,553,718 4,301,883 4,607,796 4,631,842 5,108,978          5,344,027          4,538,538          4,361,103          4,806,942          
Student services 5,284,418 5,772,833 5,426,794 5,980,391 6,560,972 7,022,806          7,478,709          7,299,258          7,445,019          8,030,813          
Institutional support 6,414,461 5,998,902 6,764,298 7,179,198 6,169,474 6,648,295          7,228,110          6,464,395          5,988,283          6,767,632          
Operations and maintenance of plant 6,233,864 5,911,344 5,944,096 7,246,710 8,185,991 9,699,216          11,040,391        11,306,190        10,818,202        10,881,270        
Scholarships 345,591 760,798 926,658 949,222 971,606 1,198,719          1,280,862          1,456,842          1,608,419          1,618,980          
Sub-total 44,050,701 43,176,361 42,299,429 45,612,848 50,140,134 54,418,795 59,667,141 56,564,861 56,419,716 59,768,774
Auxiliary enterprises 2,908,940 3,576,732 4,032,223 4,762,364 5,419,873 5,714,435          5,809,898          6,200,539          7,411,777          8,048,914          
Total operating expense 46,959,641        46,753,093        46,331,652        50,375,212        55,560,007        60,133,230        65,477,039        62,765,400        63,831,493        67,817,688        

Interest expense 177,366 146,440 198,855 307,292 316,491 548,265            657,783            545,680            384,861            583,060            
Total non-operating expense 177,366            146,440            198,855            307,292            316,491            548,265            657,783            545,680            384,861            583,060            

Total expenses 47,137,007$      46,899,533$      46,530,507$      50,682,504$      55,876,498$      60,681,495$      66,134,822$      63,311,080$      64,216,354$      68,400,748$      

Note: This schedule does not include the component unit, like the Fitchburg State University Foundation, Inc.

a  Beginning in 2011, the University began reporting net position rather than net assets, in conformity with GASB Statement 60. Prior to that time, net investment in 
capital assets was labeled "invested in capital assets, net of related debt."

Note:  This schedule does not include the component unit, like the Fitchburg State University Foundation, Inc.; total operating expense does not include depreciation.

Fiscal Year

FITCHBURG STATE UNIVERSITY
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Supplemental Statistical Information - Unaudited

See independent auditor's report on supplemental information on page 1. 67
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Schedule of Capital Asset Information

Academic
Year
2011

Land (acreage) 222

Buildings (square feet)
  100 Instruction /classroom 85,840
  200 Labs 87,517
  300 Administrative 125,860
  400 Study facilities 56,289
  52x Athletic 48,827
  5xx Other Special Use 5,243
  600 General Use 122,721
  700 Support facilities 21,296
  800 Health Care 878
  000 Unclassified 7,197
  Unassigned/  unassignable 299,006
Total Sq Ft 860,674

Residence Halls 438,140
Rental space 111,775

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
Dormitories - # of residents 1,215 1,305 1,355 1,434 1,443 1,466       1,499       1,483      1,639      1,620      

Note:  Classification of facilities space is consisent with Facilities Inventory & Classification Code guide.
This was implemented in 2005; comparable statistics prior to this time  are not available.
Number of residents is an average of total fall and spring residency counts as reported to the Massachusetts State
College Building Authority.

(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Supplemental Statistical Information - Unaudited

FITCHBURG STATE UNIVERSITY

See independent auditor's report on supplemental information on page 1. 68
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2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

Resident Undergraduate
Tuition  $        970  $        970  $        970  $        970  $        970  $        970  $        970  $        970  $         970 $        970 
Mandatory Fees 2,018 2,718 3,216 3,618 4,032         4,572         5,022         5,430          5,930        6,830 

  Total  $     2,988 $     3,688 $     4,186 $     4,588 $     5,002  $     5,542 $     5,992 $     6,400 $      6,900 $     7,800 

Non Resident Undergraduate
Tuition  $     7,050  $     7,050  $     7,050  $     7,050  $     7,050  $     7,050  $     7,050  $     7,050  $      7,050 $     7,050 
Mandatory Fees 2,018 2,718 3,216 3,618 4,032 4,572         5,022         5,430          5,930        6,830 

  Total  $     9,068 $     9,768 $   10,266 $   10,668 $   11,082  $   11,622 $   12,072 $   12,480 $    12,980 $   13,880 

Resident Graduate 
Tuition  $        900  $        900  $        900  $        900  $        900  $        900  $        900  $        900  $         900 $        900 
Mandatory Fees 107 117 432 432 510 510 653            653             720           762 

  Total  $     1,007 $     1,017 $     1,332 $     1,332 $     1,410  $     1,410 $     1,553 $     1,553 $      1,620 $     1,662 

Note: Undergraduate tuition & fees is per academic year and excludes dormitory fees.  Graduate tuition and fees are based on a six credit course load.

FITCHBURG STATE UNIVERSITY
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Supplemental Statistical Information - Unaudited

Academic Year

See independent auditor's report on supplemental information on page 1. 69
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Admissions, Enrollment, and Degree Statistics

Admissions-Freshman  (1) 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
Applications 2,681 3,289 3,861 3,514 3,859 3,880 4,057 4,342 4,572 4,193
Applications accepted 1,804 2,163 2,498 2,468 2,777 2,795 2,838 2,982 3,152 3,034
Accepted as a percentage of applications 67% 66% 65% 70% 72% 72% 70% 69% 69% 72%
Students enrolled (2) 763 887 988 1,016 1,007 1,086 1,067 1,133 1,163 1,085
Enrolled as a percentage of accepted 42% 41% 40% 41% 36% 39% 38% 38% 37% 36%

(1)  Includes all undergraduate admissions including transfer students.
(2)  Includes only students who were accepted and enrolled. Non degree seeking students are excluded.

Enrollment FY02 FY03 FY04 FY05 FY06 FY07 FY08 FY09 FY10 FY11
Full-time equivalent 4,448 4,648 4,360 4,670 5,029 5,018 5,159 5,305 5,461 5,287

Unduplicated credit headcount 13,649 13,107 11,302 11,272 12,578 11,906 11,756 12,140 11,855 11,784

Percent undergraduate  (3) 64% 67% 70% 68% 68% 68% 57% 60% 41% 42%
Percent graduate 36% 33% 30% 32% 32% 32% 43% 40% 59% 58%
(3)  Percent undergraduate/graduate based on Fall semester registration, unduplicated headcount

Student Population Demographics  (4) 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
Percentage of men 36% 37% 39% 38% 38% 38% 37% 39% 39% 39%
Percentage of women 64% 63% 61% 62% 62% 62% 63% 61% 61% 61%

Percentage of African-American 3% 3% 3% 3% 3% 3% 3% 3% 3% 3%
Percentage of White 92% 92% 92% 92% 92% 92% 92% 92% 92% 89%
Percentage of Latino 3% 3% 3% 3% 3% 3% 3% 3% 3% 5%
Percentage of  Other (5) 2% 2% 2% 2% 2% 2% 2% 2% 2% 3%

< 20 17% 18% 21% 22% 21% 21% 18% 18% 19% 18%
20 to 24 36% 37% 38% 36% 38% 40% 35% 36% 34% 37%
25 to 44 33% 32% 30% 30% 29% 29% 33% 33% 33% 32%
44 & Over 14% 13% 11% 12% 12% 10% 14% 13% 14% 13%
(4)  Percents within category are based on population of students who reported this information 
      (gender, race/ethnicity, and age).
(5)  Other includes Asian or Pacific Islander, American Indian, Alaskan Native, and Cape Verdean.

Degrees Granted FY02 FY03 FY04 FY05 FY06 FY07 FY08 FY09 FY10 FY11
Bachelor's 468 516 579 489 553 622 628 640 696 696
Master's 463 379 465 368 484 475 370 531 460 506

Fall Term

FITCHBURG STATE UNIVERSITY
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Supplemental Statistical Information - Unaudited

Fall Term

Annual

See independent auditor's report on supplemental information on page 1. 70
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Schedule of Employment

2001 2003 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
Faculty - Primary Instruction (1) 474 283 252 269 266 350 377 369

Part-time 273 115 86 95 90 166 197 193
Full-time 201 168 166 174 176 184 180 176

Staff and Administrators 346 329 439 385 386 410 419 394
Part-time 9 13 143 81 75 93 112 77
Full-time 337 316 296 304 311 317 307 317

Total Employees 820 612 691 654 652 760 796 763
Part-time 282 128 229 176 165 259 309 270
Full-time 538 484 462 478 487 501 487 493

(1)  Includes Instruction, Research & Public Service

Notes:  This schedule reflects personnel as of November 1, Full-Time Equivalent Employees is as of June 30.

FITCHBURG STATE UNIVERSITY
(a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Supplemental Statistical Information - Unaudited

See independent auditor's report on supplemental information on page 1. 71



                         Ercolini & Company LLP 
              Certified Public Accountants

                 101 Arch Street, Suite 300      
                 Boston, MA  02110-1103 

                                                                                                                                                              t 617-482-5511     
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   f 617-426-5252 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   www.recpa.com 
 
 

DR
AF
T

72

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT
OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH

GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

To the Board of Trustees of
Fitchburg State University
Fitchburg, Massachusetts

We have audited the financial statements of the business type activities and discretely presented component unit of 
Fitchburg State University (the University) (a department of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) as of and for the 
year ended June 30, 2011, which collectively comprise Fitchburg State University's basic financial statements, and 
have issued our report thereon dated October 18, 2011, which included an explanatory paragraph as indicated on page 
1. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America 
and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit, we considered Fitchburg State University’s internal control over financial 
reporting as a basis for designing our auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial 
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the University’s internal control 
over financial reporting. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the University’s internal 
control over financial reporting. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or 
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent or detect and correct misstatements 
on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that 
there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the University's financial statements will not be 
prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. 

Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose described in the first 
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting 
that might be deficiencies, significant deficiencies or material weaknesses.  We did not identify any deficiencies in 
internal control over financial reporting that we consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above.
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Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Fitchburg State University's financial statements are free of 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and 
grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial 
statement amounts.  However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our 
audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.  The results of our tests disclosed no instances of 
noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards. 

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Board of Trustees, management, others within
Fitchburg State University, and federal awarding agencies and pass-through entities and is not intended to be and 
should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

Boston, Massachusetts
October 18, 2011



 
TAB B 

   























 
TAB C 

   

















 
Foundation 
Audit Agenda 

   



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

Fitchburg State University Foundation, Inc. 
Audit Committee 

Tuesday, October 18, 2011 
11:00 a.m. 

President’s Conference Room, Sanders Administration Building 
300 Highland Avenue, Fitchburg, MA 01420 

 

AGENDA 

 

I. Call to Order 
  

II. Public Comments 
 

III. Consideration of minutes from previous meeting 
 

a. October 15, 2010 
 

IV. Presentation of Independent Auditor’s Report, Ercolini & Company, LLP 
 

a. Jay Kaufman, CPA, Partner; Phil Weitzel, CPA, Partner; Jeffrey Caputi, Audit 
Supervisor 

 
V. Votes Required 

 
a. FY 2011 Audit – AUD-01-10182011 

 
VI. Other Business 

 
VII. Adjournment 
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FOUNDATION BOARD OF DIRECTORS AUDIT COMMITTEE 
SUPPORTING ORGANIZATION 

JOINT MEETING 
 

Friday, October 15, 2010 at  
10:00 a.m. 

Fitchburg State University 
President’s Hall 

Guglielmi Mazzaferro Center 
 
 

Members Present:  President Robert V. Antonucci, Robert C. Alario, Gail Allen, Esq.,  
David Celuzza, Martin F. Connors Jr., Barbara Fiske, Scott Foster, 
Richard Healey, Edward Manzi, Sheila Sykes 

 

Members Absent:  Jay Bry, David Rodgers, Joseph Sova 
 
Also Attending: Cathleen Daggett, Mary Lynn Leary, Jacklynn Taylor, Karen Sharpe 

 
Auditors: Jay Kaufman, CPA, Audit Partner, Philip Weitzel, CPA, Audit Partner, 

Jeffrey Caputi, Audit Supervisor 
  
 
The meeting was called to order at 10:00  a.m. by President Robert V. Antonucci 

 

 

President Robert V. Antonucci welcomed everyone to the meeting. He mentioned that this would 
be a joint meeting of the Board of Trustees and the Foundation Audit Committee and Supporting 
Organization Committee.  
 

Robert Alario requested that a motion be made to accept the minutes of the Foundation Audit 
Committee held on October 13, 2009.  
 

Upon a motion made by Gail Allen and seconded by Scott Foster the members voted 

unanimously to accept the minutes of the Foundation Audit Committee held on 

October 13, 2009. 

 
Robert V. Antonucci requested that a motion be made to accept the minutes of the four meetings 
of the Foundation Supporting Organization Committee held on November 4, 2009, December 
15, 2009, March 3, 2010 and September 7, 2010.  
 



2 
 

Upon a motion made by Scott Foster and seconded by David Celuzza the members 

voted  unanimously to accept the minutes of the four meetings of the Foundation 

Supporting Organization Committee held on November 4, 2009, December 15, 2009, 

March 3, 2010 and September 7, 2010.  

 

 
Jay Kaufman, Philip Weitzel and Jeffrey Caputi, from Ercolini & Company LLP, presented the 
Committee with the results of the Foundation Audits. 
 
Discussed as follows: 
 ● Stand alone financial statements issued for the Supporting Organization 
 ● Independent Auditor’s Report 
 ● Review of Financial Statements: Management’s Executive Summary 
 ● Highlights of Financial Statements including Investment performance, 
  Contributions receivable and major donors, property acquisitions and related  
  Financing 
 ● Significant Events, unusual or infrequent events 
 ● Impairment loss on Main Street property (Supporting Organization) 
 ● Other-than-temporary impairment write-down of investment in Commonfund 
  Realty Investors, Inc. 
 ● Massachusetts Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act 
  (UPMIFA) which became effective on July 1, 2009 
 ● Major donation of remainder interest in charitable trust with expected proceeds 
  Of approximately $970 K expected to be received in FY2011 
 ● Subsequent event – donation of computer software and related license with a  
  value of approximately $2.8 million received in September 2010 
 ● Comparisons between years 
 
 
The audits were conducted in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in 
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. The 
audits disclosed no instances of noncompliance. 
 
 
 Upon a motion duly made by Martin F. Connors and seconded by Gail Allen, the 

 Committee voted unanimously to accept the results of the Audit. 

 

Robert Antonucci requested that a motion be made to accept the results of the Foundation 
Supporting Organization. 
 

Upon a motion duly made by Scott Foster and seconded by David Celuzza, the 

Committee voted unanimously to accept the results of the Supporting Organization. 
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President Robert V. Antonucci invited everyone to attend the combined celebration of the recent 
designation as a university and the groundbreaking of the new Science Center on Tuesday, 
October 26 at 3:30 p.m. in Weston Auditorium. 
 
President Antonucci adjourned the meeting at 10:50 a.m.  
 
Respectfully submitted by Jacklynn Taylor 
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FITCHBURG STATE UNIVERSITY FOUNDATION, INC. 

 Executive Summary  

Report on Audit of Consolidated Financial Statements 

Years Ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 

 

The Foundation received an unqualified report from its auditors and there were no issues or findings that arose 
during the audit. 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (page 2): 

 Total assets increased by approximately $1.3 million due primarily to capital campaign donations and 
investment gains.   

 Property & equipment decreased due to the sale of 145 North Street.  The Foundation, through donation 
acquired $20,700 in photography equipment for the Communications Media department.       

Consolidated Statement of Activities (page 3): 

 There was an overall increase of $1.6 million in net assets at year end resulting from capital campaign 
donations and investment gains as mentioned above.   Unrestricted gifts and donations were approximately 
$248,000.  Total gifts and donations were $3,464,000 and include a $2.8 million donation of software for the 
Industrial Technology department.   

 Rental income, license fees and residence hall fees totaled $543,000 and are made up of rents and fees paid by 
the University for the use of various properties and fees paid by students for 185 North Street. 

 Interest and dividend income totaled $190,000.  Investment gains totaled $1.4 million.  
 Program expenses increased primarily due to the booking a corresponding expense of $2.8 million for the 

donated software mentioned above.   
 Management and general expenses increased due to the additional maintenance fees for the Razor’s Edge 

software.     
 Fundraising expenses increased due expenses related to final capital campaign initiatives (Race to the Finish).     

 

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (pages 4 - 5): 

 $312,000 in positive cash flow was provided by operating activities.  There was an overall net increase in cash 
of approximately $658,000.   

 Proceeds from the sale of property totaled $119,000.    
 Cash paid for interest was $227,000.   

Notes to the Financials Statements (pages 6-34): 

 Most of the notes are standard disclosures.    
 Detail on investments is disclosed in Note 3 beginning on page 14, as well as Note 5 beginning on page 20.  
 Detail on property and equipment and its related debt is disclosed in Note 6 beginning on page24 and Notes 10 

and 11 beginning on page 25. 
 Related party transactions are disclosed in Note 14 on page 33. 

Consolidated Statement of Functional Expenses (page 36): 

 This statement presents expenses by major activity and purpose.  The significant variances from fiscal 2010 
have been mentioned above.  
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Request for Board of Directors Action 

 

 

TO: Foundation Board of Directors Audit 

Committee 

DATE: October 18, 2011 

 FROM:   The President  

SUBJECT: 
It is requested that the Board of Directors of the 
Fitchburg State University Foundation, Inc. Audit 
Committee accept the Audit Report for the fiscal year 
ending June 30, 2011. 

REQUEST #: 
AUD-01-10182011 
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Fitchburg State University Supporting Organization, Inc. 
Tuesday, October 18, 2011 

11:00 a.m. 
President’s Conference Room, Sanders Administration Building 

300 Highland Avenue, Fitchburg, MA 01420 
 

AGENDA 

 

I. Call to Order 
 

II. Public Comments 
 

III. Consideration of minutes from previous meetings 
a. September 7, 2011 

 
IV. Presentation of Independent Auditor’s Report, Ercolini & Company, LLP 

 
a. Jay Kaufman, CPA, Partner; Phil Weitzel, CPA, Partner; Jeffrey Caputi, Audit 

Supervisor 
 

V. Votes Required 
 

a. FY 2011 Audit – SOAUD-01-101811 
 

VI. Other Business 
 

VII. Adjournment 
 
 

 

 



 

 
 

 
 

FITCHBURG STATE UNIVERSITY SUPPORTING ORGANIZATION, INC. 
 

Fitchburg State University 
President’s Conference Room 

Sanders Building 
 

Minutes of Conference Call/Meeting held on Wednesday, September 7, 2011, 3:00 p.m. 
 

 
 

Members Participating Via Phone:  David Rodgers, Scott Foster, Rick Healey 
 
Member Present:  President Robert V. Antonucci  
 
Ex Officio: Jay Bry 
 
Also in Attendance: Sheila Sykes 
 
Absent: Barbara Fiske 
 
The meeting was called to order by David Rodgers at 3:00 p.m. 
 
President Antonucci reviewed the property description and supporting organization budget as a 
starting point for the discussion. 
 
Rick Healey offered a brief overview of the property.    
 
  

 Upon a motion made by David Rodgers, President and seconded by Scott Foster, the 

members voted unanimously to authorize the purchase of 40-42 Clinton Street, Fitchburg 

MA at auction for up to $60,000. 

    
 
 President Antonucci thanked all participants, and the meeting adjourned at 3:12 p.m. 
 

 
Respectfully submitted by Kelly Sylvia 
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FITCHBURG STATE UNIVERSITY FOUNDATION SUPPORTING ORGANIZATION, INC. 

Executive Summary  

Report on Audit of Financial Statements 

Years Ended June 30, 2011 and 2010 

 

 
The Supporting Organization received an unqualified report from its auditors and there were no issues or 
findings that arose during the audit.  The information contained in these financial statements is consolidated 
into the financial statements of the Fitchburg State University Foundation, Inc. 

Statements of Financial Position (page 2): 

 Total assets are $4.4 million at June 30, 2011, a decrease of approximately $89,000 over the previous 
fiscal year.     

 Property & equipment decreased due to the sale of 145 North Street to the Commonwealth of 
Massachusetts.  Total property and equipment, net of depreciation is $4.1 million.     
 

Statements of Activities (page 3): 

 There was an overall increase in net assets of $185,000 due in part to an increase residence hall 
income and an increase in the annual license fees paid by the University.   

 Rental income, license fees and residence hall fees totaled $543,000 and are made up of rents and fees 
paid by the University for the use of various properties and fees paid by students for 185 North Street. 

 Interest expense relative to financing property acquisitions totaled $196,000.    
 Program expenses totaled $346,000, management and general expenses totaled $7,300.   

 

Statements of Cash Flows (page 4): 

 

 There was positive cash flows from operating activities of $257,000.  There was an overall net 
increase in cash of approximately $175,000.   

 Proceeds from the sale of property and equipment totaled $119,000 and $75,000 was released from 
escrow relative to 161 Main Street. 

   

Notes to the Financials Statements (pages 5-15): 

 Most of the notes are standard disclosures.    
 Details on property and equipment is disclosed in Note 4 beginning on page 9. 
 Mortgage and notes payable agreements are disclosed in Notes 5 and 6 beginning on page 10. 
 Lease and license agreements between the Supporting Organization and the University are disclosed 

in Note 7 beginning on page 13. 
 Related party transactions are disclosed in Note 8 on page 14. 
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Request for Action of the Members  

Of the Fitchburg State University Supporting Organization, Inc. 

 

 

TO: Members of the Fitchburg State University 

Supporting Organization, Inc.  

DATE: October 18, 2011 

 FROM:   The President  

SUBJECT: 
It is requested that the members of the Fitchburg 
State University Supporting Organization, Inc. 
accept the Audit Report for the fiscal year ending 
June 30, 2011. 

REQUEST #: 
SOAUD-01-101811 
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Fitchburg State University 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

 
 
TO: Board of Trustees 

 
DATE: 
 
October 18, 2011 

 
FROM:    The President 
 

 
REQUEST NUMBER: 
 
02-11/12  

SUBJECT:   Accept the President’s Goals for  FY2012 
 

 
 
It is requested that the Board of Trustees accept the President’s attached goals for 
2011-2012.  
 
 
 
 
  



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

President’s Report to Trustees on  

Goals for 2011‐2012 Academic Year 

 

Overview 

 

Each year at this time  I present goals to the Board of Trustees for the current academic year. 

While there are literally hundreds of projects and activities on this busy campus, what follows is 

a  prioritized  selection  based  on  critical  importance  to  our  larger mission  of  advancing  the 

university to ever‐higher levels. 

 

Goals 

 

Complete  the  work  for  the  New  England  Association  of  Schools  and  Colleges  (NEASC) 

accreditation process. 

We are now deep  into the process of completing the self‐study required by the New England 

Association of Schools and Colleges for re‐accreditation. The study, which will be submitted  in 

December,  is  the  result of  the hard work of more  than 100  individuals  representing a broad 

cross section of campus. Next year, from March 7 to 10, a team from the association will visit 

the university to validate and review the work that has been done.  

Our goal  is to receive another full 10‐year approval based on the self‐study. That process was 

labor  intensive, but offered us a valuable opportunity  to examine our mission as well as our 

relative strengths and weaknesses based on a focused, standard set of criteria. 

Receiving  re‐accreditation  is  critically  important  for  the  university. Of  the many  assessment 

mechanisms  we  utilize  to measure  institutional  effectiveness  and  quality,  this  is  the  “gold 

standard.”  

Re‐organize and energize the senior leadership team, and utilize the talents and interests of 

the new members in order to continue strengthening the university. 

Three new members will be joining our senior team as a result of resignations and retirements: 

Dr. Robin Bowen was hired as vice president for academic affairs on June 27, 2011; we have just 

completed the search for the upgraded position of vice president for institutional advancement, 

and Christopher Hendry will be assuming that role on October 30; and Jay Bry will be serving as 

interim  vice president  for  finance  and  administration,  replacing  Sheila  Sykes, who  retires on 

November  5.  We  will  build  on  the  accomplishments  of  those  who  are  departing  while 

leveraging the expertise of the new leaders to support our basic principles of teaching, learning 

and  service.  I  look  forward  to  the  changing  dynamics,  and  am  confident  that  those  in  new 



positions  are  eminently  qualified  to  successfully  address  the  challenges we will  face  in  the 

future.  

Continue the ongoing efforts to modernize the university infrastructure. 

The science center, the Hammond project, the Miller faculty offices, and the Highland Avenue 

plaza  are  just  a  few  of  the modernization  projects  underway  or  recently  completed.  These 

projects  will  contribute  to  the  overall  educational  environment  of  the  university.  We  will 

continue to explore options to  finance other projects as part of our capital plan. We have an 

aging  campus  infrastructure  and  need  to  aggressively  address  the many  needs  that  remain. 

Edgerly and Percival are examples of two renovation projects that must be undertaken.  

Lead the university in an effective and efficient manner, and administer the daily operations 

of the university with an unwavering focus on excellence and quality. 

This  is  a  goal  that  I  include  each  year  as  it  represents  a macro  view  of  leading  a  complex 

organization with a $70 million budget and more than 600 employees. Among the many focal 

points  are  fund  raising,  capital  needs,  foundation  and  trustee  boards,  collective  bargaining, 

professional  development,  sustainability,  public  relationships,  alumni  affairs,  and  community 

outreach, including, for example, the Commissioner’s Vision Project, the NCAA, and the Council 

of Presidents. Efficiency can only be achieved through shared vision and commitment.  

Conclusion 

As  I  have  said  since my  first  day  as  president,  the  student  learning  experience  is what  the 

university  is  all  about. We  are  here  because  of  students. We  are  here  to  ensure  that  their 

educational needs are met at the highest levels of excellence. We are here because we believe 

that  our  institution  is  number  one  and  the  best  in  its  class. We  need  to  demonstrate  this 

through  action  and  results,  not words.  I  believe  in  this  university,  in what  it  does,  and  its 

limitless future. 

 

October 18, 2011 
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Fitchburg State University 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

 
 
TO: Board of Trustees 

 
DATE: 
 
October 18, 2011 

 
FROM:    The President 
 

 
REQUEST NUMBER: 
 
03-11/12  

SUBJECT:   Hammond Building 
 

 
 
It is requested that the Board of Trustees of Fitchburg State University vote to approve 
the attached resolution.  
 
 
 
 
  



 

 FITCHBURG STATE UNIVERSITY 
 

REQUEST FOR TRUSTEE ACTION 
 
 

 
To:  Board of Trustees    Date: October 18, 2011 
 
From:   Dr. Robert V. Antonucci, President 

 
Subject: Approval for Hammond Center Project and Pledge of Trust Funds and 

Appropriation Intercept 
  
 

RESOLUTION 
 

1. The Board of Trustees (the “Trustees”) of Fitchburg State University (the “State 
University”) hereby approves the project (the “Project”) described in EXHIBIT A 
hereto and the cost thereof approximately as presented to this meeting and otherwise 
substantially as presented to this meeting. 

 
2. The Trustees hereby approve the pledge by the Board of Higher Education pursuant 

to the first paragraph of Section 18A of Chapter 703 of the Acts of 1963, as amended, 
to secure bonds (the “Bonds”) issued by the Massachusetts State College Building 
Authority (the “MSCBA”) to finance the Project (which Bonds may be issued 
together with or separately from bonds issued by the MSCBA for other purposes), of 
the following: (a) an amount, not to exceed one-fourth (1/4) of the average annual 
debt service on the Bonds, of funds held as trust funds for Fitchburg State University 
under the provisions of the Clause (e) of Section 22 of Chapter 15A of the 
Massachusetts General Laws, the particular trust funds, gifts, grants and trusts and the 
amount from any particular trust fund, gift, grant or trust to be so pledged to be 
determined by the President of the State University in consultation with the Executive 
Committee of the Trustees, and (b) funds made available for expenditure on behalf of 
Fitchburg State University pursuant to an appropriation made by the General Court or 
otherwise available for expenditure by the Board of Higher Education. 

 
3. Pursuant to Section 22 of Chapter 15A of the Massachusetts General Laws, as 

amended, the Trustees hereby delegate to the President of Fitchburg State University 
the power, and hereby authorize the President of Fitchburg State University, in 
consultation with the Executive Committee of the Trustees to do all things necessary 
or desirable in connection with the carrying out of the Project, the Bonds, the 
payment of and security for the Bonds and all other matters authorized by this 
Resolution, including without limitation the approval acknowledgement, execution 
and delivery on behalf of Fitchburg State University of contracts, certificates and 
other documents. 

 



 

4. The President of Fitchburg State University and all other officers of Fitchburg State 
University and all other officers of the Trustees, each of the foregoing persons acting 
alone, are hereby authorized to do all things and take all action as the person so acting 
shall, as conclusively evidenced by the doing of any such thing or the taking of any 
such action, deem necessary or desirable to be done or taken to carry into effect the 
matters hereby authorized. 

 
 



EXHIBIT A 
HAMMOND CAMPUS CENTER AT 
FITCHBURG STATE UNIVERSITY 

MSCBA PROJECT NO. FIT-0588-10 
 
Description of Project 

(a) The carrying out of preliminary work, including obtaining cost estimates, revenue estimates, 
preliminary design specifications, feasibility studies, surveys, and site analyses to determine the 
feasibility, approximate size, scope, purposes, location and other characteristics of any building, 
structure or facility the Authority is authorized by Chapter 703 of the Acts of 1963, as amended, to 
provide; 

 
(b) The renovation of the Hammond Campus Center as described herein including building systems and 

components, furniture, and equipment primarily for the use by students and staff of the University, 
and their dependents, and which the Authority is authorized by Chapter 703 of the Acts of 1963, as 
amended, to provide; and 

 
(c) The carrying out of improvements, renovations, and other work on and the provision and installation 

of furnishings, fixtures and other equipment for other buildings, structures, or facilities the Authority 
is authorized by Chapter 703 of the Acts of 1963, as amended, to provide. 

 
Project Overview 
 Project is the continuation of the renovation of the Hammond Campus Center.  Additional interior 

renovations will enhance the student life experience by creating new meeting spaces, student lounges and 
study spaces.  New offices will be created for student affairs, career counseling, tutoring and other 
support services. Building upgrades include fire protection, HVAC, plumbing, electrical, and interior 
finishes.   

 The University has provided an equity contribution of $3.2 million in addition to $300,000 as initial 
funding for the pre-design phase. DCAM transferred $900,000 to fund the accessible ramp between 
Hammond and the Holmes Dining Hall.  The project revenue source will be an increase in general student 
fees not to exceed $175.  

 

INDICATOR: 
PRIMARY 

RESERVE 
VIABILITY 

RETURN ON NET 

ASSETS 
NET OPERATING 

REVENUES 

Target: 25.0% >1.0 3.0 – 4.0% 2.0 – 4.0% 
Fitchburg (FY10): 37.6% 2.3 19.0% 11.7% 

 
Project Budget and Schedule    

 Budget  

Total Project Cost $25,701,995
Less 2010A/B Bond (14,307,000)
Less Equity Contribution (3,494,995)
Less DCAM Contribution      (900,000)
Total Project Fund 7,000,000
Cost of Issuance/Reserves        630,000
Total  $7,630,000 
  
Schedule   
Design Started January 2011
Construction Started May 2011
Occupy Completed Facility September 2012

 



 
Conflict of 
Interest 

   



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Conflict of Interest Disclosure Statement 
For Trustees, Foundation Board Members, and Foundation Supporting Organization, Inc. 

Members 
 

Introduction 
Trustees, Foundation Board members, and Supporting Organization members have a fiduciary duty to the 
University, the Foundation, and/or the Supporting Organization and, as such, should act in a manner consistent 
with this obligation and exercise particular care that no detriment to the interest of the University, the 
Foundation, and/or the Supporting Organization (or the appearance of such detriment) may result from a 
conflict between the interests of the University, the Foundation, and/or the Supporting Organization and 
personal financial interests an individual may have. Therefore, each individual of these boards will annually 
disclose any personal interest, which he or she may have, in any matter pending before the University, the 
Foundation, and/or the Supporting Organization and will refrain from participation in any decision on such 
matter. 
 
Trustees, Foundation Board members, and Supporting Organization members who are also an officer, board 
member, committee member, or staff member of a contractor, vendor, or supplier of, or to, shall identify his or 
her affiliation with that organization. Further, in connection with any committee or board action specifically 
directed to that organization, he/she will refrain from participating in the decision affecting that organization.   
 
Additionally, Trustees, Foundation Board members, and Supporting Organization members will refrain from 
obtaining any list of clients for personal or private solicitation purposes at any time during the term of their 
affiliation. 
 

Conflict of Interest Disclosure Statement 
Acknowledgement of Receipt 

At this time, I am a board member, a committee member, consultant to, or employee of the following 
organizations: 
 
  
 
 
 
This disclosure statement shall certify that I, am not now, nor at any time during the past year, been: 
 
1)  a participant, directly or indirectly, in any arrangement, agreement, investment, or other activity with any 

vendor, supplier, or other party, doing business with the University, the Foundation and/or the Supporting 
Organization, which has resulted or could result, in personal benefit to me; and/or 

 
2)  a recipient, directly or indirectly, of any salary payments, loans or gifts of any kind, free service, discounts or 

other fees from, or on behalf of, any person or organization engaged in any transaction with the University, 
the Foundation, and/or the Supporting Organization and its affiliates. 

 
Exceptions to items 1 or 2 above are stated below, or attached, with a description of the transactions and of the 
interest, whether direct or indirect, which I have (or have had during the past year) with the persons or 
organizations having transactions with the University, the Foundation, and/or the Supporting Organization and 
its affiliates. 
 
Date ______________________________  Signature______________________________________ 
 

Printed   ______________________________________ 
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       Conflict of Interest Policy 

 
Purpose: 
This conflict of interest policy (“the policy”) is intended to:  

 protect the interests of Fitchburg State University (“the University”) and serve as a guide when 
the University is contemplating entering into a transaction or arrangement that might benefit, 
directly or indirectly, the private interest of university officers, trustees, or directors;  

 enable such individuals to recognize situations that may be subject to question and resolve them 
to avoid conflicts of interest; and/or   

 supplement, not replace, any applicable federal and state laws governing conflict of interests.  
 
Who is subject to the policy? 
This policy covers: 

 members of the Board of Trustees, including honorary trustees, that participate in board and 
committee meetings, and members of the Foundation Board and its associated committees.  

 

Policy: 
Trustees and Foundation Board members have a fiduciary duty to the University and, as such, should act 
in a manner consistent with this obligation and exercise particular care that no detriment to the interests of 
the University (or the appearance of such detriment) may result from a conflict between the interests of 
the University and personal financial interests an individual may have.  
 
An individual has a financial interest if that person has, directly or indirectly, through business, 
investment, or family: 

 an ownership or investment interest in an organization supplying goods or services to the 
University;  

 performed services for other individuals or organizations that do business with the University; 
and/or 

 a potential ownership, investment interest, or compensation arrangement with any individual or 
organization seeking to do business with the University. 

 
In general, when those covered by this policy are deemed to be in a conflict of interest situation with 
respect to any matter before the Boards or administration, that individual will refrain from participating in 
the consideration of any proposed transaction, unless specifically requested to provide information 
regarding the transaction in question. The individual will refrain from voting on, or taking any position 
for or against, the proposed transaction. When deemed appropriate, a notification will be made in the 
minutes of the meeting that the person involved neither participated in the consideration of the proposed 
transaction nor voted on the matter. 
 
In all other instances where it is determined that a conflict of interest exists, such conflicts, and their 
remedy, shall be disclosed to the Board of Trustees and/or the Foundation Board of Directors at their next 
meeting. 
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Conflict of Interest Policy 
Page 2 

 
Disclosure: 
The University is aware that it may not be possible to completely avoid all relationships between those 
individuals covered by this policy and certain third parties with whom the University transacts business. 
One of the keys to evaluating the potential conflict is full disclosure.  All individuals covered by this 
policy shall complete, at least annually, a Conflict of Interest Disclosure Statement.  These disclosure 
statements shall be reviewed and accumulated by the President’s Office and furnished to the Board of 
Trustees, the Foundation Board of Directors, and/or the President upon request. 
 
If an individual covered by this policy believes that he or she may have a conflict of interest with respect 
to this policy, or any particular transaction that has not been previously disclosed, he or she will promptly 
and fully disclose the potential conflict to the President and will refrain from participating in any related 
transactions or decisions of the University until the conflict is reviewed and a determination has been 
made.    
   
Individual disclosure statements will be held in confidence by the President.  The statements will be open 
for public inspection only:  

 by official action of the Board of Trustees for university matters or by official action of the 
Foundation Board of Directors for Foundation matters upon showing of good cause; 

 with the consent of the person who submitted the data to be disclosed; and/or 
 by court order or as otherwise required by Massachusetts or federal law or regulation. 

 
 
Questions: 
Questions regarding this policy should be directed to the President. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Approved by the Board of Trustees _______________________________ 
 

Approved by the Foundation Board of Directors _______________________________ 
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FITCHBURG STATE UNIVERSITY 

Board of Trustees 

NOTIFICATION 

 

TO: Board of Trustees  DATE: October 18, 2011 

FROM: The President  REQUEST NUMBER:  N01‐11/12
 SUBJECT: Personnel Actions 

 

New Hire 

 
Christopher Adams, Ph.D.  Assistant Professor  $59,000.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011  Behavioral Sciences         

 
Arlana Arsenault, MS  Instructor  $56,000.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011  Nursing         
 
Peter Azar, Ed.D.  Director, Readiness Center (.50 FTE)  $36,000.00 
Effective: 9/11/2011  Education 
 
Paul Beaudoin, Ph.D.  Assistant Professor (1 semester temp)  $29,000.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011  Humanities 
Expires: 12/31/2011 
 
Robin Bowen, Ph.D.  Vice President for Academic Affairs  $170,000.00 
Effective: 6/27/2011  Academic Affairs 
 
Annamary Consalvo, MED  Assistant Professor  $59,000.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011  English 
 
Allison Craig, Ph.D.  Assistant Professor  $51,000.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011  English 
 
Yasser Derwiche Djazaerly, Ph.D.  Assistant Professor  $57,000.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011  Humanities 
 
Nancy Duphily, DNP  Assistant Professor  $76,000.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011  Nursing 
 
Steven Edwards, Ph.D.  Assistant Professor  $51,500.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011  English 
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Leah Fernandes, MA  Staff Assistant, Environmental Health &  $60,000.00 
Effective: 6/20/2011  Safety Officer   
  CPM/Administrative Services 
 
Teresa Finn, MS  Instructor  $56,000.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011  Nursing 
 
Shana Goldwyn, MS  Assistant Professor  $56,500.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011  Education 

 
Daniel Hanneken, MS  Associate Dean/Principal  $95,000.00 
Effective: 7/18/2011  McKay School 
 
Beth Herman‐Davis, Ed.D.  Assistant Professor  $54,500.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011  Education 
 
Brian Kelly, Ph.D.  Assistant Professor  $53,500.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011  Behavioral Sciences 
 
Megan Krell, Ph.D.  Assistant Professor  $54,000.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011  Behavioral Sciences 
 
Mathangi Krishnamurthy, Ph.D.  Assistant Professor  $55,000.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011  Biology/Chemistry 
 
John LaFleche, Ph.D.  Assistant Professor  $65,000.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011  Industrial Technology 
 
Rebecca Lindley, MED  Staff Associate/Commuter Affairs  $36,000.00 
Effective: 10/24/2011  & Leadership (10 month) 
  Student Development & Campus Center 
 
John Ludlam, Ph.D.  Assistant Professor  $57,500.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011  Biology/Chemistry 
 
Kristen Murphy, MED  Director of Housing & Residential Svs  $67,000.00 
Effective: 9/21/2011  Housing & Residential Services 
 
Erin Rehrig, Ph.D.  Assistant Professor  $57,500.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011  Biology/Chemistry 
 
David Rice, MS  Assistant Professor  $54,000.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011  Exercise & Sports Science 
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Luis Rosero, MA  Assistant Professor  $55,000.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011  Economics. History & Political Science 
 
Sheila Schreiner, Ph.D.  Assistant Professor  $54,000.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011  Biology/Chemistry 
 
Jason Simon, MLS  Assistant Librarian  $53,000.00 
Effective: 3/13/2011  Amelia V. Gallucci‐Cirio Library 
 
David Svolba, Ph.D.  Assistant Professor  $54,000.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011  Humanities 
 
Samuel Tobin, MA  Assistant Professor  $54,000.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011  Communications Media 
 
Michael Ward, MS  Instructor  $48,500.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011  Exercise & Sports Science 
 
Kathryn Wells, MLS  Assistant Librarian  $51,000.00 
Effective: 12/12/2010  Amelia V. Gallucci‐Cirio Library 

 

Rehire 

 
Deborah Benes, MS  Assistant Professor  $57,969.65 
Effective: 9/1/2011  Nursing           
End Date: 5/31/2012 
 
Richard DesRoches, MBA  Instructor  $58,000.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011  Business Administration           
End Date: 5/31/2012 
 
Katherine Jewell, Ph.D.  Assistant Professor  $52,500.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011  Economics, History & Political Science         
End Date: 5/31/2012 
 
Monica Maldari, MS  Instructor  $50,000.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011  Exercise & Sports Science           
End Date: 5/31/2012 
 
Anne Meyer, MS  Instructor  $58,017.68 
Effective: 9/1/2011  Nursing           
End Date: 5/31/2012 
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Audrey Pereira, MS  Assistant Professor  $65,500.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011  Business Administration           
End Date: 5/31/2012 
 
Bruce Romano, Ph.D.  Assistant Professor  $55,373.92 
Effective: 9/1/2011  Mathematics           
End Date: 5/31/2012 
 
Renee Scapparone, D.B.A.  Assistant Professor  $56,500.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011  Business Administration           
End Date: 5/31/2012 
 
Allison Shields, MS  Instructor  $63,641.71 
Effective: 9/1/2011  Nursing           
End Date: 12/31/2011 
 
Deborah Stone, MS  Instructor  $50,864.67 
Effective: 9/1/2011  Nursing           
End Date: 12/31/2011 
 
Kisha Tracy, Ph.D.  Assistant Professor  $52,500.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011  English           
End Date: 5/31/2012 
 

Promotion 

 
Kelli Lundgren, HS  From: Admin Asst. II to Staff Assistant  From: $40,271.92 
Effective: 6/7/2011  From: HR to President’s Office   To: $45,000.00   
 
Kelly Sylvia, MBA  From: Accountant II to Staff Assistant  From: $42,850.08 
Effective: 8/8/2011  From: Payroll to Alumni & Development     To: $45,000.00 
 
Joseph LoBuono, BS  From: Associate Director to Director  From: $71,249.81 
Effective: 8/14/2011  Capital Planning & Maintenance  To: $76,500.00 
   
Henry Parkinson, Ed.D.  From: Director of Student Development  From: $71,570.04 
Effective: 8/14/2011  To Assistant Dean for Student   To: $76,500.00 
  Development & Housing 
 
Brad Cohrs, MA  From: Associate Director, Recreational Svs   From: $60,623.69 
Effective: 8/14/2011  To Director, Recreational Svs & Civic Ctr      To: $64,000.00 
  Recreational Services 
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Jay Bry, MS  From: Chief Operating Officer                        From: $114,185.80 
Effective: 11/1/2011  To Interim Vice President for Finance        To: $130,000.00 
  and Administration    
 

Jossy Brack, HS  From: Admin Asst. II to Staff Assistant  From: $48,060.48 
Effective: 9/11/2011  Human Resources/Payroll Services  To: $49,560.48 

 

Gretchen Hodsdon, BS  From: Staff Asst to Assistant Director   From: $36,720.22 
Effective: 9/11/2011  Admissions  To: $41,425.00 

 

Resignation 

 

Sheila Sbrogna, MS  Assistant Professor  $59,086.00 
Effective: 4/18/2011  Nursing         
 

Ruth Joseph, Ed.D.  Associate Dean/Interim Principal  $89,760.00 
Effective: 7/26/2011  McKay Campus School 

 
Jack Ou, Ph.D.  Assistant Professor  $65,191.18 
Effective: 8/27/2011  Industrial Technology 

 

Crystal Joseph, Ph.D.  Director of Expanding Horizons  $58,074.62 
Effective: 8/30/2011  Expanding Horizons 
 
Paul McGonagle, MS  Staff Associate/Football Coach  $56,499.56 
Effective: 9/24/2011  Athletics & Recreation 

 

Shanni Smith, MS  Assistant Director  $43,849.00 
Effective: 10/1/2011  Admissions 

 
AnnMarie Dunton, MS  Director of Housing & Residential Svs.  $69,550.96 
Effective: 10/1/2011  Housing & Residential Services       

 

Retirement 

 

Michael Fiorentino, Ph.D.  Executive VP, Academic Affairs/Provost  $174,922.10 
Effective: 7/2/2011  Academic Affairs 
 
Robert Wellman, Ph.D.  Professor  $77,607.89 
Effective: 8/27/2011  Behavioral Science     
 

Frank Archambeault, MS  Associate Professor  $76,466.49 
Effective: 7/30/2012  Computer Science 



 
President’s 
Report 

   



 
 
 

Fitchburg State University 
 REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

 
 
TO: Board of Trustees 

 
DATE: 
 
October 18, 2011 

 
FROM:    The President 
 

 
REQUEST NUMBER: 
 
04-11/12  

SUBJECT:   Vice President for Academic Affairs Moving Expenses    
 
 

 
 

 
It is requested that the Board of Trustees of Fitchburg State University vote to approve 
moving expenses in the amount of $5,000 for the new Vice President for Academic 
Affairs.  
 

 
 



 
Enclosures 

 



Fitchburg State University Target % 09/30/11* % 08/31/2011 % 06/30/2011 % 03/31/2011 % 12/31/2010 % 09/30/2010 % 
Portfolio Name Fund Name

Long Term Investments 01 Multi‐Strategy Equity Fund 25% 23.0% 2,635,973.58         24.2% 2,834,380.19        24.2% 3,074,306.64          26.0% 3,094,989.96           26.4% 2,964,455.26        25.5% 2,709,054.62        23.6%
High Quality Bond Fund 60% 61.3% 7,014,856.86         60.4% 7,072,402.86        60.4% 6,928,537.87          58.7% 6,847,973.48           58.3% 6,847,973.48        59.0% 7,542,857.14        65.8%
Intermediate Tranche 1 0.0% ‐                           0.0% ‐                          0.0% ‐                           0.0% ‐                            0.0% ‐                          0.0% ‐                           0.0%
Intermediate Tranche 2 15% 15.7% 1,796,593.79         15.4% 1,808,323.46        15.4% 1,800,503.68          15.3% 1,794,638.85           15.3% 1,790,728.96        15.4% 1,218,228.96        10.6%

100.0% 11,447,424.23      100.0% 11,715,106.51     100.0% 11,803,348.19       100.0% 11,737,602.29        100.0% 11,603,157.70     100.0% 11,470,140.72      100.0%

Operating Account 02 STF Tranche 1 0.0% ‐                           0.0% ‐                          0.0% ‐                           0.0% ‐                            0.0% ‐                          0.0% ‐                           0.0%
STF Tranche 2 0.0% ‐                           0.0% ‐                          0.0% ‐                           0.0% ‐                            0.0% ‐                          0.0% ‐                           0.0%
Demand Deposit Account 0.0% ‐                           0.0% ‐                          0.0% 0.0% ‐                            0.0% 82,398.54              4.5% ‐                           0.0%
The Bancorp Bank MDA 11.9% 250,041.10            12.4% 250,047.26           12.4% 250,051.37             12.5% 250,053.09              13.0% 250,057.88           13.5% 250,097.28            14.2%
JP Morgan Prime Money Market 44.0% 921,665.89            43.8% 882,586.65           43.8% 879,113.93             43.8% 837,993.33              43.5% 756,522.61           41.0% 754,372.83            42.9%
State Street Inst. Liquid Reserves 44.0% 921,661.36            43.8% 882,591.13           43.8% 879,158.81             43.8% 838,035.65              43.5% 756,522.57           41.0% 754,413.24            42.9%
Government Securities Fund 0.0% ‐                           0.0% ‐                          0.0% ‐                           0.0% ‐                            0.0% ‐                          0.0% ‐                           0.0%

100.0% 2,093,368.35         100.0% 2,015,225.04        100.0% 2,008,324.11          100.0% 1,926,082.07           100.0% 1,845,501.60        100.0% 1,758,883.35        100.0%

Total Assets 13,540,792.58$     13,730,331.55$    13,811,672.30$      13,663,684.36$       13,448,659.30$    13,229,024.07$   

Pro Forma
Since Inception 01/31/2008 As of August 31, 2011 09/30/2011

Beginning Market Value 12,000,000.00                                      12,000,000.00      12,000,000.00     12,000,000.00       12,000,000.00        12,000,000.00     12,000,000.00     
Purchases ‐                                                          ‐                           ‐                          ‐                           ‐                            ‐                          ‐                          
Withdrawals (406,343.06)                                           (406,343.06)           (406,343.06)          (406,343.06)            (406,343.06)             (406,343.06)          (406,343.06)         
Reinvestment of Income 12,765.92                                               12,765.92               12,765.92              12,765.92                12,765.92                 12,765.92              12,765.92             
Market Appreciation/Depreciation 108,683.65                                            (158,998.63)           108,683.65           196,925.33             131,179.43              (3,265.16)              (136,282.14)         

Ending Market Value 11,715,106.51$                                    11,447,424.23$     11,715,106.51$    11,803,348.19$      11,737,602.29$       11,603,157.70$    11,470,140.72$   

Dividend Paid in Cash 1,647,241.42                                         1,647,241.42        1,647,241.42          1,552,379.09           1,467,294.47        1,375,391.61       
Fees 108,019.09                                            108,019.09           102,801.34             94,957.72                 87,308.11              79,368.01             

*Estimated
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Float Teacher: The Guild of St.
Agnes Gardner is seeking a full
time ...

WOODWORK PROJECT
COORDINATOR Established
architectural millwork firm ...

DRIVERS Immediate openings,
FT, Dennison Lubricants, formerly
Castrol, ...

Site Coordinator This is a very
important position in Worcester
working ...

COOK Must have exp in all
positions. FT needed. Apply in
person at ...

LAW OFFICE QUICKEN /
QUICKBOOKS PROFICIENCY
Required. FT or PT position. ...

CUSTOMER SERVICE for
Securities Training Corp. Handling
order entry, ...

Production Administrator We
are looking for a production
administrator ...

DETAILER / Minor Shop
Maintenance. Needs valid drivers’s
license. ...

Lead Toddler Teacher: The Guild
of St. Agnes in Gardner is looking
for ...

More great jobs at
telegram.com/monster
Employers Advertise Here

| My Account / Logout  

?  

Thursday, October 6, 2011

Ready, set, Read for the Record at McKay

Middle-schooler Keara Portlock, right, reads “The Very Hungry Caterpillar” to students at McKay Campus School in Fitchburg
during a previous Read for the Record event. (T&G File Photo/RICK CINCLAIR)

By Amanda Roberge CORRESPONDENT
Add a comment

FITCHBURG —  As part of an international literacy
initiative that connects young readers all over the
world, students from all over Fitchburg will connect
locally today as they “Read for the Record.” 

Read for the Record was started in 2006 by Jumpstart as a way to promote literacy by inspiring readers to join
in a mutual goal to break reading records. This year’s selection, “Llama Llama Red Pajama” by Anna Dewdney,
will be read almost simultaneously by more than 2 million students worldwide — including inside each
classroom at McKay Campus School. 

Elementary students will have the charming and classic story read aloud to them by both Fitchburg State
University students involved in the Kappa Delta Pi International Honor Society and Fitchburg Arts Academy
Middle School students. 
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NEWS
telegram.com

LIVING
Living section

OPINION
Opinion section

NEWSLETTERS/FEEDS
Reader Recap

CELEBRATIONS
Weddings FOLLOW US

Articles Most Commented On
Today

1. Police arrest 129 at Occupy
Boston protest

2. LETTER: President's actions
impeachable (T&G)

3. Worcester has own anti-Wall
Street protest (T&G)

4. More evidence of car sales by
Darryl Rivernider (T&G)

5. Fighting foreclosure (T&G)
6. Senate Republicans likely to kill

Obama jobs bill
7. Occupy Worcester looks

homeward (T&G)
8. Latinos at risk (T&G)
9. Driver in double fatality is held

on $20,000 bail (T&G)
10. Worcester police say man dared

them to shoot (T&G)

Articles Most Read Today
1. Romney defends his past
2. Driver arraigned in hospital for

crash that killed two (T&G)
3. Former business manager

accused of stealing $14,000
from Worcester nursing home
patient funds (T&G)

4. Driver in double fatality is held
on $20,000 bail (T&G)

5. Casino bill would end state ban
on free drinks (T&G)

6. Birdseed attracts bear twice
(T&G)

7. Chicago bound?
8. Templeton selectmen fire town

coordinator (T&G)
9. Fighting foreclosure (T&G)

10. Bear raid puts end to bird-
feeding season (T&G)

Articles Most Emailed Today
1. More evidence of car sales by

Darryl Rivernider (T&G)
2. South High grieves for crash

victims (T&G)
3. Police ID Hudson man killed by

own truck (T&G)
4. Birdseed attracts bear twice

(T&G)
5. Bear raid puts end to bird-

feeding season (T&G)
6. Family lost in Mass. corn maze

call 911 for help
7. Templeton selectmen fire town

coordinator (T&G)
8. Barre battles major water leak
9. Occupy Worcester joins anti-

foreclosure group (T&G)
10. School board debate in

Worcester tonight

“This event is a wonderful way to bring children, young adolescents and college students together to celebrate
the importance of literacy in everyone’s lives,” said Nancy Murray, graduate program chairperson for the
Moderate Disabilities Program within the Education Department at Fitchburg State College. “The Read for the
Record day is a day where everyone embraces the importance of literacy and all levels of readers experience
the joy that literacy brings to our lives.” 

But even more important than simply reading the book, said Ms. Murray, is finding ways of connecting the
book to other facets of the students’ learning processes. It is those academic experiences, she said, that make
literacy relevant and enriching. 

In honor of the story of a baby llama who misses his mama after being tucked into bed at night, Ms. Murray
has big plans for tying elements of the book into the math and science curriculum for McKay students. Each
grade level, she said, will break into groups to try out “telephones” made of plastic cups connected by string
and wire to see which works better to transmit sound. Students will then graph their responses to see how the
experiment fared for the school as a whole. 

“It’s one of the ways we stress the importance of literacy and making reading fun,” she said, adding that the
educational publisher Pearson Education has provided more than 500 copies of the book so that each student —
just as in past years — will take a copy home with them in their backpacks. 

Ms. Murray added that in recent research, one of the contributing factors to literary success in children was the
number of books they have in the home. Thanks to Pearson, which has been a willing partner in the McKay
School’s ability to be an active participant in the program, each McKay student upon completing Grade 4 will
have five more books in their home than when they started kindergarten. 

“It’s just a really neat day,” she said, adding that many students and faculty members look forward to the
event as much as she does. 

Over the past six years, Read for the Record has pulled readers together to share classic stories like
“Corduroy” and “The Very Hungry Caterpillar.” Last year, Ezra Jack Keats’ “The Snowy Day” was read aloud to
more than 2 million children across the globe, raising awareness of the early literacy crisis and helping
Jumpstart raise funds to serve children in need. 

Since 2006, Jumpstart has raised more than $6.2 million to support early education programs and has
sponsored more than 800,000 books for children in low-income neighborhoods. 

Add a comment
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Welcome Back Celebrations 

August 25 and September 1, 2011 

Kent Recital Hall



“I would like to express my deepest gratitude to the 

university’s employees, whose dedication and loyalty 

form the basis of all that we have accomplished, as 

well as the unlimited possibilities that lie ahead. 

Thousands of students past and present have been 

the beneficiaries of this commitment. The standard 

of excellence that we have established for academics 

clearly extends to the countless tasks that are 

performed on a daily basis in every corner of campus.

Whatever your responsibilities, take pride in  

the knowledge that you have made a difference  

in numerous and significant ways.  

I thank you for these vital contributions.”

—President Robert V. Antonucci

Program

Welcome

Remarks

Presentation of Employee Recognition Awards

Announcement of Emeriti Professors

Performance Recognition Awards



Years of Service Awards

5 Years 

Deon Brock.........................................................................................................Behavioral Sciences

Bradley Cohrs...................................................................................................Recreation Services

Christine Dee.........................................................Economics, History & Political Science

Jessica DuPont..............................................................Graduate & Continuing Education

Katrina Durham...............................................................................................Disability Services

Ann Hogan.........................................................................Center for Excellence in Education

Brion Keagle............................................................................................Information Technology

Joseph LoBuono................................................................ Capital Planning & Maintenance

Viera Lorencova....................................................................................Communications Media

Jeff Lovely.......................................................................................................................Campus Police

Angela Marini.......................................................................................................Student Accounts

Anne Meyer..................................................................................................................................Nursing

Nancy Murray.......................................................................................................................Education

Justin Nelson....................................................................... Capital Planning & Maintenance

Susan Rosa..............................................................................................................................Education

James Sadin..............................................................................................Information Technology

Hildur Schilling...............................................................................................Behavioral Sciences

Tammy Soucie-Burke........................................................................................Registrar's Office

Peter Staab........................................................................................................................Mathematics

Sheila Sykes........................................................................................Finance & Administration

Melissa Tasca......................................................................... Housing & Residential Services

Ronda Thompson..................................................................................Information Technology

Jean Varchol................................................................................................................................. English

Danielle Wigmore.............................................................................Exercise & Sports Science

Jane Zhang.................................................................................................... Geo/Physical Sciences

  

10 Years 

Mary Ann Barbato.......................................................................................................Mathematics

Magda Bechar.............................................................................................................................Nursing

Patricia Boudreau..................................................................Financial Services/Accounting

Allen Calcia........................................................................ Capital Planning & Maintenance

Christine Devine........................................................................................................................Nursing

Linda Dupell...........................................................................................................Registrar's Office

Elizabeth Fineberg.........................................................................................Counseling Services

Shane Franzen..............................................................................................Student Development

Sean Goodlett........................................................Economics, History & Political Science

Michael Hoberman................................................................................................................... English

Robert Hynes.....................................................................................................Counseling Services

Karen Kowlzan..................................................................................................Biology/Chemistry

Diane Lucas.................................................................................................................................. English

Karen Frank Mays......................................................................................................Grant Center

Glenda Ouellette..................................................................................................................Education

  

 15 Years 

Paula DeLisle.........................................................................................Communications Media

Nancy FitzGerald........................................................... Capital Planning & Maintenance

Kerry Goodhue.......................................................................................Student Health Services

Meledath Govindan.........................................................................................Biology/Chemistry

Victoria Kastal.....................................................................................................Registrar's Office

Sue Lauder..................................................................................................................................Athletics

Linda LeBlanc....................................................................Amelia V. Gallucci-Cirio Library

Irene Martyniuk......................................................................................................................... English

Leslie Ricks.......................................................................... Capital Planning & Maintenance

Ann Scannell................................................................................................................................Nursing

Summer Shook.......................................................................................................Student Accounts

Karen Valeri..........................................................Economics, History & Political Science

Jiang Yu.......................................................................................................... Geo/Physical Sciences

Alcira Zadroga.............................................................................................................Financial Aid

  

 20 Years 

Janice Allen...........................................................................................................................Admissions

Chola Chisunka.......................................................................................................................... English

Robin Dinda........................................................................................................................Humanities

Susan Jordan.......................................................................................... Enrollment Management

Sanjay Kaul..................................................................................................Industrial Technology

Charles LaFreniere......................................................... Capital Planning & Maintenance

Da-Hong Lu.........................................................................................................Biology/Chemistry

Pirudas Lwamugira..........................................Economics, History & Political Science

Bonnie McCullough....................................................................................................Print Services

Zack Membrino................................................................ Capital Planning & Maintenance

Lisa Moulton.............................................................................Financial Services/Accounting

Wayne Munson.......................................................................................Communications Media

Dolphine Nichol..............................................................................................................Mathematics

Daniel Nomishan.................................................................................................................Education

John Paul..................................................................Economics, History & Political Science

Sharon Stokes........................................................................................................................Education

  



25 Years 

Maria Jaramillo................................................................................................................Humanities

Cheryl Johnston.....................................................................................Information Technology

Nancy Kelly.................................................................................................................................. English

Kenneth Leblanc............................................................... Capital Planning & Maintenance

Thomas Murray......................................................................................................................... English

Gerard Vincent...........................................................................................................Campus Police

30 Years 
David Antaya.....................................................................................Exercise & Sports Science

Augustine Aryee..............................................................................................Behavioral Sciences

Roger Boivin....................................................................... Capital Planning & Maintenance

Linda McKay..............................................................................................................................Nursing

James Noonan........................................................................................Business Administration

Helen Obermeyer-Simmons............................................................Communications Media

Diana Suskind.......................................................................................................................Education

Jacklynn Taylor..........................................................................................................Campus Police

Howard Thomas................................................................................................Biology/Chemistry

35 Years 

Stanley Bucholc....................................................................................Student & Academic Life

New Staff 

Jamison Bedard..................................................................... Housing & Residential Services

Jacqueline Boss......................................................................................................Registrar's Office

Sandra Ciccone.......................... Student Conduct & Multicultural Student Services

Leah Fernandez........................................................................ Administrative Services/CPM

Jonas Halley............................................................................ Housing & Residential Services

Daniel Hanneken....................................................................................McKay Campus School

Jennie House............................................................................ Housing & Residential Services

Ellen Hughes...........................................................................Athletics & Recreation Services

Daryl Lawrence.................................................................... Housing & Residential Services

Ge-Yao Liu.............................................................................................. International Education

Rachel Martin................................................................................................................Financial Aid

Derek McNamara............................................................... Housing & Residential Services

Kathleen Nicoletti............................................................... Housing & Residential Services

Rachel Pianta......................................................................................... International Education

Sarah Sadowski.............................................................................................Expanding Horizons

Francis Silvia......................................................................... Housing & Residential Services

Elizabeth Swartz..........................................................................................Expanding Horizons

Jacob Workman.....................................................................................Information Technology

New Faculty 

Christopher Adams.......................................................................................Behavioral Sciences

Marcel Beausoleil...........................................................................................Behavioral Sciences

Annamary Consalvo................................................................................................................ English

Allison Craig................................................................................................................................ English

Yasser Derwiche Djazaerly........................................................................................Humanities

Nancy Duphily...........................................................................................................................Nursing

Steven Edwards........................................................................................................................... English

Teresa Finn...................................................................................................................................Nursing

Shana Goldwyn.....................................................................................................................Education

Beth Herman-Davis...........................................................................................................Education

Brian Kelly.........................................................................................................Behavioral Sciences

Megan Krell.......................................................................................................Behavioral Sciences

Mathangi Krishnamurthy...........................................................................Biology/Chemistry

John LaFleche...............................................................................................Industrial Technology

John Ludlam.........................................................................................................Biology/Chemistry

Monica Maldari................................................................................Exercise & Sports Science

Erin Rehrig...........................................................................................................Biology/Chemistry

David Rice............................................................................................Exercise & Sports Science

Luis Rosero.............................................................Economics, History & Political Science

Sheila Schreiner.................................................................................................Biology/Chemistry

Jason Simon.........................................................................Amelia V. Gallucci-Cirio Library

David Svolba.......................................................................................................................Humanities

Jason Talanian...................................................................................Exercise & Sports Science

Samuel Tobin..........................................................................................Communications Media

Michael Ward.....................................................................................Exercise & Sports Science

Kathryn Wells...................................................................Amelia V. Gallucci-Cirio Library

Vice President for Academic Affairs

Robin Bowen ..........................................................................................................Academic Affairs

New Emeriti Professors 

James Colbert......................................................................................................................Humanities

Elaine Francis........................................................................................................................Education

Margot Kempers.............................................................................................Behavioral Sciences

Performance Recognition Award Winners 

Mary Chapin Durling............................................................Cultural Affairs/CenterStage

Sherry Horeanopoulos.......................................................................Information Technology

Joseph LoBuono................................................................ Capital Planning & Maintenance

Jennie Pao..................................................................................................Information Technology
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MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON TUESDAY, OCTOBER 18, 2011 AT 11:00 A.M.  
 

FITCHBURG STATE UNIVERSITY BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
Finance and Administration Committee Meeting 

 
Joint meeting with Fitchburg State University Foundation Audit Committee 

& FSU Foundation Supporting Organization, Inc. 
 

President’s Conference Room, Sanders Building 
300 Highland Avenue, Fitchburg, MA 01420 

 
 
Committee Members Present: Chairman Anthony Mercadante, Carol Vittorioso, ex-officio 
 
Trustees Present:   Matthew Costello, Robert Pontbriand 
 
Also Present:   Robert V. Antonucci, Gail Doiron, Karen Spinelli, Scott 

Foster, Steve Duvarney, Anthony Cali, John Dombrowski, 
Cathy Daggett, Jay Bry, Kelli Lundgren, Kelly Sylvia, 
Michael Shanley, Robin Bowen, Campus Community  

 
Chairman Mercadante welcomed everyone to the meeting. He stated that this would be a joint 
meeting of the Board of Trustees and Foundation Audit Committees and the Supporting 
Organization Committee. The joint meeting was called to order by Mr. Mercadante at 11:00 
a.m.  
 
Upon a motion duly noted by Ms. Vittorioso and seconded by Mr. Mercadante it was 
 
Voted:   to approve the Finance and Administration minutes of the meeting held on April  
(2-0) 26, 2011 as presented.  
 
The auditors from Ercolini & Company, LLP, Mr. Jay Kaufman, CPA, Audit Partner; Mr. Philip 
Weitzel, CPA, Audit Partner; and Mr. Jeffrey Caputi, Audit Supervisor, were in attendance to 
present the audits.  
 
Mr. Costello joined the meeting at 11:03 a.m. 
 
Mr. Kaufman said the audits went very well. He distributed two agendas that highlighted the 
financials. (Attached) He thanked the University personnel who assisted with the audits and said 
they went very smoothly. There were no findings.  
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Mr. Kaufman next discussed the financial statements. He said the letter from Ercolini & 
Company included in the packet provided a good summary of what has transpired. The 
University adopted new standards; some have no impact while others merely change the 
presentation of the financials from last year. The audit is clean all the way around.  He explained 
different government accounting rules and how they affect the way items are reported.  It was 
best that the University adopt these practices this year as opposed to future years. It made 
sense to adopt them now. 
 
There was a discussion on reporting practices.  
 
Mr. Caputi discussed and highlighted the statement of net positions. The University remains in a 
strong financial position.  
 
Mr. Mercadante commented that it appears we are strong relative to our peers. Mr. Kaufman 
said every institution will have an operating loss due to the way the state appropriations are 
disbursed.  
 
Mr. Kaufman discussed the statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position. 
 
Mr. Caputi discussed the statement of cash flows on pages 8, 9 and 10 of the audit.  Mr. 
Kaufman discussed the footnotes and the Foundation and Supporting Organization audits.  
 
There was a discussion on the audits.  
 
Mr. Pontbriand joined the meeting at 11:30 a.m.   
 
Mr. Kaufman stated another challenge this year was the unstable economic climate. The 
University continues to be strong.  The investment planning is still lagging behind along with no 
stimulus money; the University still has financial challenges. 
 
The committee next discussed the Fitchburg State University Report on Independent Auditor’s 
Report on Management’s Assertions on Compliance with Specified Requirements Applicable to 
the Massachusetts Office of Student Financial Assistance Program Cluster for Year Ended June 
30, 2011 and the Fitchburg State University Federal Student Financial Assistance Programs 
Report on Consulting Services Year Ended June 30, 2011. There were no findings on either of 
the financial aid audits. 
 
Mr. Kaufman stated there was no management letter, all controls are in place and things are 
operating as planned. 
 
President Antonucci stated we have considered retaining the services of Ercolini & Company 
and we will come back to the Board in the future for discussion. He expressed his appreciation 
for their professionalism and great work. It was nice to have another clean audit.  
 
Upon a motion duly noted by Mr. Mercadante and seconded by Ms. Vittorioso it was 
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Voted:   accept the University Audit Report for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2011.  
(4-0)  (01-11/13) 
 
The committees of the Fitchburg State University Foundation Audit and Support Organization 
voted on their perspective audits.  
 
With no further business before the committee, the meeting was adjourned at  
11:40 a.m. 

Respectfully submitted, 
 

_______________________ 
Anthony Mercadante 
Chairman, Finance & Administration  
Board of Trustees  
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Minutes of Meeting Held on October 18, 2011 at 12:15 p.m.  
 
 

FITCHBURG STATE UNIVERSITY BOARD OF TRUSTEES MEETING 
Tuesday, October 18, 2011 

12:15 p.m. 
   President’s Conference Room 

300 Highland Avenue, Fitchburg, MA 01420 
Sanders Building    

 
 
Trustees Present: Carol Vittorioso, Matthew Costello, Robert Pontbriand, 
  Beverly Farias, Martin F. Connors, Jr., Cynthia Stevens, 

Anthony Mercadante, Anna Maria Clementi 
 
Trustees Absent: Gregg Lisciotti, David Mullaney, Gladys Rodriguez-Parker 
  
Also Present: Robert Antonucci, Gail Doiron, Steve Swartz, Nathan 

Gregoire, Michael Shanley, Robin Bowen, Jay Bry, Cathy 
Daggett, Sean Goodlett, University Community. 

 
The meeting was called to order by Chairman Vittorioso at 12:15 p.m. 
 
Chairman Vittorioso opened the floor for public comments. There were none.    
 
President Antonucci noted Ms. Sheila Sykes, Vice President for Finance, was not in 
attendance due to her participation in a NEASC Accreditation visit in Connecticut. 
 
Ms. Vittorioso officially welcomed Ms. Anna Maria Clementi and Mr. Anthony Mercadante 
to the first meeting of the academic year.  
 
The consideration of the minutes from May 3, 2011 was presented. 
 
Upon a motion duly noted by Mr. Pontbriand and seconded by Ms. Farias it was 
 
Voted:   to approve the minutes of the meeting held on May 3, 2011 as  
(5-0) presented.  
 
President Antonucci introduced Kelli Lundgren, who will be assisting the Board with  
correspondence and materials.  He also officially welcomed Dr. Robin Bowen, Vice  
President for Academic Affairs.  
 
Mr. Mercadante next gave the Finance and Administration report. He said the committee 
met with the auditors from Ercolini & Company, Inc., Mr. Jeff Caputi, Mr. Philip Weitzel 
and Mr. Jay Kaufman that morning. He said the booklet includes the formal financial 
statements and analysis. He noted the executive summary that highlighted the financial 
statements.  We are in good financial shape and we are strong in relationship to our 
peers. The committee discussed the audit in complete detail and it is a “clean opinion.” 
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There were no findings with the Financial Aid audits or internal controls.  There was no 
need for a management letter, which is a positive thing.  We are complying with the new 
Governing Accounting Standard Board (GASB) standards. Fitchburg State University is 
very strong and had a solid financial year. He asked for comments. 
 
There was a brief discussion.  
 
Mr. Connors asked if we could get a management letter. President Antonucci requested 
that Ercolini and Company provide a management letter that reflected a clean audit. Ms. 
Daggett will follow – up.  
 
Upon a motion duly noted by Mr. Connors and seconded by Mr. Pontbriand it was 
 
Voted:   to accept the Audit Report for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2011.  
(7-0)  (01-11/12) 
 
President Antonucci commended the finance staff for their work. 
 
President Antonucci next introduced Dr. Shirley Wagner and Dr. Paul Weizer, co-chairs 
of the NEASC Steering Committee. President Antonucci said the self-study is due in 
December and the entire document may only consist of 100 pages. The visiting team 
chaired by President Nancy Carriuolo, President of Rhode Island College, will visit the 
campus on March 4-7, 2012. The Trustees will be asked to attend some of the meetings 
with the team. The NEASC accreditation will set the stage for the next 10 years. We will 
be commended on some things and we will need to improve in other areas.  
 
Dr. Wagner distributed a summary sheet. (Attached) She said the visiting team is 
representative of us and will understand our institution. The first draft of the self-study is 
on the web site, which changes daily.  Ultimately, there will be a final draft.  She said they 
have held three open forums, submitted input from the All College Committee and 
Graduate Council for feedback and comments. It has been an open process. 
 
Dr. Weizer stated it has been a year since we have started. We have five committees to 
address the standards led by a steering committee.  He commented it is really striking as 
to where we were 10 years ago and how far we have come. We are in a much stronger 
place. We are not perfect, but we are better. He recommended the Board take a look at 
the draft report on the website.   
 
Dr. Stevens joined the meeting at 12:29 p.m.  
 
Dr. Wagner said one of the requirements is an evaluation of the Trustees. It is a 
projection and it’s okay to have that. This is a recent requirement.  Much of the language 
has changed in the last five years.  President Antonucci commented this requirement is 
mainly just how we function as a board. This is not something we have done in the past.  
 
President Antonucci stated that he cannot express enough how challenging it is to get 100 
pages with hundreds of opinions in one consolidated document.  Dr. Wagner and Dr. 
Weizer have done a tremendous job. The self-study is a place where we can just be 
honest about who we are. He publicly thanked Dr. Wagner and Dr. Weizer and all those 
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involved for their efforts.  
 
Mr. Connors suggested doing the Trustee evaluation now. Dr. Wagner responded at this 
point it was not necessary. We will have some progress on projections and in every case 
we need to have a response.  
 
Ms. Farias asked if anyone from the visiting team is from Massachusetts. Dr. Wagner 
responded it’s customary to get people from out of state although a member from the 
Massachusetts Department of Higher Education is invited to participate.  
 
Ms. Farias acknowledged the amount of work that it takes to get the self-study completed 
and thanked everyone involved. 
 
President Antonucci next presented his goals. They are as follows: 

 
 

President’s Report to Trustees on  
Goals for 2011-2012 Academic Year 

 
Overview 
 
Each year at this time I present goals to the Board of Trustees for the current academic 
year. While there are literally hundreds of projects and activities on this busy campus, 
what follows is a prioritized selection based on critical importance to our larger mission of 
advancing the university to ever-higher levels. 
 
Goals 
 
Complete the work for the New England Association of Schools and Colleges 
(NEASC) accreditation process. 
 
We are now deep into the process of completing the self-study required by the New 
England Association of Schools and Colleges for re-accreditation. The study, which will be 
submitted in December, is the result of the hard work of more than 100 individuals 
representing a broad cross section of campus. Next year, from March 7 to 10, a team 
from the association will visit the university to validate and review the work that has been 
done.  
Our goal is to receive another full 10-year approval based on the self-study. That process 
was labor intensive, but offered us a valuable opportunity to examine our mission as well 
as our relative strengths and weaknesses based on a focused, standard set of criteria. 
Receiving re-accreditation is critically important for the university. Of the many 
assessment mechanisms we utilize to measure institutional effectiveness and quality, this is 
the “gold standard.”  
 
Re-organize and energize the senior leadership team, and utilize the talents 
and interests of the new members in order to continue strengthening the 
university. 
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Three new members will be joining our senior team as a result of resignations and 
retirements: Dr. Robin Bowen was hired as vice president for academic affairs on June 27, 
2011; we have just completed the search for the upgraded position of vice president for  
institutional advancement, and Christopher Hendry will be assuming that role on October 
30; and Jay Bry will be serving as interim vice president for finance and administration, 
replacing Sheila Sykes, who retires on November 5. We will build on the accomplishments 
of those who are departing while leveraging the expertise of the new leaders to support 
our basic principles of teaching, learning and service. I look forward to the changing 
dynamics, and am confident that those in new positions are eminently qualified to 
successfully address the challenges we will face in the future. 
  
Continue the ongoing efforts to modernize the university infrastructure. 
 
The science center, the Hammond project, the Miller faculty offices, and the Highland 
Avenue plaza are just a few of the modernization projects underway or recently 
completed. These projects will contribute to the overall educational environment of the 
university. We will continue to explore options to finance other projects as part of our 
capital plan. We have an aging campus infrastructure and need to aggressively address the 
many needs that remain. Edgerly and Percival are examples of two renovation projects 
that must be undertaken.  
 
Lead the university in an effective and efficient manner, and administer the 
daily operations of the university with an unwavering focus on excellence and 
quality. 
 
This is a goal that I include each year as it represents a macro view of leading a complex 
organization with a $70 million budget and more than 600 employees. Among the many 
focal points are fund raising, capital needs, foundation and trustee boards, collective 
bargaining, professional development, sustainability, public relationships, alumni affairs, and 
community outreach, including, for example, the Commissioner’s Vision Project, the 
NCAA, and the Council of Presidents. Efficiency can only be achieved through shared 
vision and commitment.  
 
Conclusion 
 
As I have said since my first day as president, the student learning experience is what the 
university is all about. We are here because of students. We are here to ensure that their 
educational needs are met at the highest levels of excellence. We are here because we 
believe that our institution is number one and the best in its class. We need to 
demonstrate this through action and results, not words. I believe in this university, in what 
it does, and its limitless future. 

§ 
 
President Antonucci next discussed his goals in detail. The leadership team is in place with 
a different focus. We are looking strongly at the academic side of the house. He is meeting 
with Department Chairs, MSCA, and various groups to see how we can achieve a 
comprehensive review and develop an action plan as we move forward.  
 



 

5 
 

President Antonucci said despite all the capital improvements, Edgerly and Percival Halls 
need work and we may not get to it. He anticipates collective bargaining will not be 
funded by the state and we may have to fund these agreements. He said the day-to-day 
operations of the university were important. He noted in the back of the packet is a copy 
of the prior year’s goals and assessment report sent to the Commissioner.  The Board 
members have already received this information. 
  
Ms. Vittorioso said in May we will review the goals again.  
 
Upon a motion duly noted by Ms. Farias and seconded by Mr. Mercadante it was 
 
Voted:   to accept the President’s Goals for the 2011-2012 academic year.  
(8-0) 
 
President Antonucci next discussed the Hammond Building phase 1B renovations.  The 
schematic was distributed. (Attached) He said phase one is being done now and phase 1B 
is the next step. It is economical to do phase 1B now. We are suggesting a $175.00 fee 
increase to pay the bonds back. We will not be voting on the fee portion at this point in 
time.  
 
There was a discussion.  
 
Mr. Mercadante said he thought it was great that this building will face North Street for 
this is the key building on campus. Mr. Bry said phases 1A and 1B should be completed by 
next fall.  
 
There was a discussion on the renovations, financing and location of space.  The estimated 
cost of phase 1A and 1B is $25 million. 
 
Upon a motion duly noted by Mr. Mercadante and seconded by Ms. Farias it was 
 
Voted:   to accept the following resolution. (03-11/12) 
(8-0) 
 

FITCHBURG STATE UNIVERSITY 
 

REQUEST FOR TRUSTEE 
ACTION 

 
 
 

 
To: 

 
Board of Trustees 

 
Date: October 18, 2011 

 

From: 
 

Dr. Robert V. Antonucci, President 
 

 

Subject: Approval for Hammond Center Project and Pledge of Trust Funds and 
Appropriation Intercept 
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RESOLUTION 

 
1.   The Board of Trustees (the “Trustees”) of Fitchburg State University (the “State 

University”) hereby approves the project (the “Project”) described in EXHIBIT A 
hereto and the cost thereof approximately as presented to this meeting and 
otherwise substantially as presented to this meeting. 

 
2.   The Trustees hereby approve the pledge by the Board of Higher Education pursuant 

to the first paragraph of Section 18A of Chapter 703 of the Acts of 1963, as 
amended, to secure bonds (the “Bonds”) issued by the Massachusetts State College 
Building Authority (the “MSCBA”) to finance the Project (which Bonds may be 
issued 
together with or separately from bonds issued by the MSCBA for other purposes), 
of the following: (a) an amount, not to exceed one-fourth (1/4) of the average 
annual debt service on the Bonds, of funds held as trust funds for Fitchburg State 
University under the provisions of the Clause (e) of Section 22 of Chapter 15A of 
the 
Massachusetts General Laws, the particular trust funds, gifts, grants and trusts and 
the amount from any particular trust fund, gift, grant or trust to be so pledged to be 
determined by the President of the State University in consultation with the 
Executive Committee of the Trustees, and (b) funds made available for expenditure 
on behalf of Fitchburg State University pursuant to an appropriation made by the 
General Court or otherwise available for expenditure by the Board of Higher 
Education. 

 
3.   Pursuant to Section 22 of Chapter 15A of the Massachusetts General Laws, as 

amended, the Trustees hereby delegate to the President of Fitchburg State 
University the power, and hereby authorize the President of Fitchburg State 
University, in consultation with the Executive Committee of the Trustees to do all 
things necessary or desirable in connection with the carrying out of the Project, the 
Bonds, the payment of and security for the Bonds and all other matters authorized 
by this Resolution, including without limitation the approval acknowledgement, 
execution and delivery on behalf of Fitchburg State University of contracts, 
certificates and other documents. 

4.   The President of Fitchburg State University and all other officers of Fitchburg State 
University and all other officers of the Trustees, each of the foregoing persons acting 
alone, are hereby authorized to do all things and take all action as the person so acting 
shall, as conclusively evidenced by the doing of any such thing or the taking of any 
such action, deem necessary or desirable to be done or taken to carry into effect the 
matters hereby authorized. 
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EXHIBIT A HAMMOND CAMPUS 

CENTER AT FITCHBURG STATE 

UNIVERSITY MSCBA PROJECT NO. 
FIT-0588-10 

 
Description of Project 

(a) The carrying out of preliminary work, including obtaining cost estimates, revenue estimates, 
preliminary design specifications, feasibility studies, surveys, and site analyses to determine the 
feasibility, approximate size, scope, purposes, location and other characteristics of any building, 
structure or facility the Authority is authorized by Chapter 703 of the Acts of 1963, as amended, to 
provide; 

 
(b) The renovation of the Hammond Campus Center as described herein including building systems and 

components, furniture, and equipment primarily for the use by students and staff of the University, 
and their dependents, and which the Authority is authorized by Chapter 703 of the Acts of 1963, as 
amended, to provide; and 

 
(c) The carrying out of improvements, renovations, and other work on and the provision and installation 

of furnishings, fixtures and other equipment for other buildings, structures, or facilities the Authority 
is authorized by Chapter 703 of the Acts of 1963, as amended, to provide. 

 
Project Overview 
  Project is the continuation of the renovation of the Hammond Campus Center. Additional interior 

renovations will enhance the student life experience by creating new meeting spaces, student lounges and 
study spaces. New offices will be created for student affairs, career counseling, tutoring and other 
support services. Building upgrades include fire protection, HVAC, plumbing, electrical, and interior 
finishes. 

  The University has provided an equity contribution of $3.2 million in addition to $300,000 as initial 
funding for the pre-design phase. DCAM transferred $900,000 to fund the accessible ramp between 
Hammond and the Holmes Dining Hall. The project revenue source will be an increase in general student 
fees not to exceed $175. 

 
 

INDICATOR: 
PRIMARY 

RESERVE 

 
VIABILITY 

RETURN ON NET 

ASSETS 

NET OPERATING 

REVENUES 

Target: 25.0% >1.0 3.0 – 4.0% 2.0 – 4.0% 
Fitchburg (FY10): 37.6% 2.3 19.0% 11.7% 

 
Project Budget and Schedule 

Budget 
 

Total Project Cost                            $25,701,995 
Less 2010A/B Bond                        (14,307,000) 
Less Equity Contribution                  (3,494,995) 
Less DCAM Contribution                   (900,000) 
Total Project Fund                               7,000,000 
Cost of Issuance/Reserves                      630,000 
Total                                                  $7,630,000 

 
Schedule 
Design Started                                January 2011 
Construction Started                            May 2011 
Occupy Completed Facility       September 2012 
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President Antonucci next discussed the conflict of interest statements. They are as follows:  
 

Conflict of Interest Policy 
 
Purpose: 
This conflict of interest policy (“the policy”) is intended to:  

• protect the interests of Fitchburg State University (“the University”) and serve as a guide when the 
University is contemplating entering into a transaction or arrangement that might benefit, directly or 
indirectly, the private interest of university officers, trustees, or directors;  

• enable such individuals to recognize situations that may be subject to question and resolve them to avoid 
conflicts of interest; and/or   

• supplement, not replace, any applicable federal and state laws governing conflict of interests.  
 
Who is subject to the policy? 
This policy covers: 

• members of the Board of Trustees, including honorary trustees, that participate in board and committee 
meetings, and members of the Foundation Board and its associated committees.  

 
Policy: 
Trustees and Foundation Board members have a fiduciary duty to the University and, as such, should act in a 
manner consistent with this obligation and exercise particular care that no detriment to the interests of the 
University (or the appearance of such detriment) may result from a conflict between the interests of the University 
and personal financial interests an individual may have.  
 
An individual has a financial interest if that person has, directly or indirectly, through business, investment, or 
family: 

• an ownership or investment interest in an organization supplying goods or services to the University;  
• performed services for other individuals or organizations that do business with the University; and/or 
• a potential ownership, investment interest, or compensation arrangement with any individual or 

organization seeking to do business with the University. 
 
In general, when those covered by this policy are deemed to be in a conflict of interest situation with respect to any 
matter before the Boards or administration, that individual will refrain from participating in the consideration of 
any proposed transaction, unless specifically requested to provide information regarding the transaction in 
question. The individual will refrain from voting on, or taking any position for or against, the proposed transaction. 
When deemed appropriate, a notification will be made in the minutes of the meeting that the person involved 
neither participated in the consideration of the proposed transaction nor voted on the matter. 
 
In all other instances where it is determined that a conflict of interest exists, such conflicts, and their remedy, shall 
be disclosed to the Board of Trustees and/or the Foundation Board of Directors at their next meeting. 

 
Disclosure: 
The University is aware that it may not be possible to completely avoid all relationships between those individuals 
covered by this policy and certain third parties with whom the University transacts business. One of the keys to 
evaluating the potential conflict is full disclosure.  All individuals covered by this policy shall complete, at least 
annually, a Conflict of Interest Disclosure Statement.  These disclosure statements shall be reviewed and 
accumulated by the President’s Office and furnished to the Board of Trustees, the Foundation Board of Directors, 
and/or the President upon request. 
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If an individual covered by this policy believes that he or she may have a conflict of interest with respect to this 
policy, or any particular transaction that has not been previously disclosed, he or she will promptly and fully 
disclose the potential conflict to the President and will refrain from participating in any related transactions or 
decisions of the University until the conflict is reviewed and a determination has been made.    
   
Individual disclosure statements will be held in confidence by the President.  The statements will be open for 
public inspection only:  

• by official action of the Board of Trustees for university matters or by official action of the Foundation 
Board of Directors for Foundation matters upon showing of good cause; 

• with the consent of the person who submitted the data to be disclosed; and/or 
• by court order or as otherwise required by Massachusetts or federal law or regulation. 

 
Questions: 
Questions regarding this policy should be directed to the President. 
 
 
 

Approved by the Board of Trustees _______________________________ 
 

Approved by the Foundation Board of Directors _______________________________ 
 
 

 Conflict of Interest Disclosure Statement 
For Trustees, Foundation Board Members, and Foundation Supporting Organization, Inc. Members 

 
Introduction 

Trustees, Foundation Board members, and Supporting Organization members have a fiduciary duty to 
the University, the Foundation, and/or the Supporting Organization and, as such, should act in a 
manner consistent with this obligation and exercise particular care that no detriment to the interest of 
the University, the Foundation, and/or the Supporting Organization (or the appearance of such 
detriment) may result from a conflict between the interests of the University, the Foundation, and/or the 
Supporting Organization and personal financial interests an individual may have. Therefore, each 
individual of these boards will annually disclose any personal interest, which he or she may have, in 
any matter pending before the University, the Foundation, and/or the Supporting Organization and will 
refrain from participation in any decision on such matter. 
 
Trustees, Foundation Board members, and Supporting Organization members who are also an officer, 
board member, committee member, or staff member of a contractor, vendor, or supplier of, or to, shall 
identify his or her affiliation with that organization. Further, in connection with any committee or board 
action specifically directed to that organization, he/she will refrain from participating in the decision 
affecting that organization.   
 
Additionally, Trustees, Foundation Board members, and Supporting Organization members will refrain 
from obtaining any list of clients for personal or private solicitation purposes at any time during the term 
of their affiliation. 
 

Conflict of Interest Disclosure Statement 
Acknowledgement of Receipt 

At this time, I am a board member, a committee member, consultant to, or employee of the following 
organizations: 
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This disclosure statement shall certify that I, am not now, nor at any time during the past year, been: 
 

1) a participant, directly or indirectly, in any arrangement, agreement, investment, or other activity 
with any vendor, supplier, or other party, doing business with the University, the Foundation 
and/or the Supporting Organization, which has resulted or could result, in personal benefit to 
me; and/or 
 

 
2) a recipient, directly or indirectly, of any salary payments, loans or gifts of any kind, free service, 

discounts or other fees from, or on behalf of, any person or organization engaged in any 
transaction with the University, the Foundation, and/or the Supporting Organization and its 
affiliates. 

 
Exceptions to items 1 or 2 above are stated below, or attached, with a description of the transactions 
and of the interest, whether direct or indirect, which I have (or have had during the past year) with the 
persons or organizations having transactions with the University, the Foundation, and/or the 
Supporting Organization and its affiliates. 
 
Date ______________________________  Signature______________________________________ 
 

Printed   ______________________________________ 
 

§ 
 

President Antonucci said these forms will be sent to Board members this week for completion.  
He informed the Board of what Mr. Martin F. Connors, Jr. had to undergo to resolve any questions of 
conflicts with his position on the Board while being the President of Rollstone Bank and Trust.   
 
Mr. Connors is in full compliance, we are clean and we can move forward.  
 
President Antonucci expressed his sincere appreciation to Mr. Connors for going through this lengthy 
ordeal. 
 
President Antonucci next presented the job actions taken since the last meeting. They are as follows: 
 
New Hire 

 
Christopher Adams, Ph.D. Assistant Professor $59,000.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011 Behavioral Sciences     
 
Arlana Arsenault, MS Instructor $56,000.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011 Nursing     

 
Peter Azar, Ed.D. Director, Readiness Center (.50 FTE) $36,000.00 
Effective: 9/11/2011 Education 
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Paul Beaudoin, Ph.D. Assistant Professor (1 semester temp) $29,000.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011 Humanities 
End date: 12/31/2011 

 
Robin Bowen, Ph.D. Vice President for Academic Affairs $170,000.00 
Effective: 6/27/2011 Academic Affairs 

 
Annamary Consalvo, MED Assistant Professor $59,000.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011 English 

 
Allison Craig, Ph.D. Assistant Professor $51,000.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011 English 

 
Yasser Derwiche Djazaerly, Ph.D. Assistant Professor 
Effective: 9/1/2011 $57,000.00 
 Humanities 

 
Nancy Duphily, DNP Assistant Professor $76,000.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011 Nursing 

 
Steven Edwards, Ph.D. Assistant Professor $51,500.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011 English 

 
Leah Fernandes, MA Staff Assistant, Environmental Health & $60,000.00 
Effective: 6/20/2011 Safety Officer  

 CPM/Administrative Services 
 

Teresa Finn, MS Instructor $56,000.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011 Nursing 

 
Shana Goldwyn, MS Assistant Professor $56,500.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011 Education 
 
Daniel Hanneken, MS Associate Dean/Principal $95,000.00 
Effective: 7/18/2011 McKay School 

 
Beth Herman-Davis, Ed.D. Assistant Professor $54,500.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011 Education 

 
Brian Kelly, Ph.D. Assistant Professor $53,500.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011 Behavioral Sciences 

 
Megan Krell, Ph.D. Assistant Professor $54,000.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011 Behavioral Sciences 

 
Mathangi Krishnamurthy, Ph.D. Assistant Professor 
Effective: 9/1/2011 $55,000.00 
 Biology/Chemistry 
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John LaFleche, Ph.D. Assistant Professor $65,000.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011 Industrial Technology 

 
Rebecca Lindley, MED Staff Associate/Commuter Affairs $36,000.00 
Effective: 10/24/2011 & Leadership (10 month) 

 Student Development & Campus Center 
 

John Ludlam, Ph.D. Assistant Professor $57,500.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011 Biology/Chemistry 

 
Kristen Murphy, MED Director of Housing & Residential Svs $67,000.00 
Effective: 9/21/2011 Housing & Residential Services 

 
Erin Rehrig, Ph.D. Assistant Professor $57,500.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011 Biology/Chemistry 

 
David Rice, MS Assistant Professor $54,000.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011 Exercise & Sports Science 

 
 

Luis Rosero, MA Assistant Professor $55,000.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011 Economics. History & Political Science 

 
Sheila Schreiner, Ph.D. Assistant Professor $54,000.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011 Biology/Chemistry 

 
Jason Simon, MLS Assistant Librarian $53,000.00 
Effective: 3/13/2011 Amelia V. Gallucci-Cirio Library 

 
David Svolba, Ph.D. Assistant Professor $54,000.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011 Humanities 

 
Samuel Tobin, MA Assistant Professor $54,000.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011 Communications Media 

 
Michael Ward, MS Instructor $48,500.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011 Exercise & Sports Science 

 
Kathryn Wells, MLS Assistant Librarian $51,000.00 
Effective: 12/12/2010 Amelia V. Gallucci-Cirio Library 
 
Rehire 

 
Deborah Benes, MS Assistant Professor $57,969.65 
Effective: 9/1/2011 Nursing      
End Date: 5/31/2012 

 
Richard DesRoches, MBA Instructor $58,000.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011 Business Administration      
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End Date: 5/31/2012 
 

Katherine Jewell, Ph.D. Assistant Professor $52,500.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011 Economics, History & Political Science     
End Date: 5/31/2012 

 
Monica Maldari, MS Instructor $50,000.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011 Exercise & Sports Science      
End Date: 5/31/2012 

 
Anne Meyer, MS Instructor $58,017.68 
Effective: 9/1/2011 Nursing      
End Date: 5/31/2012 

 
Audrey Pereira, MS Assistant Professor $65,500.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011 Business Administration      
End Date: 5/31/2012 

 
Bruce Romano, Ph.D. Assistant Professor $55,373.92 
Effective: 9/1/2011 Mathematics      
End Date: 5/31/2012 

 
Renee Scapparone, D.B.A. Assistant Professor $56,500.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011 Business Administration      
End Date: 5/31/2012 

 
Allison Shields, MS Instructor $63,641.71 
Effective: 9/1/2011 Nursing      
End Date: 12/31/2011 

 
Deborah Stone, MS Instructor $50,864.67 
Effective: 9/1/2011 Nursing      
End Date: 12/31/2011 

 
Kisha Tracy, Ph.D. Assistant Professor $52,500.00 
Effective: 9/1/2011 English      
End Date: 5/31/2012 

 
Promotion 

 
Kelli Lundgren, HS From: Admin Asst. II to Staff Assistant From: $40,271.92 
Effective: 6/7/2011 From: HR to President’s Office  To: $45,000.00  

 
Kelly Sylvia, MBA From: Accountant II to Staff Assistant From: $42,850.08 
Effective: 8/8/2011 From: Payroll to Alumni & Development    To: $45,000.00 

 
Joseph LoBuono, BS From: Associate Director to Director From: $71,249.81 
Effective: 8/14/2011 Capital Planning & Maintenance To: $76,500.00 
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Henry Parkinson, Ed.D. From: Director of Student Development From: $71,570.04 
Effective: 8/14/2011 To Assistant Dean for Student  To: $76,500.00 

 Development & Housing 
 

Brad Cohrs, MA From: Associate Director, Recreational Svs  From: $60,623.69 
Effective: 8/14/2011 To Director, Recreational Svs & Civic Ctr     To: $64,000.00 

 Recreational Services 
 
 

Jay Bry, MS From: Chief Operating Officer                   From: $114,185.80 
Effective: 11/1/2011 To Interim Vice President for Finance       To: $130,000.00 

 and Administration   
 

Jossy Brack, HS From: Admin Asst. II to Staff Assistant From: $48,060.48 
Effective: 9/11/2011 Human Resources/Payroll Services To: $49,560.48 

 
Gretchen Hodsdon, BS From: Staff Asst to Assistant Director  From: $36,720.22 
Effective: 9/11/2011 Admissions To: $41,425.00 

 
Resignation 
 
Sheila Sbrogna, MS Assistant Professor $59,086.00 
Effective: 4/18/2011 Nursing     

 
Ruth Joseph, Ed.D. Associate Dean/Interim Principal $89,760.00 
Effective: 7/26/2011 McKay Campus School 

 
Jack Ou, Ph.D. Assistant Professor $65,191.18 
Effective: 8/27/2011 Industrial Technology 

 
Crystal Joseph, Ph.D. Director of Expanding Horizons $58,074.62 
Effective: 8/30/2011 Expanding Horizons 

 
Paul McGonagle, MS Staff Associate/Football Coach $56,499.56 
Effective: 9/24/2011 Athletics & Recreation 

 
Shanni Smith, MS Assistant Director $43,849.00 
Effective: 10/1/2011 Admissions 

 
AnnMarie Dunton, MS Director of Housing & Residential Svs. $69,550.96 
Effective: 10/1/2011 Housing & Residential Services    

 
Retirement 
 
Michael Fiorentino, Ph.D. Executive VP, Academic Affairs/Provost $174,922.10 
Effective: 7/2/2011 Academic Affairs 

 
Robert Wellman, Ph.D. Professor $77,607.89 
Effective: 8/27/2011 Behavioral Science   

 



 

- 15 - 
 

Frank Archambeault, MS Associate Professor $76,466.49 
Effective: 7/30/2012 Computer Science 
 
President Antonucci next presented his report. He discussed the moving expenses for Dr. Robin Bowen 
that were agreed upon when she was hired. 
 
Upon a motion duly noted by Mr. Connors and seconded by Mr. Mercadante it was 
 
Voted:   to approve moving expenses in the amount of $5,000 for the new Vice President  
(8-0)  for Academic Affairs. (04-11/12) 
 
He next explained the details of the Council of Presidents and Trustees meeting to be held on October 
19 at Framingham State University. He updated the Board on the various projects. He commented on 
the enclosures included in the packet. They are as follows: 
 

• Commonfund Performance Sheet 
• Residence Hall Occupancy – Fall Semester 2011/2012 
• Sterilite Letter  
• President’s Goals and Performance – Letter from Commissioner Freeland 
• September 28, 2011 Letter from Commissioner Freeland 
• April 21, 2011 Letter from Commissioner Freeland 
• Performance Incentive Grant Program   
• Stratton Players Letter  
• News Articles  
• Welcome Back Celebration Brochure 

 
He invited everyone to Ms. Sheila Sykes’ goodbye gathering on October 20. Sheila Sykes is leaving us on 
November 4. She will not be leaving the system for good. In January she will serve as the Executive 
Director of the Partnership Advancing Collaboration and Efficiency (PACE).  
 
President Antonucci recommended the Board take a look at the Strategic Plan located on our web site 
and that it will be discussed at a future meeting.  He noted the Fitchburg Anti Violence Education 
program that took place during freshmen orientation. He discussed the most recent property purchase 
on Clinton Street.  
 
President Antonucci invited everyone to join in a campus tour following the adjournment. 
   
With no further business before the Board, the meeting was adjourned at 12:55 p.m. 
 
       Respectfully submitted: 
 
 
       ________________________ 
       Robert A. Pontbriand, Clerk 
       Board of Trustees 
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